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PART |
In this Annual Report, the terms “we”, “us”, “our'Company” and “Cryoport” refer to Cryoport, In@and our wholly owned subsidiary,
Cryoport Systems, Inc. This Annual Report contédme/ard-looking statements that involve risks amdertainties. The inclusion of forward-
looking statements should not be regarded as aseptation by us or any other person that the tigscor plans will be achieved because oul
actual results may differ materially from any forddooking statement. The words “may,” “should,1dps,” “believe,” “anticipate,”
“estimate,” “expect,” their opposites and similapeessions are intended to identify forward-lookstgtements, but the absence of these wort
does not necessarily mean that a statement ineaid-looking. We caution readers that such stateésare not guarantees of future
performance or events and are subject to a nunffactors that may tend to influence the accurddpe statements, including but not limited
to, those risk factors outlined in the sectioretitlRisk Factors” as well as those discussed eleeim this Annual Report. You should not
unduly rely on these forward-looking statementsiciispeak only as of the date of this Annual Repdié undertake no obligation to publicly
revise any forward-looking statement to reflectemstances or events after the date of this AnRepbrt or to reflect the occurrence of
unanticipated events. You should, however, reviefactors and risks we describe in the reportsviledile from time to time with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) afterdate of this Annual Report.

In addition, we own or have rights to the registerademark Cryopoft (both alone and with a design logo) and CryopogrEss® (both
alone and with a design logo). All other Compangnas, registered trademarks, trademarks and sanades included in this Annual Report
are trademarks, registered trademarks, servicesmarkade names of their respective owners.

ltem 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We provide leading edge frozen shipping logistmisitions to the biotechnology and life science stdes. Since 2011, through the
completion of the combination of purpose-built piefary hardware, software information technologiad developed logistics knowhow
known as “total turnkey management” we have pravidgistics management for frozen shipping to thedastries. Our solutions are
disruptive to “old technologies” and provide relmbeconomic alternatives to existing products sewvices utilized for frozen shipping in
biotechnology and life sciences including stems;edell lines, vaccines, diagnostic materials, searedl embryos for in-vitro fertilization, cord
blood, bio-pharmaceuticals, infectious substanoelsather items that require continuous exposufeoien or cryogenic temperatures. Our
solutions contribute to the reliability, efficienand effectiveness of clinical trials.

Cryoport Expres® Solutions include a cloud-based logistics managésaftware branded as the Cryopoftdl. The Cryoportal
supports the management of the entire shipmenepsatirough a single interface which includesaharder input, document preparation,
customs clearance, courier management, shipmekiritg issue resolution, and delivery. Cryoporoat turnkey logistics solutions offer
reliability, cost effectiveness, and convenienchilevthe use of recyclable and reusable componentgdes “green”, environmentally friendly
solutions. The Cryoportal provides an array of usignformation dashboards and validation documiemtdbr every shipment.

Integral to our logistics solutions are the Crydpaquid Nitrogen Dry Vapor Shippers (Cryoport Eggs® Shippers), which are cost-
effective and reusable cryogenic transport contaifatented vacuum flasks) utilizing innovativeguid nitrogen (LN2) “dry vapor”
technology. Cryoport Expre&§sShippers are non-hazardous, IATA (International Bansport Association) certified, and validatedraintain
stable temperatures below minus 150° Celsius fdl-plus day dynamic shipment period. The Compamseatly features two Cryoport
Expres<® Shipper models, the Standard Dry Shipper (holdimgpuapproximately 75-2.0 ml vials) and the Highliwoe Dry Shipper (holding
up to approximately 500-2.0 ml vials).

The Cryoport Expres® Solutions include recording and retaining a fulbcdmented “chain-of-custody” and, at the clienpsion,
“chain-of-condition” for every shipment, helpingseme that quality, safety, efficacy, and stabitifyshipped commodities are maintained. This
recorded and archived information allows our cugtsmo meet the exacting requirements necessasgiontific work and for regulatory
purposes. Cryoport Expre8sSolutions can be used by customers, as a “turngelyition, through direct access to the cloud-b&mwportal,
or by contacting Cryoport Client Care for ordemrgrasks. Cryoport provides 24/7/365 logistics 8=s through its Client Care team and also
provides complete training and process manageneevites to support each client’s specific requiretse

From 2011 through 2012, the Cryoport ExpréSolution was the Company’s principal focus for depeent and commercialization.
During the last month’s of 2012, the Company’s apph to the market was enhanced to include a cdrapséve solutions orientation and it
expanded its service offering to address the varimoader market needs in the biotechnology aadtifence industries. Today, as a solutions
provider, Cryoport tailors its frozen logistics gtibns to client requirements. In addition to casteolutions, the Company’s primary customer
facing solutions offerings are as follows:




*  Cryoport Express ® Solution
The fully outsourced turnkey logistics solution ciésed above.
» Customer-Staged Solution

Cryoport ships an inventory of Cryoport ExprésShippers to the customer (uncharged and in buliblémg the customer to

charge the shippers at their facility, processrtbeders through the Cryoportal which permits CigiClient Care to oversee
the logistics of each shipment and the return efsthippers to Cryoport for cleaning, testing aridrieshing. Cryoport Client

Care provides the 24/7/365 logistics servicesaiigj its Cryoportal logistics platform.

e Customer-Managed Solution

Cryoport ships a fully charged Cryoport Expréshipper(s) to the customer enabling the custometilize its internal
expertise to manage all or a portion of the logssiervices. As with the above solutions, the shippre returned to Cryoport
for cleaning, testing and refurbishing within a-pietermined time period.

e Customer Integrated Logistics

The Cryoport logistics team provides a tailored aldrange of logistics support solutions. In dituh to tailoring a
management solution, the robust, enterprise gragepOrtal is used to provide complete logistics/grs while enabling the
customer to utilize their own packaging solution€oyoport Expres® Shippers. Cryoport can provide onsite logistics
personnel allowing the customer to fully outsoutwr cold chain logistics needs to Cryoport ancufoon its core
competencies.

» Distribution Partnerships

“Powered by Cryoport” is an important partnershiagements with integrators, freight forwarderd ather logistics
providers, enabling partners to expand their sohstioffering by adding the total Cryoport Expr@shipper solution to their
customer offering.

One of our distribution partners is Federal Exp@srgporation (“FedEx"). We have an agreement wighdEx to provide frozen shipping
logistics services through the combination of ounpse-built proprietary technologies and turnkesnagement processes. FedEx markets ar
sells Cryoport’s services for frozen temperaturetasled cold chain transportation as its FeHeep Frozen Shipping Solution, on a non-
exclusive basis and at its sole expense. Durimgffigear 2013, the Company worked closely with BeHurther align its sales efforts and
accelerate penetration within FedEx'’s biotechnolagg life sciences customer base through improvecegses, sales incentives, joint
customer calls and more frequent communicatiohestles and executive level. In addition, the Cayhas developed a FedEx branded
portal, which is “powered by the Cryoport”, for usg FedEx and its customers giving them accedsetduil capabilities of our logistics
management platform.

In January 2013, we entered into a master agreefftfadEx Agreement”ith FedEx renewing these services and providindExewith
a non-exclusive license and right to use a custedwzrsion of our Cryoportal for the managemersghipments made by FedEx customers.
The FedEx Agreement became effective on Janu&2@113 and, unless sooner terminated as providdteifF¢dEx Agreement, expires on
December 31, 2015.

Pursuant to an agreement with DHL Express (USA), (fDHL"), DHL biotechnology and life science costers have direct access to
our cloud-based order entry and tracking portalrtier Cryoport ExpresgDry Shippers and receive preferred DHL shippingsalhe
agreement covers DHL shipping discounts that mayseel to support our customers using the Cryopagitdss® Solutions. In connection wi
the agreement, we have integrated our proprietaygortal to DHL's tracking and billing systemspgmvide DHL biotechnology and life
science customers with a seamless way (“poweretirpgport”) of shipping their critical biological rterial worldwide.

In December 2012, we signed an agreement with Rifize relating to Zoetis Inc. (formerly the aninfedalth business unit of Pfizer Inc.)
pursuant to which we were engaged to manage frelzgments of a key poultry vaccine. Under thissgeanent, the Company is providing
on-site logistics personnel and its logistics mamagnt platform, the Cryoport&! , to manage shipments from the Zoetis manufactigitegin
the United States to domestic customers as wethasus international distribution centers. As prits logistics management services, the
Company will analyze shipping data and processésrtioer streamline Zoetis’ logistics, ensuringguiots arrive at their destinations in
specified conditions, on-time and with the optimuses of resources. The Company manages Zoetisflestof dewar flask shippers used for
this purpose, including liquid nitrogen shippers.

We offer our solutions to companies in the biotetbgy and life sciences industries and specifitgizals including manufacturers of
stem cells and cell lines, diagnostic laboratofiés;pharmaceuticals, contract research organizstimvitro fertilization, cord blood, vaccine
tissue, animal husbandry, and other producersmhoadities requiring reliable frozen solutions fogistics problems. These companies
operate within heavily regulated environments amduch, changing vendors and distribution practigeisally require a number of steps,
which may include the audit of our facilities, rewi of our procedures, qualifying us as a vendad,@arforming test shipments. This proc



can take up to nine months or longer to compleitar po a potential customer adopting one or morthefCryoport Expres3 Solutions.




Corporate History and Structure

We are a Nevada corporation originally incorporatader the name G.T.5-Limited (“GT5”) on May 25909 In connection with a
Share Exchange Agreement, on March 15, 2005 wegeltbour name to Cryoport, Inc. and acquired athefissued and outstanding shares of
common stock of Cryoport Systems, Inc., a Califarorporation, in exchange for 2,410,811 sharesinEommon stock (which represented
approximately 81% of the total issued and outstagndhares of common stock following the close efttiansaction). Cryoport Systems, Inc.,
which was originally formed in 1999 as a Califorfiraited liability company, and subsequently rearigad into a California corporation on
December 11, 2000, remains the operating compadgru@ryoport, Inc. Our principal executive offica® located at 20382 Barents Sea
Circle, Lake Forest, CA 92630. The telephone nunobeur principal executive offices is (949) 470003 and our main corporate website is
www.Cryoport.com. The information on, or that canazcessed through our website is not part ofthisual Report.

The company became public by a reverse mergeranfigihell” company in May 2005. Over time the Compaas transitioned from
being a development company to a fully operatiqudilic company, providing cold chain logistics smuns to the biotechnology and life
sciences industries, globally.

Since fiscal year 2011 the Company has taken $gmif steps towards commercialization of the Crybgapress™ logistics solutions
validating, perfecting and expanding its featuidsee Company has now managed shipments of its Cry&xpress Shippers through its
Cryoportal into and out of approximately 58 cougdrihandling a vast array of different biologicalgucts and specimens.

During fiscal year 2012, the Company completedetkternal validation of its Cryoport Express Stadd@hipper to ISTA 7E standards
and introduced the Cryoport Express High VolumegBéi in response to customer demand. The Compaanysat up its European distribution
depot in Holland to better serve its customer lzaksupport sales efforts in Europe.

During fiscal year 2013, the Company elected JeBtetlton President and CEO, realigned its sakes tend introduced a solutions sales
and operating strategy. In addition, and as paitsaflobal expansion plans, the Company set ufasstan distribution depot in Singapore. The
Company also formed a Commercial Advisory Board BEvith Bill Taaffe, a founding member of ICON Cigal Research becoming its first
member.

In April 2013, Richard G. Rathmann was appointethioCompany’s Board of Directors. As a ventumedfmanager, investor and
advisor to life science companies over the paste20s, Rathmann brings new experience and insighte Board.




Cryoport Expres® Solutions

Cryoport Expres® Solutions consist of the Cryoportal, a cloud-basgiktics management software which programmaticeshbists in
the management of all aspects of the logisticsatjuers including the Cryoport Expre8Shippers and the Cryoport ExprésSmart Pak data
logger. The Cryoportal is capable of producing @ Expres€ Analytics which reports shipment performance meteand evaluates
temperature-monitoring data collected by the dagaér during shipment. Cryoport ExprésSolutions are focused on improving the reliabi
of frozen shipping while reducing our clients’ ocakioperating costs. This is accomplished by priogjcdh complete end-to-end solution for the
transport and monitoring of frozen or cryogenicaigserved biological or pharmaceutical materinigpged primarily though integrators and
specialty couriers. Certain of the intellectualgery underlying our Cryoport Expre8sSolutions (other than that related to the Cryoport
Express® Shippers) has been, and continues to be, develapiet a contract with an outside software develogroempany, with the
underlying technology licensed to us for exclusige in our field of use.

Cryoportal

The Cryoportal is used by Cryoport, our customeid @ur business partners to automate the entrydefs, prepare customs
documentation and to facilitate status and locatimmitoring of shipped orders while in transitisliused by Cryoport to assist in managing
logistics operations and to reduce administratn&typically provisioned through manual laboatielg to order-entry, order processing,
preparation of shipping documents and back-offamanting. It is also used to support the high llefeustomer service expected by the
industry. Certain features of the Cryoportal redoperating costs and facilitate the scaling of @oytis business, but more importantly they
offer significant value to the customer in termgo$t avoidance and risk mitigation. Examples eséhfeatures include automation of order
entry, development of Key Performance IndicatokdR([") to support our efforts for continuous procésprovements in our business, and
programmatic exception monitoring to detect andetimres anticipate delays in the shipping procef$sndefore the customer or the shipping
company becomes aware of them.

The Cryoportal also serves as the communicationtecéor the management, collection and analysB8mért Pak data collected from
Smart Pak data loggers in the field. Data is camedeinto pre-designed reports containing valuahtkaften actionable information that
becomes the quality control standard or “pedigdehe shipment. This information can be utilizgd@ryoport to provide valuable feedbacl
the customer relating to their shipments.

The Cryoportal was developed as a carrier-agnegtitem, allowing the customer and the Cryoportr€i@&are team the use of multiple
integrators, freight forwarders or couriers depagdin the specific requirements and customer praées. To increase operational efficiencies
the Cryoportal has already been integrated withréeking systems of two major integrators andasping to integrate with other key logist
providers.

The Cryportal was developed for time- and tempeeasensitive shipments that are required to mairgpecific temperatures, such as
ambient (between 20 and 25°C), chilled (betweend8%C) or frozen (minus 10°C or less all the wayd to cryogenic temperatures) to
ensure that the shipped specimen is not subjatd#doadation or out of its designated “safe” raMyhile our current focus is on frozen
shipments within the biotechnology and life scienicelustries using the logistics solutions descriherein, the use of the Cryoportal can and
may be extended into other temperature ranges.

The Cryoport Expres€ Shippers

Our Cryoport Expres8 Shippers are cryogenic dry vapor shippers capdhbigamtaining cryogenic temperatures of minus 16@fsius
or below for a dynamic shipping period of 10 or mdays. A dry cryogenic shipper is a device thasuigjuid nitrogen contained inside a
vacuum insulated bottle which serves as a refrigagmprovide stable storage temperatures belows50° Celsius. Our Cryoport Expréss
Shippers are designed to ensure that there isassre build up as the liquid nitrogen evaporatespitlage of liquid nitrogen. We have
developed a proprietary retention system to enhateliquid nitrogen stays inside the vacuum carggiwhich allows the shipper to be
designated as a dry shipper meeting Internatioiral ransport Association (“lATA"yequirements. Biological or pharmaceutical specisrenq
stored in a specimen chamber, referred to as d™imslde the container, refrigeration is provideyl cold nitrogen gas evolving from the liquid
nitrogen entrapped within the retention system.cBpens that may be transported using our cryoggmifper include live cell scientific or
pharmaceutical commaodities such as cancer vacdieggostic materials, semen, eggs and embryas;tinfis substances and other items tha
require continuous exposure to frozen or cryogemitperatures (e.g., temperatures below minus 18&i3).




We currently offer two sizes of dry vapor shippéng Cryoport Expres® Standard Shipper with a storage capacity of ugbt6.2ml
vials and the Cryoport Expre8High Volume Shipper which was introduced in Januzr2012 with a capacity of up to 500 0.2ml vials.

The technology underlying the Cryoport Expr@shipper was developed by modifying and advancinrtelogy from our first
generation of reusable cryogenic dry shippers. 8ilr Cryoport Expres8Shippers share many of the characteristics and basign details
of our earlier shippers, we are manufacturing ayo@ort Expres® Shippers from alternative, lower cost and lowerghieimaterials, which
reduces overall operating costs. We maintain orggdavelopment efforts related to our shippers whighprincipally focused on material
properties, particularly those properties relatethe low temperature requirement, the vacuum tieteicharacteristics, such as the permeal
of the materials, and lower cost and lower weightarals in an effort to meet the market needsafhieving a lower cost frozen and cryogenic
shipping solution. Other advances additional todéeelopment work on the cryogenic container inelbdth an improved liquid nitrogen
retention system and a secondary protective, prubf packaging system. This secondary packagiaetesy, contains a low cost outer
packaging that lends itself to disposability, ainid imade of recyclable materials. Further, it agidsdditional liquid nitrogen retention
capability to further assure compliance with IATAdaICAO regulations that prohibit egress of liquittogen from the shipping package.
ICAO stands for the International Civil Aviation @amization, which is a United Nations organizatioat develops regulations for the safe
transport of dangerous goods by air.

Cryoport Expres® Standard Shippers

The Cryoport Expres® Standard Shippers are lightweight, low-costuseble dry vapor liquid nitrogen storage contairieas we believ
combine the best features of packaging, cryogearidshigh vacuum technology. A Cryoport Expr&&tandard Shipper is composed of an
aluminum metallic dewar flask, with a well for hoig the biological material in the inner chambeneTdewar flask, or “thermos bottle,” is an
example of a practical device in which the condugtconvection and radiation of heat are reducadwsh as possible. The inner chamber of
the shipper is surrounded by a high surface, lomsitig material which retains the liquid nitrogensitu by absorption, adsorption and surface
tension. Absorption is defined as the taking umatfter in bulk by other matter, as in the dissajvirfi a gas by a liquid, whereas adsorption is
the surface retention of solid, liquid or gas males, atoms or ions by a solid or liquid. This mialeabsorbs liquid nitrogen several times
faster than currently used materials, while prawdihe shipper with a hold time and capacity tagpmrt biological materials safely and
conveniently. The annular space between the inmdioater dewar chambers is evacuated to a verywsighum (10-6 Torr). The specimen-
holding chamber has a primary cap to enclose teeigens, and a removable and replaceable secooaiainy further enclose the specimen-
holding container and to contain the liquid nitrog&he entire dewar vessel is then wrapped in &lity of insulating and cushioning materi
and placed in a disposable outer packaging madecg€lable material. The Cryoport Expré&sStandard Shipper has a storage capacity of
75 0.2ml vials.

Cryoport Expres$ High Volume Shippers

The Cryoport Expres& High Volume Shipper also uses a dry vapor liquidogien (LN2) technology to maintain below -150° C
temperatures with a dynamic shipping endurancéafays. The Cryoport Expre8digh Volume Shipper is based on the same dry vapor
technology as Cryoport’s original standard dry pkipand utilizes an absorbent material to hold LiR@s providing the extended endurance
time and IATA validation as a non-hazardous shigmiantainer. The high volume dry shipper is reusalold recyclable, making it a highly
sustainable and cost effective method of transpgitfe science materials. The Cryoport Expr@stigh Volume Shipper has a storage caps
of up to 500 0.2ml vials.

We believe Cryoport ExpreS§sSolutions are the best and most cost effectivetisolavailable in the biotechnology and life sciesic
markets and satisfy customer needs and scientiicegulatory requirements relating to the shipnoéime- and temperature-critical, frozen
and refrigerated transport of biological materialsch as stem cells, cell lines, pharmaceuticaial trial samples, gene biotechnology,
infectious materials handling, animal and humamaepction markets. Due to our proprietary technglagd innovative design, our shippers
are less prone to losing functional hold time whetkept in an upright position than the compepngducts because our proprietary dry vapol
technology and innovative design prevent the sjlbr leakage of the liquid nitrogen when the coaais tipped or on its side which would
otherwise adversely affect the functional hold tiofi¢he shipper.

An important feature of our Cryoport ExpréShippers is their compliance with the stringentkaaing requirements of IATA Packing
Instructions 602 and 650, respectively. These fipations include meeting internal pressure (hyticquand drop performance requirements.




The Cryoport Expres® Smart Pak

Temperature monitoring is a high value feature famcustomers’ perspective as it is an effectivé i@liable method to determine that
the shipment materials were not damaged or digéxypérience degradation during shipment due to tesyre fluctuations. Our Smart Pak
System is a self-contained automated data loggetde of recording cryogenic temperatures of sasngiépped in our Cryoport Express®
Shippers. The data-logging temperature probetisarvapor plug of the shipper for the most accumadeling. The temperature mapping
includes both the temperature inside the chamblkeicfwis closest to the actual biomaterial) andetkernal temperature. This reading,
combined with the mapping of every shipment checgeint, provides a holistic view of the compleltépping process. At the client’s election,
shipments can have a full chain-of-custody andreb&icondition with both data monitoring and anéyavailable.

Chain-of-Condition

Data monitoring starts with a custom built datagleig The data logger can be set up to report dahi@ghipment and/or after the
shipment. For those shipments involving biologamical trials or any other material that need®¢overified before receiving, the information
recorded by the data logger can be downloadedetddla station onsite. Alternatively, Cryoport catoad the temperature data from the data
logger for analysis to the Cryoportal upon retufthe shipper. The Cryoportal also acts as the agtasitory for all shipment and temperature
information, which the customer can access remdhebugh the internet. Chain of condition servie@available at the client’s election.

Chain-of-Custody

When overlaid with the carrier check-ins, the dataitor and analysis also provides a chain of dystdhe report from the data monitor
serves as analysis for temperature monitoring @ktitire shipment as well as a tampering warninel client has elected to have chain of
condition monitoring, each time the container ismogd there is a temperature record. The reporideiitify outlier temperature excursions
such as opening the shipment in customs or tangpand allow for more conclusive investigations nsure specimen shipped were not
adversely impacted during shipment.

Cryoport Expres€ Analytics

The Cryoportal is an important information techrgi@lement of our business strategy and has besgndel to support planned future
features to allow for an expansion of our solutioffering. Analytics is a term used by IT professits to refer to performance benchmarks or
Key Performance Indicators (KPI's) that managemsitizes to measure performance against desirediatds. Examples for analytics tracked
through the Cryoportal include time-based metriwsofder processing time and on-time deliverie®tiyshipping partners, as well as profiling
shipping lanes to determine average transit timelspaedicting potential shipping exceptions basethistorical metrics. The analytical results
are being utilized by Cryoport to render conswatnd proactive customer services.

Biological Material Holders

A patented containment bag is used in connectiom thie shipment of infectious or dangerous goodsgubie Cryoport Express®
Shippers. Up to 75 cryovials (polypropylene viaifwhigh-density polyethylene closures), set onmahum canes are placed into an absorben
pouch, which is designed to absorb the entire cositef all the vials in the event of leakage. Tasich is then placed in a watertight Tyvek
(secondary packaging) capable of withstanding apagtemperatures, and then sealed. This bagrsptlaeed into the well of the cryogenic
shipper.

Other Product Candidates and Development Activities
We are continuing our research and developmenttsffo further refine our current technology aslwaslexplore opportunities with
partners to offer complementary packaging solutiongrozen temperature (- 10° Celsius or lessjJazhtemperature (2° to 8° Celsius) and

ambient temperature (between 20° and 25° Celshigpmg markets.

We also continue to further expand the functiogalitour Cryoportal, to ensure a high level of effeeness and efficiency in the cold
chain logistics process and to allow for intelligand easy data monitoring and analysis.




Government Regulation

The shipping of diagnostic specimens, infectiousstances and dangerous goods, whether via aionandr falls under the jurisdiction
many state, federal and international agencies.qUladity of the containers, packaging materials imsdlation that protect a specimen
determine whether or not it will arrive in a usabtendition. Many of the regulations for transpogtoiangerous goods in the United States are
determined by international rules formulated urtierauspices of the United Nations. For exampke)@AO is the United Nations
organization that develops regulations (Techniesirlctions) for the safe transport of dangerousigdy air. If shipment is by air, compliance
with the rules established by IATA is required. IATS a trade association made up of airlines andaio couriers that publishes annual
editions of the IATA Dangerous Goods RegulatiortsedSe regulations interpret and add to the ICAQO fiieal Instructions to reflect industry
practices. Additionally, the CDC has regulationslfjished in the Code of Federal Regulations) fterstate shipping of specimens, and OSH/
also addresses the safe handling of Class 6.2 &wtest. Our Cryoport Expre8sShippers meet Packing Instructions 602 and 65Gaad
certified for the shipment of Class 6.2 Dangeroosd3 per the requirements of the ICAO Technicatusions for the Safe Transport of
Dangerous Goods by Air and IATA. Our present arhpéd future versions of the Cryoport Smart Pal agger will likely be subject to
regulation by Federal Aviation Administration (“FA} Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”"), Faodl Drug Administration
(“FDA"), International Air Association (“IATA”) andoossibly other agencies which may be difficultie&dermine on a global basis.

We are also subject to numerous other federak atad local laws relating to such matters as saf&ing conditions, manufacturing
practices, environmental protection, fire hazandtied, and disposal of hazardous or potentiallyandaus substances. We may incur signific
costs to comply with such laws and regulations o the future.

Manufacturing and Raw Materials

Manufacturing. Due to our adequate levels of dewar inventoeste coming year, manufacturing is currently sugfed. The
component parts for our shippers are primarily niactured at third party manufacturing facilitiese\&lso have a warehouse at our facility in
Lake Forest, California, where we are capable afufecturing certain parts and to fully assemblesiupppers. Most of the components that
we use in the manufacture of our shippers are abaifrom more than one qualified supplier. For smomponents, however, there are
relatively few alternate sources of supply andasgablishment of additional or replacement suppiieay not be accomplished immediately,
however, we have identified alternate qualifieddigps. Should this occur, we believe that with ourrent level of inventory of shippers we
have enough inventory to cover our forecasted delriBimere are no specific agreements with any matwifar nor are there any long term
commitments to any manufacturer. We believe thattrabthe manufacturers currently used by us cbeldeplaced within a short period of
time as none have a proprietary component or aauiiel capital investment specific to our shippers

Our production and manufacturing process incorgaratnovative technologies developed for aerospadeother industries which are
cost effective, easier to use and more functidmeah the traditional dry ice devices and other mdstaurrently used for the shipment of
temperature-sensitive materials. Our manufactysiogess uses non-hazardous cleaning solutionshvainécprovided and disposed of by a
supplier approved by the Environmental Protectigercy (the “EPA”). EPA compliance costs for us taerefore negligible.

Cryoport Expres® High Volume Shippers are purchased from a thirdypamd modified using our proprietary technology &now-
how.

Raw Materials Various common raw materials are used in the if@atwre of our shippers and in the developmentoftechnologies.
These raw materials are generally available froneise alternate distributors and manufactures. ke ot experienced any significant
difficulty in obtaining these raw materials and d@not consider raw material availability to bagn#icant factor in our business.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

In order to remain competitive, we must develop araintain protection on the proprietary aspectsusftechnologies. We rely on a
combination of patents, copyrights, trademarksldrsecret laws and confidentiality agreementsatept our intellectual property rights. We
currently own three registered United States traatkmand three issued United States patents plyntarrering various aspects of our
products. In addition, we have filed a patent agajtion for various aspects of our shipper and watvah which includes, in part, various
aspects of our business model referred to as thepdrt Expres® System, and we intend to file additional patentliapfions to strengthen o
intellectual property rights. The technology covkby the above indicated issued patents relatestters specific to the use of liquid nitrogen
shippers in connection with the shipment of biotadimaterials. The concepts include those of despitis/, package configuration details,
liquid nitrogen retention systems, systems reléetiermal performance, systems related to paclagtegrity, and matters generally relevant
to the containment of liquid nitrogen. Similarlpettrademarks mentioned relate to the cryogenipéeature shipping activity. Issued patents
and trademarks currently owned by us include:

Type: No. Issued Expiration

Patent 6,467,64. Oct. 22, 200 Oct. 21, 202
Patent 6,119,46' Sep. 19, 20C Sep. 18, 20z
Patent 6,539,721 Apr. 1, 200: Mar 31, 202
Trademark 7,583,478, Oct. 8, 200 N/A
Trademark 7,748,667, Feb. 3, 200 N/A

Trademark 7,737,454, Mar. 17, 200 N/A






Our success depends in part upon our ability tekdgvproprietary products and technologies andtain patent coverage for these
products and technologies. We intend to file tragldnand patent applications covering any newly e products, methods and
technologies. However, there can be no guaranseatty of our pending or future filed applicationfl be issued as patents. There can be no
guarantee that the U.S. Patent and Trademark Gffiseme third party will not initiate an interfe® proceeding involving any of our penc
applications or issued patents. Finally, therelmmno guarantee that our issued patents or fudsued patents, if any, will provide adequate
protection from competition.

Patents provide some degree of protection for copnetary technology. However, the pursuit anceetesn of patent rights involve
complex legal and factual determinations and, floeee are characterized by significant uncertaihtyaddition, the laws governing patent
issuance and the scope of patent coverage corttremmlve. Moreover, the patent rights we possessepursuing generally cover our
technologies to varying degrees. As a result, wegbensure that patents will issue from any offmatent applications, or that any of its issue
patents will offer meaningful protection. In additi our issued patents may be successfully chatbrigvalidated, circumvented or rendered
unenforceable so that our patent rights may natteran effective barrier to competition. Moreowke laws of some foreign countries may not
protect our proprietary rights to the same extasflo the laws of the United States. There carotsssurance that any patents issued to us wi
provide a legal basis for establishing an exclusiagket for our products or provide us with any petitive advantages, or that patents of
others will not have an adverse effect on our ghiti do business or to continue to use our teaduies freely.

We may be subject to third parties filing claimattbur technologies or products infringe on theteliectual property. We cannot predict
whether third parties will assert such claims agairs or whether those claims will hurt our busindfswe are forced to defend against such
claims, regardless of their merit, we may facelgdiigation and diversion of management’s attentand resources. As a result of any such
disputes, we may have to develop, at a substamt#) non-infringing technology or enter into liserg agreements. These agreements may b
unavailable on terms acceptable to it, or at dflicv could seriously harm our business or finanodaddition.

We also rely on trade secret protection of ourllietéual property. We attempt to protect trade secby entering into confidentiality
agreements with third parties, employees and ctares| although, in the past, we have not alwayainéd such agreements. It is possible tha
these agreements may be breached, invalidateshdered unenforceable, and if so, our trade secoetsl be disclosed to our competitors.
Despite the measures we have taken to protechtlleictual property, parties to such agreementslima@ach confidentiality provisions in our
contracts or infringe or misappropriate our patecwpyrights, trademarks, trade secrets and otto@rietary rights. In addition, third parties
may independently discover or invent competitivehtelogies, or reverse engineer our trade secretther technology. Therefore, the
measures we are taking to protect our proprietehriology may not be adequate.

Customers and Distribution

As a result of growing globalization, including sugreas as biotechnology and life science, cliriials, distribution of pharmaceutical
products and reproductive medicine, the requirerfmrdffective and reliable solutions for keepinigical samples, pharmaceutical products
and other specimen at frozen temperatures takaslaed significance due to more complex shippingesiextended shipping times, custom
delays and logistics challenges. Today, such spawmre traditionally shipped in styrofoam carddaasulated containers packed with dry
ice, gellfreezer packs or a combination thereo& @trrent dry ice solutions have limitations theaterely limit their effective use for both short
and long-distances (e.g., international). Conveatiary ice shipments often require labor-intensieeicing” operations resulting in higher
labor and shipping costs.

With proper marketing and sales initiatives, waeyad our patented cryogenic shippers and the Cryaldogistics management platform
make us well positioned to take advantage of tbhevong demand for effective and efficient internatibtransport of temperature sensitive
materials resulting from continued globalizatiori.particular significance is the trend within ttife Isciences and biotechnology industries
toward globalization. We believe that pharmaceltiompanies conducting clinical trials in foreigmuaitries represent a growing opportunity
for Cryoport.

We provide domestic shipping solutions in situasiarhere specimen must be kept at cryogenic tempesand in regions where ther
a high priority placed on maintaining the integiifymaterials shipped at cryogenic temperatures.

Pharmaceutical Clinical Trials Every United States based pharmaceutical comgawmgloping a new drug must seek drug developmer
protocol approval by the FDA. These clinical triate to, among other things, test the safety afichef of the potential new drug. A
significant amount of clinical trial activity is maged by a number of large Clinical Research Orgaions (“CROS").




In connection with the clinical trials, due to gidization, the companies can be enrolled fromadrahe world and may regularly subr
a blood or other specimen at the local hospitattatts office or laboratory. These samples are thamt to specified testing laboratories, which
may be local or in another country. The testingtabories will typically set the requirements fbetstorage and shipment of blood specimens
In addition, drugs used by the patients may reduiraen shipping to the sites of the clinical sialvhile both domestic and international
shipping of these specimens is accomplished usingcd today, international shipments especialgsent several problems, as dry ice, under
the best of circumstances, can only provide fregfin one to two days, in the absence of re-iciai¢h is quite costly). Because shipments o
packages internationally can take longer than orteo days or be delayed due to flight cancellajoncorrect destinations, labor problems,
ground logistics, customs delays and safety reasimpsce is not always a reliable and/or costafie option. Clinical trial specimens are of
irreplaceable because each one represents cldatalat a prescribed point in time, in a seriespetimens on a given patient, who may be
participating in a trial for years. Sample integuturing the shipping process is vital to retaining maximum number of patients in each trial.
Our shippers are ideally suited for this marketaislonger hold time ensures that specimens caebieover long distances with minimal
concern that they will arrive in a condition thatlwause their exclusion from the trial. There at®o many instances in domestic shipments
where Cryoport ExpressShippers will provide higher reliability and be tesfective.

Furthermore, the IATA requires that all airbornéstents of laboratory specimens be transmittedtireel ATA Instruction 650 or 602
certified packaging. We have developed and obtaiAg@d certification of our Cryoport Expre€System, which is ideally suited for this
market, in particular due to the elimination of #ast to return the reusable shipper.

Biotechnology and Diagnostic Compani€ghe biotechnology market includes basic and agpisearch and development in diverse
areas such as stem cells, cloning, gene therap tDior vaccines, tissue engineering, genomics béoaold products. Companies participa
in the foregoing fields rely on the frozen trandpafrspecimens in connection with their researdh @evelopment efforts, for which our
Cryoport Expres® Shippers are ideally suited.

Central LaboratoriesWith the increase and globalization of clinicaldi&s and trials, logistics has become more comatekensuring
sample integrity has become more challenging. hatigsnal courier costs are now consuming a siganifigortion of global protocol budgets.
We believe laboratories performing the testingashples collected during the conduct of these glohdti-site studies are looking for reliable
state-of-the-art logistics solutions.

Pharmaceutical Distribution The current focus for the Cryoport Expr@System also includes the area of pharmaceuticallison.
There are a significant number of therapeutic dargsvaccines currently or anticipated soon taubdergoing clinical trials. After the FDA
approves them for commercial marketing, it willferessary for the manufacturers to have a relafdeesconomical method of distribution to
the physician who will administer the product te ftatient. It is likely that the most efficient arediable method of distribution will be to shi
single dosage to the administering physician. Tliesgs are typically identified to individual patts and therefore will require a complete
tracking history from the manufacturer to the patti& he most reliable method of doing this is tgpshunit dosage specifically for each pati
If such drugs require maintenance at frozen orgewic temperatures, each such shipment will requfrezen or cryogenic shipping package.
Cryoport can provide the technology to meet thiscgrated need.




Fertility Clinics and In Vitro Fertilization (“IVF”) . Maintaining cryogenic temperatures during shigpand transfer of in vitro
fertilization specimens like eggs, sperm, or embrigccritical for cell integrity in order to retauiability, stabilize the cells, and ensure
reproducible results and successful IVF treatniBimére are approximately 3,000 fertility clinics Wtwide. Cryoport anticipates that this
market will continue to grow; in the United Statdsne, the fertility market has grown to over $dilion with over 1.3 million women seeking
treatment each year. In the worldwide market, iejgorted that there are over one billion IVF cggber year and growing.

Sales and Marketing

We currently have two senior sales directors arelayea sales manager in the United States, onar Sahés director in Europe, one
inside sales representative for IVF and a part semgor director of marketing promoting the usewf Cryoport Expres8 System on a direct
basis. Given the global nature of our businesssal&s and marketing initiatives should more thghtyicover the Americas, Europe and Asia.
For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, no custeraccount for more than 10% of total revenues.

Our geographical revenues for the fiscal year eMacth 31, 2013 were as follows:

USA 58.2%
Europe 20.2%
Asia 14.4%
Rest of World 7.2%

We renewed our agreement with FedEx and plan thduexpand our revenues and marketing effortsigirdhe establishment of
additional strategic partnerships with global im#g#grs and freight forwarders and, subject to awéd financial resources, the hiring of
additional marketing and sales personnel.

Cryoport Operations Centers

In addition to the services provided through ouwiliy in Lake Forest, California, we have contedtwith third parties to run our
European Operations Center (located in Leiden,d#d) and Asian Operations Center (located in SioggpThe operations centers provide
warehousing, shipping, receiving, refurbishing asycling services for our shipping containers.stdgproach is a cost-effective way to
initiate operations outside of the US and allowsouscale up as our business grows globally. Ind&013, we shut down a small third-party
operations center in New Delhi, India without impan our business or customers.

Industry and Competition

Our products and services are sold into a rapiddying segment of the logistics industry focusedtentemperature sensitive packaging
and shipping of biological materials. Expenditui@s‘value added” packaging for frozen transponédaeen increasing for the past several
years and, due in part to continued globalizatina,expected to continue to increase even mofeifuture as more domestic and internatic
biotechnology firms introduce pharmaceutical pradubat require continuous refrigeration at cryagéemperatures. We believe this will
require a greater dependence on passively cordr@laperature transport systems (i.e., systemsigand external power source). In addition,
we expect that industry standards and regulatioh$®¥e&introduced globally, requiring more comprabize tracking and validation of shipping
temperatures.

We believe that growth in the following markets hasulted in the need for increased reliabilitficedncies and greater flexibility in the
temperature sensitive segment of the logistics etark

« gene and stem cell biotechnology;

« celllines;

« vaccine production;

« commercial drug product distribution;

« clinical trials, including transport of tissue aukt samples;
« diagnostic specimens;

« infectious sample materials;

« inter/intra-laboratory diagnostic testing;

« temperature-sensitive specimens;

« biological samples, in general;



environmental sampling;
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« IVF;and
« animal husbandry.

Many of the biological products in these above ratekequire transport in a frozen state as wethasieed for shipping containers wr
have the ability to maintain a frozen, cryogenigissnment (e.g., minus 150° Celsius) for a periadging from two to ten days (depending on
the distance and mode of shipment). These produttgle stem cells, semen, embryo, tissue, tisaliares, cultures of viruses and bacteria,
enzymes, DNA materials, vaccines, certain pharntazyproducts, etc.

The following comparisons apply only to the hardevportion of our solutions; our entire solutiongegrate hardware, software and cold
chain logistics know-how tailored to client requirents.

Cryoport Express Shippers (Liquid Nitrogen Dry Vapaompared to Dry Ice Shipments

One problem faced by many companies operatingesetispecialized markets is the limited numberydgenic shipping systems
serving their needs. The currently adopted protandl the most common method for packaging frozemsport in these industries is the use o
solid-state carbon dioxide (dry ice). Dry ice igldras been used extensively in shipping to mairgdinzen state for a period of one to four
days. Dry ice is used in the transport of manydgaal products, such as pharmaceuticals, labgrafmecimens and certain infectious
materials. The common approach to shipping thesesitvia ground freight is to pack the product goatainer, such as an expanded
polystyrene (styrofoam) box or a molded polyurethbox, with a variable quantity of dry ice. The bexaped or strapped shut and shipped tc
its destination with freight charges based onnisal shipping weight. All dry ice shipping is ceidered dangerous goods shipping, requiring
extra packaging steps and adding costs. It giviesaobon dioxide and sublimates unevenly and intstaration.

With respect to shipments via specialized coumevises, there is no standardized method or dexicently in use for the purpose of
transporting temperature-sensitive frozen bioldgp&cimens. One common method for courier trangyddriological materials is to place
frozen specimens, refrigerated specimens, and atngpecimens into a compartmentalized containerijasi in size to a 55 quart Coleman or
Igloo cooler. The freezer compartment in the cordais loaded with a quantity of dry ice at min@&$ Telsius, while the refrigerated
compartment at 8° Celsius utilizes ice substitutes.

Two manufacturers of the polystyrene and polyumtheontainers frequently used in the shipping andtier transport of dry ice frozen
specimens are Insulated Shipping Containers, it Tegrant (formerly SCA Thermosafe). When theseainers are used with dry ice, the

average sublimation rate (e.g., the rate at whighia turns from a solid to a gaseous state)dorgainer with a 1/ ,inch wall thickness is
slightly less than three pounds per 24 hours. GaRisting refrigerant systems employ the use ofpgeks and ice substitutes for temperature

maintenance. Gels and eutectic solutions (phasggatiga materials) with a wide range of phasing terapges have been developed in recent
years to meet the needs of products with varyimgi§ip temperature control requiremer
The use of dry ice and ice substitutes, howevegandiess of external packaging used, are frequartjequate because they do not
provide low enough storage temperatures and, icdke of dry ice, last for only a few days withmtcing. As a result, companies run the ris}
of increased costs due to lost specimens and additshipping charges due to the need to re-ice.
Some of the other disadvantages to using dry iceHipping or transporting temperature sensitivadpcts are as follows:
« availability of a dry ice sourct
« handling and storage of the dry i
e cost of the dry ice
- compliance with local, state and federal regulaticaiating to the storage and use of dry
« dangerous goods shipping regulatic

« weight of containers when packed with dry i

e securing a shipping container with a high enoBg¥alue (which is a measure of thermal resistateépld the dry ice and product
for the required time perior

* securing a shipping container that meets the remqénts of IATA, the DOT, the CDC, and other reqaiatagencies; an
« emission of greenhouse gases (primarily carbonidi)snto the environmen
Due to the limitations of dry ice, specimens thefuire frozen shipping are more securely shippédiatcryogenic temperatures using a

service such as liquid nitrogen dry vapor ship§€ryoport Express Shippers) , or liquid nitrogeipplkrs where the specimen is kept over
actual liquid nitrogen. However, liquid nitrogenhazardous and has many pitfalls including safaetyexpense
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Cryoport Express Shippers (Liquid Nitrogen Dry Vapa@ompared to Liquid Nitrogen Dewars/Tanks

There are distinct disadvantages when using ligitidgen compared to the dry vapor liquid nitrogesed in Cryoport Expre$s
Shippers. Liquid nitrogen dewars/tanks are classiéis dangerous goods and cannot be shipped &b pauaddition, the liquid nitrogen has to
be disposed of prior to returning the dewar/tanitorigin. These issues add additional procedstegls and costs to the shipment. In addition
there is a risk of liquid nitrogen leakage if thendir/tank tips to the side during transport, whiah cause bodily injury and compromise the
specimen being shipped. Due to the use of our f@iapy technology, our Cryoport Expré&Shippers are not prone to leakage when on their
side or inverted, thereby protecting the integoityur shipper’s hold time and being safe for hargl!

While both, liquid nitrogen dry vapor and liquidnoigen shippers provide solutions to the issues@mered when shipping with dry ice,
liquid nitrogen shippers have some draw backs.eample, the cost for a liquid nitrogen shippeiidgly can range from $650 to $4,000 per
unit, which can substantially limit their use fhettransport of many common biologics, particulavith respect to small quantities such as is
the case with direct to the physician drug deliv&gcause of the initial cost and limited productad these containers, they are designed to b
reusable. However, the cost of returning theseaioets can be significant, particularly in intefaaal markets, because most applications
require only one-way shipping. In addition, theistigs support of cryogenic shippers requires nsoghisticated logistics management and
discipline to ensure shippers are returned andctedyespecially for international shipments, whichny companies do not have in place.

Cryoport’s solutions are totally comprehensive artdgrated for maximum reliability, economy andaiatffectiveness. Cryoport's total
logistics solution enables life sciences compatuasilize the superior liquid nitrogen dry vapechnology without having to make capital
investments or developing in-house logistics expernd systems by offering a complete solutiorctvimicludes the cloud-based Cryoportal
logistics management platform, the temperature todng system and the 24/7/365 logistics suppango@ort allows the customer to
outsource logistics and focus on its core compétenghile maintaining visibility of all shipping leted information.

Within our intended biotechnology and life scienoerkets for Cryoport Expre$sShippers, there is limited known direct competition
We compete with liquid nitrogen and dry ice solnotdy reason of the improved and integrated hamhaad software technology in our
products including our comprehensive logistics ng@naent software and through the use of our seenabled business model. The Cryoport
Express® Solution provides a simple and cost effective sofufor the frozen or cryogenic transport of bidtemnd life sciences materials. The
Cryoportal assist the management, scheduling aipgisiy of the Cryoport Expres&Shippers removing the burdens associated with other
methods.

Traditional dry ice shippers and liquid nitrogenkauppliers, such as MVE/Chart Industries, TaWlitarton and Air Liquide, offer
various models of dry vapor liquid nitrogen shipgptirat are not as cost efficient for multi-use amdti-shipment purposes due to their
significantly greater unit costs and unit weighhigh may substantially increase the shipping c@)the other hand, they are more establi
and have larger organizations and have greatendiak operational, sales and marketing resoutws a broad manufactured product offe
of other liquid nitrogen products and experiencesgearch and development than we do.

Factors that we believe give us a competitive athganare attributable to our software and shippomgainer which allows our shipper
retain liquid nitrogen when placed in non-uprigbsiions, the overall “leak- proofness” of our pagk which determines compliance with
shipping regulations and the overall weight andupte of the package which determines shipping castsour business model represented b
the merged integration of our shipper with Cryopbaind Smart Pak datal ogger into a seamless sigippacking and monitoring solution.

Other companies that offer potentially competifiveducts include Industrial Insulation Systems,ahhbffers cryogenic transport units
and has partnered with Marathon Products Inc., mufaaturer and global supplier of wireless tempemtiata collecting devices used for
documenting environmentally sensitive productsubfothe cold chain and Kodiak Thermal Technolodies, which offers, among other
containers, a repeat use active-cool containerthes free piston stirling cycle technology. Whitg having their own shipping devices,
BioStorage Technologies is potentially a competittempany through their management services offerecbld-chain logistics and long-term
biomaterial storage. Cryogena offers a single usgodable LN2 shipper with better performance tihgnice, but it does not perform as well
and is not as cost-effective as the Cryoport smiutvhen all costs are considered. In addition, Bitrda, Inc. is developing and offering
technology that stabilizes biological samples awtarch materials at room temperature. They pigs#far these technologies primarily to
research and academic institutions; however, teelinology may eventually enter the broader colgircmarket.
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Research and Development

Our research and development efforts are focuseoitinually improving the features of our CryopBrpress® Solutions including the
cloud-based Cryoportal and the Cryoport ExpfeSsippers. These efforts are expected to lead tmtfauction of shippers of varying sizes
based on market requirements, constructed of loagrmaterials and utilizing high volume manufaictgimethods that will make it practical
to provide the cryogenic packages offered by thegort Expres® System. Alternative phase change materials in pdétiquid nitrogen may
be used to increase the potential markets theppestsi can serve such as ambient and 2-8°C magketsesearch and development
expenditures for the fiscal years ended March 8132and 2012 were $425,446 and $491,849, resphctinth the largest portion being spent
on software maintenance and development.

Employees
As of June 17, 2013, we had seventeen full-timeleyegs, one consultant and two temporary employees.
Insurance

We currently maintain general liability insuranegth coverage in the amount of $1 million per ogence, subject to a $2 million anni
limitation. Claims may be made against us that eddbese limits. In fiscal year 2013, we did ngterience any claims against our
professional liability insurance. Our liability poy is an “occurrence” based policy. Thus, our ppls complete when we purchased it and
following cancellation of the policy it continues provide coverage for future claims based on conthat took place during the policy term.
However, our insurance may not protect us agaigsility because our policies typically have vagaexceptions to the claims covered and
require us to assume some costs of the claim éemh a portion of the claim may be covered. Intaald if we expand into new markets, we
may not be aware of the need for, or be able taiolsurance coverage for such activities omstirance is obtained, the dollar amount of an
liabilities incurred could exceed our insurancearage. A partially or completely uninsured claifiguiccessful and of significant magnitude,
could have a material adverse effect on our busjiagmncial condition and results of operations.

We also maintain product liability insurance withverage in the amount of $1,000,000 per year. thitiath, we currently maintain cargo
insurance for shipments for one customer, with caye of up to $10,000 per shipment.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardlimg information based on our current expectatid@@scause our actual results
may differ materially from any forward-looking statents made by or on behalf of Cryoport, this sadticludes a discussion of important
factors that could affect our actual future resuiteluding, but not limited to, our potential prnact and service revenues, acceptance ol
products and services, expenses, net income(lasis@anings(loss) per common she
Risks Related to Our Business

We have incurred significant losses to date and ncaytinue to incur losses.

We have incurred net losses in each fiscal yeaesive commenced operations. The following tableesgnts net losses incurred for
each of our last two fiscal years:

Net Loss
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 20 $ 6,382,43.
Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 20 $ 7,832,92!

As of March 31, 2013, we had an accumulated dedic#66,311,448. While we expect to continue tawderevenues from our current
products and services, in order to achieve andisugtofitable operations, we must successfully m@mtialize and launch our Cryoport
Express® solution, significantly expand our market preseand increase revenues. We may continue to incaesos the future and may
never generate revenues sufficient to become phiditor to sustain profitability. Continuing losseay impair our ability to raise the additio
capital required to continue and expand our opamati

Our auditors have expressed doubt about our abitiycontinue as a going concern.

The Report of Independent Registered Public Acdogriirm to our March 31, 2013 consolidated finahstatements includes an
explanatory paragraph stating that the recurrisgds and negative cash flows from operations #ieption and our cash and cash equivaler
balance at March 31, 2013 raise substantial ddutnttzour ability to continue as a going concerne Thnsolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result fromdbt&ome of this uncertainty.

If we are unable to obtain additional funding, weag have to reduce or discontinue our business opieiss.

As of June 17, 2013, we had cash and cash equisaé&f£146,057. We have expended substantial fdadsloping and commercializir
our Cryoport Expres® Solutions and for general operating expenses. isut, we have historically experienced negataghdlows fror



operations and we expect to continue to experiargative cash flows from operations in the futliteerefore, our ability to continue
and expand our operations is highly dependent emthount of cash and cash equivalents on hand oechlarith our ability to raise additional
capital to fund future operations.
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We are currently funding our operations throughrsterm bridge financing and plan to raise addiioinnds through an equity or debt
offering to cover general working capital needs asalés and marketing initiatives to expand ouraust base and increase revenues. If we al
not able to raise sufficient funds and our projéctvenues and cash-inflows are reduced or delayedyay not have sufficient capital to
operate through the secondquarter of our fiscal 8a4 or beyond. We are currently exploring vasiawrangements with respect to securing
additional funding. However, there can be no asggahat any additional financing on commerciadiggonable terms, or at all, will be
available when needed. The inability to obtain tiddal capital may reduce our ability to continoeconduct our business operations. Any
additional equity financing will involve substaritdilution to our then existing stockholders. Thecartainties surrounding our future cash
inflows have raised substantial doubt regardingadnility to continue as a going concern.

If we are not successful in establishing strategalationships with global couriers, we may not bbla to successfully increase revenues
and cash flow which could adversely affect our options.

We believe that establishing strategic relationskifth global couriers, such as our agreements KetiEx and DHL can drive growth.
Such relationships will enable us to provide a deas) end-to-end shipping solution to customersadiot us to leverage the couriers’
established express, ground and freight infrasirestand penetrate new markets with minimal investnfurther, we expect that the global
couriers will utilize their sales forces to promatad sell our frozen shipping services. If we avesuccessful in launching our relationship v
FedEx or DHL or establishing additional relatioqshiwvith global couriers, our sales and marketirigresf will be significantly impacted and
anticipated revenue growth will be delayed whichldadversely impact on our operations.

Our agreements with FedEx and DHL may not result@nsignificant increase in our revenues or cashwio

In January 2013, we entered into a master agreewignEedEx , renewing FedEX’s right to on a nomiasive basis, promote, market
and sell transportation of our shippers and owateel value-added goods and services and provididg¥with a non-exclusive license and
right to use a customized version of our Cryopddathe management of shipments made by FedEximess. Because our agreement with
FedEx does not contain any requirement that Fedé&sel a minimum number of shippers from us duriegdhm of the agreement, we may not
experience a significant increase in our revenuessh flows as a result of this agreement. Onedelper 2, 2010, we entered into an
agreement with DHL that will give DHL life scienceastomers direct access to our web-based order@amd tracking portal to order our
Cryoport Expres® Shippers and preferred DHL shipping rates. Althotighagreement provides shipping discounts thateaysed to suppc
our customers using our Cryoport Expr&Solution, DHL will not be promoting, marketing aling transportation of our shippers or
services, which may not lead to any increase imevgnues.

Current economic conditions and capital markets drea period of disruption and instability which edd adversely affect our ability to
access the capital markets, and thus adverselydféeir business and liquidity.

The current economic conditions and financial srigve had, and will continue to have, a negathygact on our ability to access the
capital markets, and thus have a negative impaouombusiness and liquidity. The shortage of ligyidnd credit combined with substantial
losses in worldwide equity markets could lead testended worldwide recession. We may face sigaifichallenges if conditions in the
capital markets do not improve and we do not aeghpositive cash flow from operations. Our abilityaiccess the capital markets may be
severely restricted at a time when we need to acaigsh markets, which could have a negative impactur business plans, including the
commercialization and launch of our Cryoport Expf@Solution and other research and development desviEven if we are able to raise
capital, it may not be at a price or on terms #ratfavorable to us. We cannot predict the occegaf future financial disruptions or how long
the current market conditions may continue.

The sale of substantial shares of our common stocky depress our stock price.
As of June 17, 2013, there were 38,260,628 shdr@sracommon stock outstanding. Substantially these shares of common stock
eligible for trading in the public market. The metlprice of our common stock may decline if oucktwlders sell a large number of shares of

our common stock in the public market, or the magezceives that such sales may occur.
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We could also issue up to 44,663,099 shares of@umon stock including shares to be issued upoexbecise of outstanding warrants
and options or reserved for future issuance undesimck incentive plans, as further describedhéfollowing table:

Number of
Shares of
Common Stoc}
Issuable or
Reserved for
Issuance

Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstandargants 37,027,19
Common stock issuable upon exercise of outstangjtigns or reserved for future incentive
awards under our stock incentive plans 7,635,90.

Total 44,663,09

Of the total options and warrants outstanding ddafch 31, 2013, options and warrants exercisaislarh aggregate of 2,626,977 shares
of common stock would be considered dilutive tovhkie of our stockholders’ interest in Cryoportéese we would receive upon exercise of
such options and warrants an amount per sharésthests than the market price of our common stackiarch 31, 2013.

We will have difficulty increasing our revenues\ie experience delays, difficulties or unanticipatedsts in establishing the sales,
distribution and marketing capabilities necessary successfully commercialize our products.

We are continuing to develop sales, distributiod ararketing capabilities in the Americas, Europé Asia. It will be expensive and
time-consuming for us to develop a global marketind sales network. Moreover, we may choose, drifinecessary, to enter into additional
strategic collaborations to sell, market and disitié our products. We may not be able to providadte incentive to our sales force or to
establish and maintain favorable distribution aratkating collaborations with other companies tanpote our products. In addition, any third
party with whom we have established a marketingdisigibution relationship may not devote suffidiime to the marketing and sales of our
products thereby exposing us to potential expeimsesiting such distribution agreements. We, angl@our third party collaborators, must
also market our products in compliance with fedestate, local and international laws relatingh® provision of incentives and inducements.
Violation of these laws can result in substanteigties. Therefore, if we are unable to succdgsfiubtivate and expand our marketing and
sales force and further develop our sales and rtiagkeapabilities, or if our distributors fail tagmote our products, we will have difficulty
increasing our revenues.

Our ability to grow and compete in our industry Whe hampered if we are unable to retain the contéd service of our key profession:
or to identify, hire and retain additional qualifi@ professionals.

A critical factor to our business is our abilitydtiract and retain qualified professionals inahgdkey employees and consultants. We ar:
continually at risk of losing current professionatseing unable to hire additional professionalsieeded. If we are unable to attract new
qualified employees, our ability to grow will bevedisely affected. If we are unable to retain curesmployees or strategic consultants, our
financial condition and ability to maintain opeats may be adversely affected.
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We are dependent on new products and servicesl|able of which would harm our competitive position.

Our future revenue stream depends to a large degreer ability to bring new products and servitemarket on a timely basis. We
must continue to make significant investments geeagch and development in order to continue toldpvweew products and services, enhance
existing products and services, and achieve madagptance of such products and services. We roay jimoblems in the future in innovating
and introducing new products and services. Ourldpweent stage products and services may not bessitdly completed or, if developed,
may not achieve significant customer acceptanogelére unable to successfully define, developimindduce new, competitive products and
services and enhance existing products and serviaesuture results of operations would be advgrafected. Development and
manufacturing schedules for technology productssamndices are difficult to predict, and we might achieve timely initial customer
shipments of new products or launch of services. fithely availability of these products and sersiead their acceptance by customers are
important to our future success. A delay in newemianced product or service introductions coulcetasignificant impact on our results of
operations.

Because of these risks, our research and develdgpefferts may not result in any commercially viapl®ducts or services. If significant
portions of these development efforts are not ssefaly completed, or any new or enhanced prodoicservices are not commercially
successful, our business, financial condition asdiits of operations may be materially harmed.

If we successfully develop products and/or servjdag those products and/or services do not achiamd maintain market acceptance,
our business will not be profitable.

The degree of acceptance of our Cryoport ExpgfeSslutions and/or Cryoport Expre8sShippers, or any future product or services, by
our current target markets, and any other marketghich we attempt to sell our products and sesyia@d our profitability and growth will
depend on a number of factors including, amongrethe

e our shipper ability to perform and preserve the integrity of timaterials shippe:
« relative convenience and ease of use of our shigapdfor Cryoportal

« availability of alternative product

e pricing and cost effectivenes

« effectiveness of our or our collaboraf sales and marketing strategy; ¢

« the adoption cycles of our targeted custorr

If any products or services we may develop do nbiewve market acceptance, then we may not gengufteient revenue to achieve or
maintain profitability.

In addition, even if our products and services ehimarket acceptance, we may not be able to nraiht@ market acceptance over ti
if new products or services are introduced thahaoee favorably received than our products andisesy are more cost effective, or render ou
products obsolete.

The product adoption cycle of our target customéesds to be very lengthy, which continues to adedysaffect our ability to increase
revenues.

We offer our solution primarily to companies in ife sciences industry. These companies operatéma heavily regulated
environment and as such, changing vendors andhdistm practices typically require a number ofpstevhich may include the audit of our
facilities, review of our procedures, qualifying asa vendor, and performing test shipments. Tioisgss can take several months or longer tc
complete prior to a company fully adopting the Grya Expres€ Solution. In addition, any such adoption may bexaadual basis such that
the customer progressively ramps up use of our @mdExpres€ Solution following adoption. The slow adoption pess continues to
adversely affect our ability to increase revenues.

We are dependent on an outside party for the conéd development of our Cryoportal

Our proprietary Cryoportal is a software systemdusg our customers and business partners to avtaimaentry of orders, prepare
customs documentation and facilitate status anatilme monitoring of shipped orders while in tran$ie continued development of this
system is contracted with an outside software agrebnt company. If this developer becomes unablmwailling to continue work on
scheduled projects, and an alternative developeratebe secured, we may not be able to implemerdatenhancements to the system.
Furthermore, if we terminate our agreement with ttéveloper and cannot reach an agreement oo failfill an agreement for the termination,
we could lose our license to use this softwarduFato proceed with enhancements or the loss oficense for the system would adversely
affect our ability to generate new business andesexisting customers, resulting in a reductiorewvenue.
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Our success depends, in part, on our ability toahtpatent protection for our products and businesedel, preserve our trade secrets,
and operate without infringing the proprietary rigis of others.

Our policy is to seek to protect our proprietargifion by, among other methods, filing United Stgtatent applications related to our
technology, inventions and improvements that aggoitant to the development of our business. We liaee issued U.S. patents and one
recently filed provisional patent application, rlating to various aspects of our products andises. Our patents or provisional patent
application may be challenged, invalidated or aimganted in the future or the rights granted maypnovide a competitive advantage. We
intend to vigorously protect and defend our inlial property. Costly and time-consuming litigatirought by us may be necessary to
enforce our patents and to protect our trade searat know-how, or to determine the enforceabitibgpe and validity of the proprietary rights
of others.

We also rely upon trade secrets, technical know-aond continuing technological innovation to devedmgl maintain our competitive
position. In the past our employees, consultamgisars and suppliers have not always executeddemtiality agreements and invention
assignment and work for hire agreements in conoreetith their employment, consulting, or advisoglationships. Consequently, we may not
have adequate remedies available to us to protedhtellectual property should one of these paréitempt to use our trade secrets or refuse
assign any rights he or she may have in any ictell¢ property he or she developed for us. Addétilyn our competitors may independently
develop substantially equivalent proprietary infation and techniques or otherwise gain accessrtproprietary technology, or we may not
be able to meaningfully protect our rights in urgpaed proprietary technology.

We cannot assure you that our current and potestiabetitors and other third parties have not f{ladin the future will not file) patent
applications for (or have not received or in theerfa will not receive) patents or obtain additiopedprietary rights that will prevent, limit or
interfere with our ability to make, use or sell guoducts either in the United States or intermetily. In the event we are required to license
patents issued to third parties, such licensesmoape available or, if available, may not be alalg on terms acceptable to us. In addition, w
cannot assure you that we would be successfulyirmsempt to redesign our products or processasda infringement or that any such
redesign could be accomplished in a cost-effectimaner. Accordingly, an adverse determinationjundécial or administrative proceeding or
failure to obtain necessary licenses could preusritom manufacturing and selling our productsféering our services, which would harm
business.

We are not aware of any third party that is infiregany of our patents or trademarks nor do weskelthat we are infringing on the
patents or trademarks of any other person or ozg#ion.

Our products may contain errors or defects, whicbuid result in damage to our reputation, lost revsss, diverted development resour
and increased service costs and litigation.

Our products must meet stringent requirements anchust develop our products quickly to keep padk thie rapidly changing market.
Products and services as sophisticated as ourd contain undetected errors or defects, espeaciddn first introduced or when new models
or versions are released. In general, our produagsnot be free from errors or defects after conaraéshipments have begun, which could
result in damage to our reputation, lost revendiegrted development resources, increased custseneice and support costs, and litigation.
The costs incurred in correcting any product eroordefects may be substantial and could adveedédygt our business, results of operations
and financial condition.

If we experience manufacturing delays or interruptis in production, then we may experience custordissatisfaction and our
reputation could suffer.

If we fail to produce enough shippers at our owmufacturing facility or at a third party manufaétg facility, or if we fail to complete
our shipper recycling processes as planned, welrmaynable to deliver shippers to our customers timely basis, which could lead to
customer dissatisfaction and could harm our rejortatnd ability to compete. We currently acquireimas component parts for our shippers
from various independent manufacturers in the Wn8&ates. We would likely experience significariagie or cessation in producing our
shippers if a labor strike, natural disaster oeogupply disruption were to occur at any of ourmsaippliers. If we are unable to procure a
component from one of our manufacturers, we magehaired to enter into arrangements with one orenadternative manufacturing
companies which may cause delays in producing luppsrs. In addition, because we depend on thirty paanufacturers, our profit margins
may be lower, which will make it more difficult fars to achieve profitability. To date, we have expperienced any material delay that has
adversely impacted our operations. As our busidesslops and the quantity of production increaiségcomes more likely that such proble
could arise.
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Because we rely on a limited number of supplierg may experience difficulty in meeting our custorsedemands for our products in a
timely manner or within budget.

We currently purchase key components of our pradiiot a variety of outside sources. Some of titeseponents may only be
available to us through a few sources, howeveragament has identified alternative materials ampléers should the need arise. We
generally do not have long-term agreements withairour suppliers. Consequently, in the event thatsuppliers delay or interrupt the supply
of components for any reason, we could potentetiyerience higher product costs and longer leaéstiim order fulfillment.

Our Cryoportal may be subject to intentional disriign that could adversely impact our reputation affigture revenues.

We have implemented our Cryoportal which is usedinycustomers and business partners to autonmaenthy of orders, prepare
customs documentation and facilitate status aratilme monitoring of shipped orders while in trangithough we believe we have sufficient
controls in place to prevent intentional disrupsipwe could be a target of cyber attacks spedyicisigned to impede the performance of the
Cryoportal. Similarly, experienced computer progmnans may attempt to penetrate our Cryoportal ieféort to search for and misappropriate
proprietary or confidential information or causeeimuptions of our services. Because the technigeed by such computer programmers to
access or sabotage networks change frequently agdat be recognized until launched against a tavgemay be unable to anticipate these
techniques. Our activities could be adversely adf@@and our reputation, brand and future sales éaiifrthese intentionally disruptive efforts
are successful.

Our products and services may expose us to liapilit excess of our current insurance coverage.

Our products and services involve significant riskfability, which may substantially exceed tlevenues we derive from them. We
cannot predict the magnitude of these potentibllitees.

We currently maintain general liability insuranegth coverage in the amount of $1 million per ogence, subject to a $2 million anni
limitation, and product liability insurance withsd million annual coverage limitation. Claims mayrhade against us that exceed these limits

Our liability policy is an “occurrence” based pglicThus, our policy is complete when we purchaseahd following cancellation of the
policy it continues to provide coverage for futataims based on conduct that took place duringtiiey term. However, our insurance may
not protect us against liability because our pediypically have various exceptions to the clabmgered and also require us to assume some
costs of the claim even though a portion of thétlmay be covered. In addition, if we expand intsvmarkets, we may not be aware of the
need for, or be able to obtain insurance coveragsuch activities or, if insurance is obtaine@, dollar amount of any liabilities incurred co
exceed our insurance coverage. A partially or cetapy uninsured claim, if successful and of sigmifit magnitude, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condiiod results of operations.

Complying with certain regulations that apply to igments using our products can limit our activitiesd increase our cost of operatior

Shipments using our products and services are &ubj@arious regulations in the countries in whiod operate. For example, shipments
using our products may be required to comply whith ghipping requirements promulgated by the Cefte@isease Control (“CDC"), the
Occupational Safety and Health Organization (“OSHAte Department of Transportation (“DOT") as waglrules established by the
International Air Transportation Association (“IATAand the International Civil Aviation Organizati¢“ICAQO”). Additionally, our data
logger may be subject to regulation and certifaaty the Food and Drug Administration (“FDA"), Feedl Communications Commission
(“FCC"), and Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA"We will need to ensure that our products andises comply with relevant rules and
regulations to make our products and services nenles and in some cases compliance is difficuttetermine. Significant changes in such
regulations could require costly changes to oudpets and services or prevent use of our shipperarf extended period of time while we s
to comply with changed regulations. If we are urablcomply with any of these rule or regulationsadl to obtain any required approvals, «
ability to market our products and services masdbeersely affected. In addition, even if we areeablcomply with these rules and regulati
compliance can result in increased costs. In eghient, our financial results and condition mayabeersely affected. We depend on our
business partners and unrelated and frequentlyawwkithird party agents in foreign countries to@ttour behalf to complete the importation
process and to make delivery of our shippers tditta user. The failure of these third partiepeaform their duties could result in damage to
the contents of the shipper resulting in custonmsadisfaction or liability to us, even if we aretrat fault.
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If we cannot compete effectively, we will lose mess.

Our products, services and solutions are positidode competitive in the cold-chain logistics netrkVhile there are technological and
marketing barriers to entry, we cannot guarantaettie barriers we are capable of producing wilsb#icient to defend the market share we
wish to gain against current and future competitGusr principal competitive considerations in owariet include:

» financial resources to allocate to proper markesind an appropriate sales effort;

» acceptance of our solutions business model;

» acceptance of our services including per use feetstres;

« keeping up technologically with ongoing developmeinénhanced features and benefits
« reductions in the manufacturing cost of competitpreducts;

» the ability to develop and maintain and expandithistion channels;

» establishing our brand name;

« our ability to deliver our products to our customaten requested;

« our timing of introductions of new solutions, pratiuand services; and

« financial resources to support working capital rseaald required capital investments.

Current and prospective competitors have substingieeater resources, more customers, longer tipgrhistories, greater name
recognition and more established relationshipgénimdustry. As a result, these competitors magtite to develop and expand their networks
and product offerings more quickly, devote greatspurces to the marketing and sale of their prisdared adopt more aggressive pricing
policies. In addition, these competitors have eaemnd will likely continue to enter into businesktionships to provide additional products
competitive to those we provide or plan to provide.

We may not be able to compete with our competitarthe industry because many of them have greatesaurces than we do.

We expect to continue to experience significantianteasing levels of competition in the futureaktdition, there may be other
companies which are currently developing competifivoducts and services or which may in the futieneelop technologies and products that
are comparable, superior or less costly than our. &@r example, some cryogenic equipment manufagwrith greater resources currently
have solutions for storing and transporting cryegéguid and gasses and may develop storage sakithat compete with our products.
Additionally, some specialty couriers with greatesources currently provide dry ice transportatind may develop other products in the
future, both of which compete with our productscdmpetitor that has greater resources than us maplie to bring its product to market fa
than we can and offer its product at a lower piti@n us to establish market share. We may not leetalsuccessfully compete with a
competitor that has greater resources and suchetdiop may adversely affect our business.

Risks Relating to Our Current Financing Arrangements
Certain of our existing stockholders own and haveetright to acquire a substantial number of shareEcommon stock.

As of June 17, 2013, our directors, executive efficand beneficial owners of 5% or more of ourtaniding common stock beneficially
owned 9,365,085 shares of common stock (withowtnketp beneficial ownership limitations containadéertain warrants) assuming their
exercise of all outstanding warrants, options gragimately 20.1% of our outstanding common st@2kthese shares of common stock,
2,857,139 shares, or approximately 7.0% of our comstock, will be beneficially owned by CNH PartmerL C, and 2,500,428 shares, or
approximately 6.2% of our outstanding common stadk,be beneficially owned by Emergent Financiab@p (each calculated without regard
to the shares of common stock that may be acqbiyetle other upon the exercise of its warrantsamersion of debt). As such, the
concentration of beneficial ownership of our commstock may have the effect of delaying or preventirchange in control of Cryoport and
may adversely affect the voting or other right®tbfer holders of our common stock.

Our stock and warrant price is and will continue toe volatile.

The market price of our common stock has beenaodg with the warrants is likely to be, highly &btle and could fluctuate widely in
price in response to various factors, many of wlaighbeyond our control, including, but not limited

« technological innovations or new products and ses/by us or our competitol



additions or departures of key personi
sales of our common stoc
our ability to integrate operations, technologydwrcts and service

our ability to execute our business pl
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e operating results below expectatio

« loss of any strategic relationsh

e industry development:

« economic and other external factors;

e perioc-to-period fluctuations in our financial resul

You may consider any one of these factors to benmaht The price of our common stock and warrary ftuctuate widely as a result of
any of the above listed factors. In addition, thewities markets have from time to time experidrggnificant price and volume fluctuations
that are unrelated to the operating performangeadfcular companies. These market fluctuations aeleg materially and adversely affect the
market price of our common stock and warrants.

If equity research analysts do not publish researmhreports about our business or if they issue ambrable commentary or downgrade
our common stock and warrants, the price of our coman stock and warrants could decline.

The trading market for our common stock and wagaglies in part on the research and reports thatyeresearch analysts publish ak
us and our business. We do not control these asallise price of our common stock and warrantsccdekline if one or more equity analyst
downgrades our stock or if analysts issue otheavorfible commentary or cease publishing reportataimor our business.

We have not paid dividends on our common stocktia past and do not expect to pay dividends in the$eeable future. Any return on
investment may be limited to the value of our commgiock.

We have never paid cash dividends on our commark stod do not anticipate paying cash dividendéénforeseeable future. The
payment of dividends on our common stock will depen our earnings, financial condition and othesibess and economic factors affecting
us at such time as the Board of Directors may danthe payment of any such dividends. If we dopagt dividends, our common stock may
be less valuable because a return on your investwionly occur if the price of our common stoakpreciates.

We need additional capital, and the sale of addiié shares of common stock or other equity secesticould result in additional dilution
to our stockholders.

Our current cash and cash equivalents and antzpztsh flow from operations are insufficient toetngur cash needs. We require
additional cash resources to fund our operatiodsnaaty require additional funds in the future duehanged business conditions or other ft
developments, including any investments or acqarstwe may decide to pursue. The sale of additieqaity securities, or debt securities
convertible into equity securities, could resultatditional dilution to our stockholders. The inamce of indebtedness would result in incre
debt service obligations and could result in opegaand financing covenants that would restrict aperations.

Our Articles of Incorporation allows our Board of Dectors to issue up to 2,500,000 shares of “blagtieck” preferred stock.

Our Articles of Incorporation allows our Board ofr&ctors to issue up to 2,500,000 shares of “blavdck” preferred stock, without
action by our stockholders. Such shares of praedesteck may be issued on terms determined by oardof Directors, and may have rights,
privileges and preferences superior to those otoarmon stock. Without limiting the foregoing, ¢iich shares of preferred stock could have
liquidation rights that are senior to the liquidatipreference applicable to our common stocks(igh shares of preferred stock could have
voting or conversion rights, which could adversafiect the voting power of the holders of our conmstock and (iii) the ownership interesi
holders of our common stock will be diluted follawgithe issuance of any such shares of preferrett.diwaddition the issuance of such share
of blank check preferred stock could have the éidédiscouraging, delaying or preventing a chaofjeontrol of our Company.

Provisions in our bylaws and Nevada law might discage, delay or prevent a change of control of cddompany or changes in our
management and, as a result, may depress the trggtirice of our common stock.

Provisions of our bylaws and Nevada law may disager delay or prevent a merger, acquisition orrathange in control that
stockholders may consider favorable, includinggeamions in which you might otherwise receive arpuen for your shares of our common
stock. The relevant bylaw provisions may also pnéwe frustrate attempts by our stockholders tdapor remove our management. These
provisions include advance notice requirementstockholder proposals and nominations, and thébil our Board of Directors to make,
alter or repeal our bylaws.

Absent approval of our Board of Directors, our ldamay only be amended or repealed by the affirraatdte of the holders of at leas
majority of our outstanding shares of capital stenkitled to vote.
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In addition, Section 78.438 of the Nevada Revis@dues prohibits a publicly-held Nevada corporafimm engaging in a business
combination with an interested stockholder (gemgdgfined as a person which together with itsliatiés owns, or within the last three years
has owned, 10% of our voting stock, for a periothoée years after the date of the transactionhichvthe person became an interested
stockholder) unless the business combination iscagl in a prescribed manner.

The existence of the foregoing provisions and offugéential antitakeover measures could limit the price that inmessimight be willing t
pay in the future for shares of our common stodleylcould also deter potential acquirers of our Gany, thereby reducing the likelihood that
you could receive a premium for your common stec&n acquisition

Even though we are not incorporated in Californisje may become subject to a number of provisionthefCalifornia General
Corporation Law.

Section 2115(b) of the California Corporations Cadposes certain requirements of California corfelaw on corporations organized
outside California that, in general, are doing ntbigmn 50% of their business in California and hanee than 50% of their outstanding voting
securities held of record by persons residing ilif@aia. While we are not currently subject to Sew 2115(b), we may become subject to it ir
the future.

The following summarizes some of the principal @liéinces which would apply if we become subjectactisn 2115(b).

Under both Nevada and California law, cumulativéngfor the election of directors is permitted.wver, under Nevada law
cumulative voting must be expressly authorizechaArticles of Incorporation and our Amended andtRied Articles of Incorporation do not
authorize cumulative voting. If we become subjecBéction 2115(b), we may be required to permituative voting if any stockholder
properly requests to cumulate his or her votes.

Under Nevada law, directors may be removed by tinekbolders only by the vote of two-thirds of thatimg power of the issued and
outstanding stock entitled to vote. However, Catifa law permits the removal of directors by théevof only a majority of the outstanding
shares entitled to vote. If we become subject wi®@e2115(b), the removal of a director may beoagglished by a majority vote, rather than a
vote of two-thirds, of the stockholders entitledstie.

Under California law, the corporation must taketaiersteps to be allowed to provide for greateemdification of its officers and
directors than is provided in the California Cogtayn Code. If we become subject to Section 211%(m) ability to indemnify our officers and
directors, to the extent permitted in our Artictddncorporation, Bylaws and under Nevada law, rhayimited by California law.

Nevada law permits distributions to stockholderfoag as, after the distribution, (i) the corposativould be able to pay its debts as the!
become due and (ii) the corporation’s total asaetsat least equal to its liabilities and prefaedmtissolution obligations. Under California law,
distributions may be made to stockholders as l@tha corporation would be able to pay its debtheg mature and either (i) the corporat®n’
retained earnings equals or exceeds the amouhégirbposed distributions, or (ii) after the distitions, the corporatios’tangible assets are
least 125% of its liabilities and the corporatioalsrent assets are at least equal to its curiaitifies (or, 125% of its current liabilities ilfie
corporation’s average operating income for the twast recently completed fiscal years was less thamverage of the interest expense of the
corporation for those fiscal years). If we becomijact to Section 2115(b), we will have to satisfgre stringent financial requirements to be
able to pay dividends to our stockholders. Addaity) stockholders may be liable to the corporatfame pay dividends in violation of
California law.

California law permits a corporation to provide psumajority vote” provisions in its Articles of lagporation, which would require
specific actions to obtain greater than a majaftthe votes, but not more than %B3percent. Nevada law does not permit supermajodtg v

provisions. If we become subject to Section 2115¢l$ possible that our stockholders would vateamend our Articles of Incorporation and
require a supermajority vote for us to take spedifitions.
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Under California law, in a disposition of substaliyi of all the corporation’s assets, if the acmgrparty is in control of or under
common control with the disposing corporation, phiacipal terms of the sale must be approved bp&@ent of the stockholders. Although
Nevada law does contain certain rules governirgrésted stockholder business combinations, it doesequire similar stockholder approv
If we become subject to Section 2115(b), we mayehawbtain the vote of a greater percentage os$tiekholders to approve a sale of our
assets to a party that is in control of, or unaenmon control with, us.

California law places certain additional approvghts in connection with a merger if all of the stmof each class or series of a
corporation are not treated equally or if the sting or parent party to a merger represents mare 89 percent of the voting power of the o
corporation prior to the merger. Nevada law doggeqguire such approval. If we become subject e 2115(b), we may have to obtain a
the vote of a greater percentage of the stockheleapprove a merger that treats shares of a ataszies differently or where a surviving or
parent party to the merger represents more thandQbe voting power of the other corporation ptiothe merger.

California law requires the vote of each classpprave a reorganization or a conversion of a cafimm into another entity. Nevada law
does not require a separate vote for each clag® fecome subject to Section 2115(b), we may tmwbtain the approval of each class if we
desire to reorganize or convert into another tyfpentity.

California law provides greater dissenters’ rigiotstockholders than Nevada law. If we become stlbjeSection 2115(b), more
stockholders may be entitled to dissenters’ rightsich may limit our ability to merge with anothemtity or reorganize.

Our stock is deemed to be penny stock.

Our stock is currently traded on the OTCQB, opardethe OTC Markets Group, Inc., and is subjet¢h&o“penny stock rules” adopted
pursuant to Section 15(g) of the Securities Exckahgt of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). péeny stock rules apply to companies
not listed on a national exchange whose commork $tades at less than $5.00 per share or which fzenggble net worth of less than
$5,000,000 ($2,000,000 if the company has beeratipgrfor three or more years). Such rules reqaineong other things, that brokers who
trade “penny stock” to persons other than “esthbliscustomers” complete certain documentation, reakability inquiries of investors and
provide investors with certain information conceirading in the security, including a risk disaloe document and quote information under
certain circumstances. Penny stocks sold in vimtadif the applicable rules may entitle the buyethefstock to rescind the sale and receive a
full refund from the broker.

Many brokers have decided not to trade “penny Stbekause of the requirements of the penny stolesrand, as a result, the number o
broker-dealers willing to act as market makersuichssecurities is limited. In the event that we aemsubject to the “penny stock rules” for any
significant period, there may develop an adverggathon the market, if any, for our securities. &es® our securities are subject to the “penn
stock rules,” investors will find it more difficuto dispose of our securities. Further, for comganvhose securities are traded in the OTC
Bulletin Board, it is more difficult: (i) to obtaiaccurate quotations, (ii) to obtain coverage fgnisicant news events because major wire
services, such as the Dow Jones News Service,aBneo not publish press releases about such coiepaand (iii) to obtain needed capital.

If we fail to maintain effective internal control®ver financial reporting, the price of our commonack may be adversely affected.

Our internal controls over financial reporting nfegve weaknesses and conditions that could reqaireation or remediation, the
disclosure of which may have an adverse impacherptice of our common stock. We are required tabdish and maintain appropriate
internal controls over financial reporting. Faildoeestablish those controls (or any failure ofsthaontrols once established) could adversely
impact our public disclosures regarding our businésancial condition or results of operationsatidition, management’'s assessment of
internal controls over financial reporting may iti§nweaknesses and conditions that need to beeaddd in our internal controls over finan
reporting or other matters that may raise concemnmvestors. Any actual or perceived weaknessescanditions that need to be addressed ir
our internal control over financial reporting aridaosure of management’s assessment of our inteonérols over financial reporting may
have an adverse impact on the price of our comrtaok s

Standards for compliance with Section 404 of therlSanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are uncertain, and if wadlfto comply in a timely manner,
our business could be harmed and our stock priceldodecline.

Rules adopted by the SEC pursuant to Section 4€fedbarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 require an annssgssment of our internal
controls over financial reporting. The standards thust be met for management to assess the ihtenmizols over financial reporting as
effective are evolving and complex, and requiraigicant documentation, testing, and possible reatesh to meet the detailed standards. We
expect to continue to incur significant expenseastardevote resources to continued Section 404 ktange on an ongoing basis. It is difficult
for us to predict how long it will take or how clysit will be to complete the assessment of theetff’eness of our internal controls over
financial reporting and to remediate any deficieadn our internal controls. As a result, we mai/b®able to complete the assessment and
remediation process on a timely basis. In the etrattour Chief Executive Officer or Chief Finaridficer determine that our internal
controls over financial reporting are not effectagdefined under Section 404, we cannot predistiegulators will react or how the market
price of our common stock will be affected; howewee believe that there is a risk that investorfickamce and share value may be negatively
impacted.
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If we fail to remain current in our reporting requiements, our securities could be removed from thE@Bulletin Board, which would
limit the ability of broker-dealers to sell our sagties and the ability of stockholders to sell theecurities in the secondary market.

Companies trading on the OTCQB must be reportisigeiss under Section 12 of the Exchange Act, and bausurrent in their reports
under Section 13, in order to maintain price quoteprivileges on the OTC Bulletin Board. If welftd remain current on our reporting
requirements, we could be removed from the OTCeBinlIBoard. As a result, the market liquidity farrsecurities could be severely adversel
affected by limiting the ability of broker-dealdrssell our securities and the ability of stockteskito sell their securities in the secondary
market.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We do not own real property. We currently lease tawilities, with approximately 12,000 square fettorporate, research and
development, and warehouse facilities, locatedakelForest, California (“Lake Forest Facility”) aapproximately 4,100 square feet of
corporate offices located in San Diego, Califorigan Diego Facility”). In June 2010, the Compamyeged into a third amendment to the
Lake Forest Facility lease and extended the leassiXty months commencing July 1, 2010 with a righcancel the lease with a minimum of
120 day written notice at any time after Decemtgr2®12. On November 28, 2011, the Company eniated lease agreement for the
corporate offices in San Diego for a thirty six rfoperiod ending December 31, 2014.

The Company currently makes base lease paymeafspobximately $17,000 per month, due at the beg@mof each month. We believe
that these facilities are adequate, suitable arsdiffitient capacity to support our immediate neddklitional space may be required, however
as we expand our research and development, mautifacand selling and marketing activities.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, we are at tisnegect to various legal proceedings and dispirieljding product liability claims. W
currently are not aware of any such legal procagdor claim that we believe will have, individuadly in the aggregate, a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results or clsbsf It is our practice to accrue for open clalmased on our historical experience and
available insurance coverage.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDERS ' MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

(a) Market InformationPresently, our common stock is quoted on the OTGpBrated by the OTC Markets Group, Inc. under the
symbol CYRX. On June 17, 2013, the last reportéel @our common stock was $0.24. The followindeaghows the high and low sales price
of our common stock for the two fiscal years entfiedich 31, 2013 and 2012.

Common Stock

Sales Price
High Low

Fiscal Year 2013

Quarter Ended March 31, 20 $ 061 $ 0.3¢
Quarter Ended December 31, 2( $ 0.3¢ $ 0.11
Quarter Ended September 30, 2! $ 051 $ 0.1¢
Quarter Ended June 30, 20 $ 0.7C $ 0.37
Fiscal Year 2012

Quarter Ended March 31, 20 $ 0.9C $ 0.6(
Quarter Ended December 31, 2( $ 124 $ 0.6t
Quarter Ended September 30, 2! $ 172 $ 0.9¢
Quarter Ended June 30, 20 $ 1.6C $ 0.8t

(b) Holders.As of June 17, 2013, the number of stockholdergadrd of the Company’s common stock was 146.

(c) Dividends.No dividends on common stock have been declargaidrby the Company. The Company intends to emallogvailable
funds for the development of its business and, raléiegly, does not intend to pay any cash dividendbe foreseeable future.

(d) Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity @ensationThe information included under Item 12 of Partdilthis Annual
Report is hereby incorporated by reference ints itieim 5 of Part Il of this Annual Report.

(e) Recent Sale of Unregistered Securiti@e following is a summary of transactions by @wnpany during period covered by this
report involving the issuance and sale of the Camisasecurities that were not registered undeiStheurities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”) and that have not previously bé&sriuded in a Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q oai@urrent Report on Form 8-K. All
securities sold by the Company were sold to indigld, trusts or others who were accredited invesisrdefined under Regulation D under the
Securities Act, as amended.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Compassuied to certain accredited investors unsecuredecine promissory notes (the
“Bridge Notes”) in the original principal amount $1,294,500. The Bridge Notes accrue interestrateaof 15% per annum from date of
issuance until January 31, 2013 and at a rate gb&annum from February 1, 2013 through the dipawpment, in each case on a non-
compounding basis. All principal and interest unither Bridge Notes will be due on December 31, 2018e event the Company designated
and issued preferred stock while the Bridge Notesewutstanding, the Bridge Notes were convertititeshares of such preferred stock at a
conversion rate equal to the price per share peaiidet Company in connection with the issuance ofi gueferred stock at the option of the
holder of the Bridge Notes.

Effective on April 19, 2013, the Company amendesiBnidge Notes whereby in the event that the Comjesues one or more types of
equity securities (a “Transaction”) before the miapof the Bridge Notes, the holder may elect émert all or a portion of the principal and
accrued interest into shares of such equity séesiigsued in a Transaction at a conversion rataleéq the price per share paid to the Comg
in connection with the issuances. The Companyguired to notify the holder of a Transaction withid days of each Transaction and the
holder has the option until the later of (a) te@)(days after such notices or (b) December 15, 20E8ect in writing to convert.

In April 2012, the Company issued a warrant to pase 30,000 shares of the Company’s common stak exercise price of $0.50 per
share to a consultant for services rendered t€tmpany.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial data has beenvaerirom audited consolidated financial statemehthe Company for each of the five
years in the period ended March 31, 2013. Thesetsal financial summaries should be read in comipmevith the financial informatio
contained for each of the two years in the periodee March 31, 2013, included in the consolidaieaiftial statements and notes thereto,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Resul®mérations and Financial Condition, and other mfation provided elsewhere herein.

Years Ended March 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009
Consolidated Statement of Operations Datz
Revenue: $ 1,101 $ 55¢ $ 47¢ 3 11€  $ 35
Cost of revenue 1,58¢ 1,39: 1,30z 71¢ 54€
Gross los: (487) (83¢€) (827) (600) (511
Selling, general and administrati 5,412 6,10¢ 4,321 3,31z 2,381
Research and developmt 42t 492 44¢ 284 297
Total operating expens 5,83i 6,59¢ 4,77( 3,591 2,68¢
Loss from operation (6,329 (7,439 (5,599 (4,19%) (3,199
Other (expense) incom
Interest incom - 12 16 8 32
Interest expens (72 (528 (619) (7,029 (2,699
Loss on sale of fixed ass¢ — — — 9 —
Loss on extinguishment of de — — — — (10,84°)
Change in fair value of derivative liabilitir 16 11¢ 50 5,57 —
Net loss before income tax (6,380 (7,837 (6,150 (5,650 (16,709
Income taxe: 2 2 2 2 2
Net loss $ (6,38) $ (7,83) $ (6,15) $ (5,657 $ (16,70Y
Net loss per common share, basic and dil $ 0.17) $ 0.27) $ (0.46) $ (1.19) $ (4.05)
Weighted average shares used in computing nepkrssommon shart
basic and dilute 37,76: 28,97* 13,30: 5,011 4,12¢

As of March 31,
(in thousands)

2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date

Cash, cash equivaler $ 56 $ 4618 $ 927¢ $ 3,63( $ 25C
Working capital (deficit (1,539 4,02¢ 6,76( 1,99¢ (3,697%)
Total asset 1,75¢ 6,21« 11,03: 4,777 1,57
Convertible notes and accrued interest, 1,30¢ 33¢ 2,401 2,50z 3,88:
Other lon¢-term obligation: 1,322 1,37¢ 1,42: 1,47¢ 1,601
Accumulated defici (66,31 (59,929 (52,09¢) (45,94 (30,639)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) (2,069 3,73( 5,94¢ (915) (4,77¢
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwarddimg statements that have been made pursuang fardéivisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 and conceratters that involve risks and uncertainties tioatld cause actual results to differ
materially from those projected in the forward-loakstatements. Discussions containing forward-loglstatements may be found in the
material set forth under “Business,” “ManagemeBbtiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &ebults of Operations” and in other
sections of this Form 10-K. Words such as “mayi,flliiv‘should,” “could,” “expect,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,” “predict,”
“potential,” “continue” or similar words are inteed to identify forward-looking statements, althougt all forwardlooking statements conte
these words. Although we believe that our opiniand expectations reflected in the forward-lookiteyesments are reasonable as of the date «
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we cannot guarafiture results, levels of activity, performancechievements, and our actual results
may differ substantially from the views and expgots set forth in this Annual Report on Form 10We expressly disclaim any intent or
obligation to update any forward-looking statemeiter the date hereof to conform such statemerastual results or to changes in our
opinions or expectations. Readers are urged tdutlreeview and consider the various disclosuregimby us, which attempt to advise
interested parties of the risks, uncertainties, @hdr factors that affect our business, set fortetail in Item 1A of Part I, under the heading
“Risk Factors.”

The following discussion and analysis should bel ieaconjunction with our consolidated financiatstments and the related notes to
those statements contained elsewhere in this AriRebrt on Form 10-K.

General Overview

We provide leading edge frozen shipping logistimsitsons to the biotechnology and life science stdes. Since 2008, through the
combination of purpose-built proprietary hardwane aoftware technologies and logistics knowhow km@s “total turnkey management” we
have provided total logistics management to théeblmology and life sciences industries. Our sohgiare disruptive to “old technologies”
and provide reliable, economic alternatives toentty existing products and services utilized fozé&n shipping in biotechnology and life
sciences including stem cells, cell lines, vaccidégnostic materials, semen and embryos fortimp-¥ertilization, cord blood, bio-
pharmaceuticals, infectious substances and o#masithat require continuous exposure to frozemyargenic temperatures. In addition, our
solutions can contribute to the reliability, eféacy, and effectiveness of clinical trials.

Cryoport Expres® Solutions include a cloud-based logistics managésmitware branded as the Cryopoftdl. The Cryoportal
supports the management of the entire shipmenepsatirough a single interface which includesaharder input, document preparation,
customs clearance, courier management, shipmekiricg issue resolution, and delivery. Cryoportitat turnkey logistics solutions offer
reliability, cost effectiveness, and convenienchilevthe use of recyclable and reusable compon@ntigdes “green”, environmentally friendly
solutions. The Cryoportal provides an array of umignformation dashboards and validation documiamtdor each and every shipment.

Integral to our logistics solutions are the Cryagaquid Nitrogen Dry Vapor Shippers (Cryoport Ergs® Shippers) which are cost-
effective and reusable cryogenic transport contaifatented vacuum flasks) utilizing innovativauiid nitrogen (LN2) “dry vapor”
technology. Cryoport Expre&§sShippers are non-hazardous, IATA (International ansport Association) certified, and validatedriaintain
stable temperatures below minus 150° Celsius fdl-plus day dynamic shipment period. The Compamseatly features two Cryoport
Expres<® Shipper models, the Standard Dry Shipper (holdimgpuapproximately 75-2.0 ml vials) and the Highlivoe Dry Shipper (holding
up to approximately 500-2.0 ml vials).

Cryoport Expres® Solutions include recording and retaining a fulbcdmented “chain-of-custody” and, at the cliengsion, “chain-of-
condition” for every shipment, helping ensure thadlity, safety, efficacy, and stability of shippemhmmodities are maintained. This recorded
and archived information allows our customers t@hntlee exacting requirements necessary for sciemirk and for regulatory purposes.
Cryoport Expres® Solutions can be used by customers, as a “turngelyition, through direct access to the cloud-b&gwportal, or by
contacting Cryoport client Care for order entrjk@a<Cryoport provides 24/7/365 logistics servidastigh its Client Care team and also
provides complete training and process manageneevitss to support each client’s specific requiretse

Since 2010, Cryoport Expre8sSolutions have been the Companptincipal focus for development and commerciiiwa During fisca
year 2013, the Company approach to the market djastad to a solutions orientation and it exparitkedervice offering to address spec
market needs in the biotechnology and life sciéndastries. As a solutions provider, Cryoport telérozen logistics solutions to client
requirements. In addition to custom solutions,Gloenpany’s primary customer facing solutions offgsrare as follows:

*  Cryoport Express ® Solution
The fully outsourced turnkey logistics solution ciésed herein.

e Customer-Staged Solution
Cryoport ships an inventory of Cryoport Expr&sShippers to the customer (uncharged and in buliplérg the customer to
charge the shippers at their facility, processrtbeders through the Cryoportal which permits CigndiClient Care to oversee

the each shipment and the return the shippersytop®Ort for cleaning, testing and refurbishing. Gygd Client Care provides
the 24/7/365 logistics services utilizing its Crgofal logistics platform
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e Customer-Managed Solution

Cryoport ships a fully charged Cryoport Expréshipper(s) to the customer enabling the custometilize its internal
expertise to manage all or a portion of the logssiervices. As with the above solutions, the shippre returned to Cryoport
for cleaning, testing and refurbishing within a-pietermined time period.

e Customer Integrated Logistics

The Cryoport logistics team provides a tailored aiidrange of logistics support solutions. In atlsh to tailoring a
management solution, the robust, enterprise gragepOrtal is used to provide complete logistics/gxs while enabling the

customer to utilize their own packaging solution€oyoport Expres® Shippers. Cryoport can provide onsite logistics
personnel allowing the customer to fully outsoutwsr cold chain logistics needs to Cryoport ancufoon its core
competencies.

» Distribution Partnerships

“Powered by Cryoport” is an important partnershiagements with integrators, freight forwarderd ather logistics
providers, enabling partners to expand their sohstioffering by adding the total Cryoport Expr@shipper solution to their
customer offering.

We offer our solutions to companies in the biotetbgy and life sciences industries and specifitgizals including manufacturers of

stem cells and cell lines, diagnostic laboratots;pharmaceuticals, in-vitro fertilization, caotbod, vaccines, tissue, animal husbandry, and
other producers of commodities requiring relialobzén solutions for logistics problems.
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These companies operate within heavily regulatett@mments and as such, changing vendors andhliish practices typically
require a number of steps, which may include thditand our facilities, review of our procedures aljfying us as a vendor, and performing test
shipments. This process can take up to nine tdesgghmonths or longer to complete prior to a piéntistomer adopting Cryoport Expréss
Solutions.

Going Concern

As reported in the Report of Independent RegistBrgalic Accounting Firm to our March 31, 2013 arid 2 consolidated financial
statements, we have incurred recurring losses agdtive cash flows from operations since incepfidrese factors, among others, raise
substantial doubt about our ability to continuaaging concern.

There are significant uncertainties, which may tiggly affect our operations. These are principaliiated to (i) the expected ramp ug
revenues of Cryoport Expre8sSolutions, (ii) the lack of firm purchasing comménts from our customers due to the on-demand nafwer
business, (iii) the success in bringing additiqgmralducts to market in response to customer demands(iv) risks associated with scaling
company operations to meet demand. Moreover, ibere assurance as to when, if ever, we will be &blconduct our operations on a
profitable basis. Our limited historical revenuesdur reusable product, limited revenues to datsio Cryoport Expres8 Solutions and the
lack of any purchase requirements in our exististribution agreements, make it difficult to idéptany trends in our business prospects.

While we increased revenue year-over-year by 98%d.th million for the fiscal year ended March 3@13, our revenue is still
significantly lower than our operating expensedrauthe year and we have no assurance of the éé\fature revenues. We incurred a net loss
of $6.4 million and used cash of $4.8 million irr @perating activities during the year ended Ma&th2013. We had negative working capital
of $1.5 million, and had cash and cash equivaleh$9.6 million at March 31, 2013.

We currently fund our operations through shertn bridge financing (see Note 8 of the noteh&odonsolidated financial statements)
plan to raise additional funds through an equifenirfig to cover general working capital needs aldssand marketing initiatives to expand ou
customer base and increase sales. There is n@assuthat funds can be secured or if these fundédvadlow us to continue our operations
until more significant revenues can be generatadare funding can be secured. These matters naistantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periodsigaded, certain information derived from our coidated statements of operations.

2013 2012

(‘000) (‘000)
Revenue: $ 1,101 $ 55€
Cost of revenues 1,58¢ 1,39:
Gross lost (487) (83¢€)
Operating expense
Selling, general and administrati 5,412 6,10¢
Research and development 42F 49z
Total operating expenses 5,83 6,59¢
Loss from operation (6,329 (7,439
Other income (expense
Interest incom - 12
Interest expens (72) (52¢)
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities 1€ 11¢
Total other expense, net (5€) (397)
Loss before income taxi (6,380 (7,83))
Income taxes 2 2
Net loss $ (6,382 $ (7,839
Net loss available to common stockholders per comsiare
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ (0.17) $ (0.29)
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2013 2012
(‘'000) (‘'000)

Weighted average common shares outstan
Basic and diluted 37,76 28,97¢

Years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012:

RevenuesRevenues were $1,100,539 for the year ended MarcRA013, as compared to $555,637 for the yeagdeMhrch 31, 2012.
The $544,902 or 98.1% increase is primarily drilegran increase in the number of customers utilizagservices as well as an increase in
volume of certain customers compared to the pr@ryWe generated revenues from customers in alliofarget life sciences markets, suc
biotech and diagnostic companies, pharmaceuticapenies, central laboratories, contract researganizations, the reproductive medicine
market/in vitro fertilization market, and reseanaktitutions. Five customers generated in exce§56f000 in revenues during fiscal 2013
compared to only two customers in the prior yedie Mumber of customers that shipped multiple tichethg the year more than doubled,
compared the prior year. The increase in reversipartially the result of positive responses tgesed telemarketing activities and email
marketing campaigns to the in-vitro-fertilizatioggroductive medicine market to broaden the awaseoiesur solution in this space. In
addition, the increase in revenues was also dymrin to the commencement of the implementationuoffirst customer integrated solution in
February of 2013, whereby we were engaged to mastagenents of a specific vaccine from the manuféagusite in the United States to bc
domestic customers and international distributienters.

Gross loss and cost of revenuésross loss for the year ended March 31, 20134486 of revenues, or $487,284, as compared to 1519
of revenues, or $836,823, for the prior year. @bsevenues for the year ended March 31, 2013 wd$%6lof revenues, or $1,587,823 as
compared to 251% of revenues, or $1,392,460, foptior year. Our cost of revenues are primarilmpased of freight charges, payroll and
related expenses related to our operations cantealifornia, third-party charges for our Europeaml Asian operations centers in Holland anc
Singapore, depreciation expenses of our CryopqgutdSs® Shippers and supplies and consumables aisedrfsolutions. The increase in cost
of revenues is primarily due to freight chargesrfrilie growth in shipments. The cost of revenueseded revenues due to fixed costs and
plant underutilization.

Selling, general and administrative expens8eglling, general and administrative expenses %8r411,728 for the year ended March 31
2013, as compared to $6,106,006 for the prior yHze.$694,278 decrease reflects the decrease sultiog expenses, headcount, in particulal
a temporary decrease in the sales and marketiraytdegnt due to the replacement of certain salegseptatives, and the resignation of our
Chief Executive Officer in April 2012, who was nefplaced until November 2012, partly offset by ktbased compensation expenses for
stock option grants issued to three members o€tivepany’s board of directors as compensation feir gervices as members of the Office of
the Chief Executive Officer during that interim joet.

Research and development expensssearch and development expenses were $425¢ddtfyear ended March 31, 2013, as
compared to $491,849 for the prior year. Our redeand development efforts are focused on contipiraproving the features of the Cryop
Expres<® Solution, with the primary focus on further expamglthe capabilities of our cloud-based logisticshagement platform, the
Cryoportal™ . We use an outside software development compapyoigde these services.

Interest expenselnterest expense was $72,861 for the year endiedivB1, 2013, as compared to $527,753 for the pear. Interest
expense for the year ended March 31, 2013 inclustated interest expense on the convertible deb1®f018, amortization of the debt
discount and deferred financing costs of $17,5hd,accrued interest on our related party notestpeyat $42,216. Interest expense for the
prior 2012 included the value on warrants issuezbtovertible debt holders of $156,999, stated @seexpense on the convertible debt of
$122,824, amortization of the debt discount of $293, and accrued interest on our related partysheayable of $48,036.

Interest income Interest income was zero for the year ended Maigi2013 as compared to $11,940 for the prior.year

Change in fair value of derivative liabilitiesThe gain on the change in fair value of derivatiabilities was $16,486 for the year ended
March 31, 2013, compared to a gain of $119,163Herprior year. The gain for the year ended Marthi2B13 was the result of a decrease in
the value of our warrant derivatives, due primatilya decrease in our stock price.

Net loss As a result of the factors described above, ot for the year ended March 31, 2013 decreasé&d 4%0,495 to $6,382,433 or
($0.17) per share compared to a net loss of $9282r ($0.27) per share for the prior year. Therekese of net loss per share compared to th
prior year is a result of the decrease in the ot s described above and the increase in thétedigverage common shares outstanding fro
29.0 million to 37.8 million. This increase is panily due to common stock issued in connection withCompany’s private placements late ir
fiscal 2012,

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2013, the Company had cash and egsivalents of $563,104 and negative working ehpit $1,539,103. As of
March 31, 2012, the Company had cash and cashaqots of $4,617,535 and working capital of $4,028, Historically, we have financed
our operations primarily through sales of our daid equity securities. From March 2005 through M&@13, we have received net proceeds
of approximately $34.1 million from sales of ounmmon stock and the issuance of promissory notesants and debt.
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For the year ended March 31, 2013, we used $4,Z8%flcash for operations primarily as a resuthefnet loss of $6,382,433 including
non-cash expenses of $693,180 for the fair valustark options and warrants. Net operating loseesedised as a result of a decrease in
headcount. Offsetting the cash impact of our netajng loss (excluding non-cash items) was areams® in accounts payable and accrued
expenses of $443,562. Net cash used in operattivities also was offset by $2,525 for other workicapital uses.

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $&88,during the year ended March 31, 2013, and vabwable to the purchase of
property and equipment of $156,200 and the purcbBseangible assets of $22,482.

Net cash provided by financing activities total@®$,395 during the year ended March 31, 2013, esdlted primarily from net
proceeds received from issuance of convertible debng the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013 in thecamt of $1,294,500. This was patrtially
offset by the payment of financing costs of $206,3@payment of related party notes of $96,000rapdyment of convertible debt of $82,8

As discussed in Note 1 of the accompanying conatdiifinancial statements, there exists substaidiabt regarding the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. As discdsggove, the Company completed a private placeinéviarch of 2012 and received proce
from issuance of convertible debt as bridge finagdn the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013. The fumdised are being used for working capital
purposes and to continue our sales efforts to advtre Company’s commercialization of the Cryofioqpress® Solutions. As discussed in
Note 16 of the accompanying audited consolidateahitial statements, the Company issued additioredaured convertible promissory na
in principal amount of $608,751 in the first quatéfiscal 2014. However, the Compasyhanagement recognizes that the Company will
to obtain additional capital to fund its operati@msl until sustained profitable operations areeaad. Management is currently working on
such funding alternatives in order to secure sigfficoperating capital through the end of fiscadry2014. In addition, management will
continue to review its operations for further cestuctions to extend the time that the Companyopamate with its current cash on hand and
additional bridge financing and to utilize thirdrfpas for services such as its international reéogcand refurbishment centers to provide for
greater flexibility in aligning operational expesseith the changes in sales volumes.

Additional funding plans may include obtaining adxhal capital through equity and/or debt fundiogices; however, no assurance can
be given that additional capital, if needed, wéldvailable when required or upon terms acceptaltlee Company.

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractual gdtions as of March 31, 2013, and the effects sbiigations are expected to have or
liquidity and cash flow in future periods (in thaunsls):

Payments Due by Period

Less than 1 More than

Total Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
Operating Lease Obligatiol $ 43 % 21 % 22C % — $ =
Bridge Notes 1,30¢ 1,30t — — —
Other Lon(term Debt Obligation 1,41¢ 96 1,32 — —
Total $ 3,15¢ $ 161 $ 154 $ — $ —

Impact of Inflation. From time to time, Cryoport experiences priceéases from third party manufacturers and thesedases cannot
always be passed on to Cryoport's customers. Winélse price increases have not had a material ingpa€ryoPort’s historical operations or
profitability in the past, they could affect revesun the future.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of finan@ati&ion and results of operations, as well asldsaes included elsewhere in this
Annual Report, are based upon our consolidateadimfstatements, which have been prepared in danoe with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Our significant accountirgdigies are described in the notes to the auditedalidated financial statements contained
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Included withiagé policies are our “critical accounting policiezritical accounting policies are those
policies that are most important to the preparatibour consolidated financial statements and reguanagement’s most subjective and
complex judgment due to the need to make estingditest matters that are inherently uncertain. Algfowe believe that our estimates and
assumptions are reasonable, actual results magr diffnificantly from these estimates. Changestmeates and assumptions based upon ¢
results may have a material impact on our restiltgperations and/or financial condition.
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We believe that the critical accounting policieattmost impact the consolidated financial statesarg as described below.
Revenue Recognition
Per Use Revenues

We provide shipping containers to our customersduadge a fee in exchange for the use of the amta@ur arrangements are simila
the accounting standard for leases since we cotinvegight to use the containers over a periodrmétiWe retain title to the containers and
provide our customers the use of the containea fgpecified shipping cycle. At the culmination loé tustomer’s shipping cycle, the container
is returned to us.

We recognize revenue for the use of the shipptiveatime of the delivery of the shipper to the esdr of the enclosed materials, and at
the time that collectability is reasonably certd&evenue is based on gross net of discounts amdaaices.

We also provide logistics support and managemesbhoe customers, which may include onsite logigi@sonnel. Revenue is
recognized for these services as services arenethded at the time that collectability is reasdyabrtain.

Inventory

The Company writes down its inventories for estedadbsolescence or unmarketable inventory equbktdifference between the cost
of inventory and the estimated market value bageth @assumptions about future demand, future priaimdymarket conditions. Inventory
reserve costs are subject to estimates made §ampany based on historical experience, inventagntjties, age of inventory and any knc
expectations for product changes. If actual futlemands, future pricing or market conditions ass Favorable than those projected by
management, additional inventory write-downs maydsgiired and the differences could be materiathSlifferences might significantly
impact cash flows from operating activities. Onstablished, write-downs are considered permanguastents to the cost basis of the
obsolete or unmarketable inventories.

Our business plan focuses on per-use leasing ahtipping container and value-added services tilBb&used by us to provide an end-
to-end and cost-optimized shipping solution. Wevjgte shipping containers to our customers and eharige in exchange for the use of the
container. Our arrangements are similar to the @auoog standard for leases since we convey the tighse the containers over a period of
time. We retain title to the containers and provade customers the use of the container for a §ipdahipping cycle. At the culmination of the
customer’s shipping cycle, the container is retdrimeus. The Company’s current inventory consitscoessories that are sold and shipped to
customers along with loaned containers and notrretlto the Company with the containers at the mation of the customes’shipping cycle

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, netoofnaulated depreciation and amortization. Deprigisgind amortization of fixed assets
are provided using the straight-line method overftilowing useful lives:

Cryoport Expres® Shippers 3 year
Furniture and fixture 7 year:
Machinery and equipme 5-7 year:
Leasehold improvemen Lesser of lease term or estimated usefu

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repaitsaktand the lives of the assets are capitalizéwraepairs and maintenance charges
are expensed as incurred. The cost and relatednatated depreciation and amortization applicablassets retired are removed from the
accounts, and the gain or loss on dispositiondegeized in current operations.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets comprise patents and tradematdksaftware development costs. The Company cagetabiosts of obtaining patents
and trademarks which are amortized, using thegsttdine method over their estimated useful lifdieé years. The Company capitalizes
certain costs related to software developed faridl use. Software development costs incurredhdutie preliminary or maintenance project
stages are expensed as incurred, while costs @ttduring the application development stage argatemed and amortized using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful life of thitvgare, which is five years. Capitalized costdude purchased materials and costs of ser
including the valuation of warrants issued to cdtasus.
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Long-Lived Assets

The Company assesses the recoverability of its-limeg assets by determining whether the deprexiaand amortization of long-lived
assets over their remaining lives can be recovétm@aigh projected undiscounted cash flows. The arnolilong-lived asset impairment is
measured based on fair value and is charged t@ties in the period in which long-lived asset imnpeent is determined by management.
Manufacturing fixed assets are subject to obsotesepotential as result of changes in customer ddsjananufacturing process changes and
changes in materials used. The Company is notmilyraware of any such changes that would causeimment to the value of its
manufacturing fixed assets.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize compensation costs for all stock-baseatds made to employees and directors. The dhilevof stock-based awards is
estimated at grant date using an option pricingehadd the portion that is ultimately expectedéstis recognized as compensation cost ove
the requisite service period.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model toveste the fair value of stock-based awards. Therdgnation of fair value using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model is affected ly stock price as well as assumptions regardingnaber of complex and subjective
variables, including expected stock price volatiliisk-free interest rate, expected dividends aajected employee stock option exercise
behaviors. We estimate the expected term baseldeotontractual term of the awards and employees’cése and expected post-vesting
termination behavior.

Derivative Liabilities

Our issued and outstanding common stock purchas@amta previously treated as equity pursuant tal#révative treatment exemption
were no longer afforded equity treatment, and #ievialue of these common stock purchase warraatage of which have exercise price reset
features and some that were issued with converdibl, was reclassified from equity to liabilitgsts as if these warrants were treated as a
derivative liability since their date of issue. T¢tmmmon stock purchase warrants were not issuddthétintent of effectively hedging any
future cash flow, fair value of any asset, liailir any net investment in a foreign operation. Wagrants do not qualify for hedge accounting,
and as such, all future changes in the fair vafutbase warrants will be recognized currently im@zgys until such time as the warrants are
exercised or expire. These common stock purchasmmia do not trade in an active securities maged, as such, we estimate the fair valu
these warrants using the Black-Scholes optionmgichodel.

Convertible Debentures

If a conversion feature of conventional convertitdébt is not accounted for as a derivative instmtraed provides for a rate of
conversion that is below market value, this featsigharacterized as a beneficial conversion feaflBCF”). A BCF is recorded by the
Company as a debt discount. In those circumstatioegonvertible debt will be recorded net of tiscdunt related to the BCF. The Company
amortizes the discount to interest expense oveliféhef the debt using the effective interest noeth

Deferred Financing Costs

Deferred financing costs represent costs incumesbnnection with the issuance of the convertiloiees payable and private equity
financing. Deferred financing costs are being aimed: over the term of the financing instrument @iraight-line basis, which approximates
the effective interest method or netted againsgties proceeds received from equity financing.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the provisiothefFinancial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB8cAunting Standards
Cadification (*“ASC”) 740Income Taxesor ASC 740. As of March 31, 2013 and 2012, tlvezee no unrecognized tax benefits included ir
accompanying balance sheets that would, if receghiaffect the effective tax rates. Based on thight®f available evidence, the Company’s
management has determined that it is more likedy thot that the net deferred tax assets will naebézed. Therefore, the Company has
recorded a full valuation allowance against thedadérred tax assets. The Company’s income taxigiomvconsists of state minimum taxes.

Our practice is to recognize interest and/or pésltelated to income tax matters in income taxeagp. We had no accrual for interes
penalties on our consolidated balance sheets athVBidr, 2013 and 2012, respectively and have nogrézed interest and/or penalties in the
consolidated statement of operations for the yeded March 31, 2013. We are subject to taxatidhénUnited States and various state
jurisdictions. As of March 31, 2013, the Compannaslonger subject to U.S. federal examinations/éars before 2009 and for Califor
franchise and income tax examinations before 2B@8vever, to the extent allowed by law, the taxintharities may have the right to exam
prior periods where net operating losses were géeetrand carried forward, and make adjustments thpetamount of the net operating loss
carry forward amount. The Company is not currentiger examination by U.S. federal or state jurisoiis.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOS URES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Changes in United States interest rates would tatffiecinterest earned on our cash and cash eqaotsaded interest expense on our
revolving credit facility.

Based on our overall cash and cash equivalentesiteate exposure at March 31, 2013, a near-teange in interest rates, based on
historical movements, would not have a materiakask effect on our financial position or result®pérations.

We have operated primarily in the United Statesokdingly, we have not had any significant expogarforeign currency rate
fluctuations.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTA RY DATA

Reference is made to the consolidated financitstants included in this Report at pages F-3 tHidug1.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH AC COUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurehe term “disclosure controls and procedures” (oefiin Rule 13a-15(e) under
the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the “ErgeaAct”) refers to the controls and other procedwf a company that are designed to
ensure that information required to be disclosed lbpmpany in the reports that it files under tlkelange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the required tim@ople. Under the supervision and with the partitgraof our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officere have conducted an evaluation of the effecéigsrof the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures, as of Marct2@13. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Exeeu@¥ficer and Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and proesiurere effective as of March 31, 2013 to enswdithely disclosure of required
information in our Securities and Exchange Comnis$ilings.

Because of inherent limitations, internal contreéiofinancial reporting may not prevent or dete@dstatements. In addition, the desig
any system of control is based upon certain assangpabout the likelihood of future events, andé¢hgan be no assurance that any design wi
succeed in achieving its stated goals under alfréuévents, no matter how remote. Accordingly, exféective internal control over financial
reporting can only provide reasonable assuraneetuogving their control objectives.

(b) Management'’s Report on Internal Control Ovendticial ReportingManagement’s Report on Internal Control Over Fifenc
Reporting which appears on the following page @®iporated herein by this reference.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Rejitg. There have been no changes in our internal coowel financial reporting
during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year entatch 31, 2013 that have materially affected, err@asonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

CRYOPORT, INC.
MANAGEMENT’'S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The management of the Company is responsible fabkshing and maintaining effective internal cohtver financial reporting and for
the assessment of the effectiveness of internataaover financial reporting. The Company’s intefrcontrol over financial reporting is a
process designed, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)ruh@eSecurities and Exchange Act of 1934, to mleveasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepaeat of consolidated financial statements for exaépurposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles.

The Company’s internal control over financial repuay is supported by written policies and procedutt:
e pertain to the maintenance of records that, aseeable detail, accurately and fairly reflecttta@sactions and dispositions of the

Compan's assets
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e provide reasonable assurance that transactions@eded as necessary to permit preparation ofodidased financial statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptess and that receipts and expenditures of thregamy are being made only
in accordance with authorizations of the Comy's management and directors; ¢

* provide reasonable assurance regarding preveaotitmely detection of unauthorized acquisitioeewr disposition of the
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect ondheddidated financial statemen

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @etaisstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadéegjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In connection with the preparation of the Comparayiaual consolidated financial statements, manageaie¢he Company has
undertaken an assessment of the effectivenesg @ampany’s internal control over financial repogtbased on criteria established in Interna
Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Cortemibf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway @@sion (“the COSO
Framework”). Management’s assessment included aluation of the design of the Company’s internadtod over financial reporting and
testing of the operational effectiveness of the @any’s internal control over financial reporting.

Based on this assessment, management has conttadiéde Company’s internal control over financegorting was effective as of
March 31, 2013.

By: /s/ JERRELL W. SHELTOM
Jerrell W. Shelton
Chief Executive Officer and Direct:

By: /s/ ROBERT STEFANOVICF
Robert Stefanovict
Chief Financial Office

June 25, 2013
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PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this Item regarding directors, executive officers and committees aftmeard of directors is incorporated
by reference to the information set forth underdaptions “Election of Directors” and “Executive @pensation and Related Matters” in our
2013 Definitive Proxy Statement to be filed witliRO days after the end of our fiscal year endedcm&d, 2013 (the “2013 Definitive Proxy
Statement”).

Information required by this Item regarding Sectid{a) reporting compliance is incorporated bynezfee to the information set forth
under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Owngrsteporting Compliance” in our 2013 Definitive RyoStatement.

Information required by this Item regarding our ea ethics is incorporated by reference to thermftion set forth under the caption
“Corporate Governance” in Part | of this Annual Bempn Form 10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorp@eby reference to the information set forth urtlercaption Executive Compensatic
and Related Matters” in our 2013 Definitive Proxgat8ment to be filed within 120 days after the efidur fiscal year ended March 31, 2013.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFI CIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item is incorpehby reference to the information set forth urtercaption “Security Ownership of
Directors and Executive Officers and Certain BesiafiOwners” in our 2013 Definitive Proxy Statemémbe filed within 120 days after the
end of our fiscal year ended March 31, 2013.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED T RANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item is incorpeby reference to the information set forth urtlercaptions “Certain Relationships
and Related Transactions” and “Compensation Coraaltiterlocks and Insider Participation” in our 3@efinitive Proxy Statement to be
filed within 120 days after the end of our fiscaby ended March 31, 2013.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVI CES

The information required by this Item is incorp@eby reference to the information set forth urtlercaption “Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm Fees” in our 2013 Definitieoxy Statement to be filed within 120 days affter end of our fiscal year ended
March 31, 2013.
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PART IV

ITEM 15: Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduls.

(a) Financial Statements

(1) Index to Consolidated Financial Statements

The financial statements required by this itemsafemitted in a separate section beginning on pagefRhis report.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfing F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets at March 31, 2013 @b F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations the yeamsdeliérch 31, 2013 and 20 F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ (Deficit) Equity for the years ended March 31, 2@h8i 2012 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the ye@iled March 31, 2013 and 2C F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statems F-7
2. Financial Statement Schedu

All financial statement schedules are omitted bseahey were not required or the required inforamais included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and the related Notes thereto.

Exhibit Index

See Exhibit Index
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CRYOPORT, INC.
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEing F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of March 31, 20d2@h2 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yemded March 31, 2013 and 2C F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ (Deficit) Equity for the years ended March 31, 2@h8i 201z F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yerailed March 31, 2013 and 2C F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem F-7
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of
CryoPort, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of CryoPort, Inc. (the “Company”) as aefrth 31, 2013 and 2012, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ ¢leficit) equity and cash flows for the years thadetl. These consolidated finan
statements are the responsibility of the Compamgsagement. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those standard:s
require that we plan and perform the audits toinbasonable assurance about whether the conaliflaancial statements are free of
material misstatement. An audit includes examingrga test basis, evidence supporting the amoutsliaclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The Company is not requiodtbive, nor were we engaged to perform, an audli$ aiternal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration ogintl control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tinppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveéshe Company’s internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nolsopinion. An audit also includes assessing thewatting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaliubérmyerall consolidated financial statement prgt@n. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all matenégpects, the consolidated financial position
of CryoPort, Inc. at March 31, 2013 and 2012, dedresults of its operations and its cash flowdtieryears then ended in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in thedéhStates of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieae been prepared assuming the Company will asstis a going concern. As describec
in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statemethis,Company has incurred recurring operating basel has had negative cash flows from
operations since inception. Although the Compars/dash and cash equivalents of $563,104 at MarcB(®B, management has estimated
cash on hand, which include proceeds from conuerblidge notes received in the fourth quarteisddl 2013, will only be sufficient to allow
the Company to continue its operations into thesdaquarter of fiscal 2014. These matters raisstantial doubt about the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. Management'’s ptaregard to these matters are also described fa NoThe consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments to tgflessible future effects on the recoverability ata$sification of assets or the amount and
classification of liabilities that may result frofme outcome of this uncertainty.

/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
June 25, 2013




CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

March 31,
2013 2012
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 563,10 $ 4,617,53!
Restricted cas - 251,36¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $8,70R0f63 and $5,500 in 20: 217,09° 146,12:
Inventories 39,21: 51,75¢
Other current assets 138,89. 65,97(
Total current asse 958,30! 5,132,75
Property and equipment, r 505,48! 682,02:
Intangible assets, n 272,26: 379,08:
Deposits and other assets 19,74« 19,74
Total assets $ 175579 $ 6,213,559
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 858,70¢ $ 401,39¢
Accrued compensation and related expe 217,43. 235,99t
Convertible debentures payable and accrued interesbf discount of $8,843 in 20. 1,304,41! 337,90:
Current portion of related party notes paye 96,00( 96,00(
Derivative liabilities 20,84¢ 37,33¢
Total current liabilities 2,497,40: 1,108,63
Related party notes payable and accrued interestfrcurrent portion 1,321,66. 1,375,44
Total liabilities 3,819,07: 2,484,07!
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder’ (deficit) equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 2,500,000 staré®rized, none issued and
outstanding — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 250,000,000 staaréwrized; 37,760,628 shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2013 and 2( 37,76 37,76
Additional paic-in capital 64,210,41 63,620,77.
Accumulated deficit (66,311,44) (59,929,01)
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity (2,063,27) 3,729,52!
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equit $ 1,755,799 $  6,213,59

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenue:

Cost of revenues

Gross loss

Operating expense
Selling, general and administrative
Research and development
Total operating expenses

Loss from operations

Other (expense) incom
Interest incom
Interest expens
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities

Total other expense, net

Loss before provision for income tax
Provision for income taxes
Net loss

Net loss per common share, basic and dil
Basic and diluted weighted average common shartssamaling

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&sients.
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Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012

$ 1,10053 $ 555,63
1,587,82. 1,392,46!
(487,28 (836,82)
5,411,72 6,106,00!
425,44t 491,84
5,837,17. 6,597,85.
(6,324,45) (7,434,67)

- 11,94(

(72,86.) (527,75)
16,48¢ 119,16:
(56,379 (396,65()
(6,380,83) (7,831,32)
1,60( 1,60(

$ (6382,43) $ (7,832,92)
$ (0.179) $ (0.27)
37,760,62 28,974,84




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY

Balance at April 1, 201

Exercise of warrants for ca

Cashless exercise of warra

Offering costs in connection with the February 2@tivate
placement offering

Estimated fair value of common stock warrants idsio¢
convertible debenture holde

Issuance of units in private placement offerind,ofeoffering
costs of $572,25

Stocl-based compensation related to stock options
warrants issued to consultants, employees and
directors

Net loss

Balance at March 31, 20:

Offering costs in connection with the February 2@ti2ate
placement offerin(

Stocl-based compensation related to stock options
warrants issued to consultants, employees and
directors

Net loss

Balance at March 31, 20:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitgsients.

CRYOPORT, INC.

Common Stocl

Total
Stockholder’
(Defict) Equity

5,948,40!
571,63(

(36,54
156,99
4,640,401

281,55
(7,832,92)

3,729,521

(103,54))

693,18(
(6,382,43)

Shares Amount
27,504,600 $ 27,50¢
742,38( 74z
36,09( 36
9,477,55. 9,47¢
37,760,62 37,76:
37,760,62 $ 37,76

(2,063,27)




CRYOPORT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended March 31,

2013 2012
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $ (6,382,43) $ (7,832,92)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 393,95¢ 343,02¢
Amortization of debt discount and deferred finagotosts 17,51« 197,22!
Fair value of warrants issued to convertible detnenholders - 156,99¢
Fair value of stock options and warrants issuezbttsultants, employee
and director: 693,18 559,09:
Change in fair value of derivative instrume (16,48¢) (119,16
Loss on writ-off of intangible asset 17,04¢ -
Loss on disposal of cryogenic shipp 51,03 8,36:
Interest accrued on restricted ci - (274
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl (70,979 (90,33()
Inventories 12,54: (7,530
Other asset 34,91: 174,15:
Accounts payable and accrued exper 443,56 (62,247)
Accrued compensation and related expe (18,569 (166,75()
Accrued interest 39,55¢ 60,22¢
Net cash used in operating activities (4,785,14) (6,780,13)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of intangible ass (22,48) (125,42()
Purchases of property and equipment (156,20() (262,64)
Net cash used in investing activities (178,687 (388,06
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of gaishfor issuance cos - 4,718,88!
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ¢ 1,294,501 -
Repayment of convertible de (82,800 (2,273,02)
Repayment of offering and deferred financing ¢ (206,309 (158,27()
Repayment of related party notes pay: (96,000 (102,000
Restricted cas— convertible debenture holder escrow account f - (251,36))
Proceeds from release of restricted ¢ - 91,44:
Payment on line of crec - (90,000
Proceeds from exercise of options and warrants - 571,63(
Net cash provided by financing activities 909,39! 2,507,28
Net change in cash and cash equival (4,054,43) (4,660,90)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 4,617,53! 9,278,44.
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 563,10« 4,617,53!
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATIO
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest 15,67¢ 113,30!
Income taxes 1,60( 1,60(
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH INVESTING ANDIRANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Offering costs in connection with equity financimgluded in accounts payable $ 53,74, 78,48(
Deferred financing costs in connection with contdetdebt payable included in account
payable $ 38,47! —
Release of restricted cash for repayment of coilerdebentures payable $ 251,36¢ —
Cashless exercise of warrants and stock options $ — 3€

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#tistents.






CRYOPORT, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Note 1. Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
The Company

Cryoport, Inc. (the “Company”, “Cryoport” or “we§erves the biotech industries providing comprelvensblutions for frozen cold che
logistics, primarily in the life science industridts solutions are novel, new and reliable altéves to currently existing products and services
utilized for frozen shipping of bio-pharmaceuticatsd biologics, including stem cells, cell lineacwines, diagnostic materials, semen and
embryos for in-vitro fertilization, cord blood, bjgharmaceuticals, infectious substances and dmsithat require continuous exposure to
frozen or cryogenic temperatures. Cryoport’'s sohgican contribute to both the efficiency and eifeness of clinical trials.

The Cryoport Expres® Solution includes a web-based logistics platforanioled as the CryoportY! (formerly referred to as the
Cryoport Expres® Portal). The Cryoportal manages customer ordetiagking, customs documentation, and communicatiosugh a single
interface as well as enabling the monitoring ohi@ment’s location and integrity throughout theienghipping process. In addition, the
Cryoportal provides an array of information dashidsaand validation documentation for every shipment

Integral to this solution are also, in part, thgdport Liquid Nitrogen Dry Vapor Shippers (Cryop@press® Shippers) which are cost-
effective and reusable cryogenic transport contaifatented vacuum flasks) utilizing innovativeid nitrogen (LN2) based technology.
Cryoport Expres® Shippers are non-hazardous, IATA (International Bansport Association) certified, and are validate maintain stable
temperatures below minus 150° Celsius for a 10-gaysdynamic shipment period. The Company curreetiyures two Cryoport Express
Shipper models, the Standard Dry Shipper (holdimgouapproximately 75-2.0 ml vials) and the Highlivoe Dry Shipper (holding up to
approximately 500-2.0 ml vials).

The Cryoport Expres® Solutions provide a fully documented “chain-of-agst’ and at customer request “chain-of-condition’ évery
shipment, helping ensure that quality, safetygcaffy, and stability of shipped commodities are taaied. Cryoport Expre€$Solutions can b
used by customers, as a “turnkey” solution, throdiglct access to the cloud-based Cryoportal, ardmgacting Cryoport client Care for order
entry tasks. Cryoport provides 24/7/365 logisties/ges through its Client Care team and also piescomplete training and process
management services to support each customer'geetgnts.

Cryoport Expres® Solutions have been the Company’s principal foousiévelopment and commercialization. In additiduring the

first half of fiscal year 2013, the Company expathis solutions to address specific market needsdrbiotechnology and life science
industries. The primary Cryoport solutions offesraye as follows:

*  Cryoport Express ® Solution
The fully outsourced turn-key logistics solutiorsdebed above.

e Customer-Staged Solution
Cryoport ships an inventory of Cryoport ExprésShippers to the customer (uncharged and in buliblérg the customer to
charge the shippers at their facility, processrtbeders through the Cryoportal which Cryoport @ti€are to oversee each
shipment and return the shippers to Cryoport feaing, testing and refurbishing. Cryoport provittes24/7/365 logistics
services utilizing its Cryoportal logistics platior

e Customer-Managed Solution
Cryoport ships a fully charged Cryoport Expr&sShipper(s) to the customer enabling the custometilize their internal
expertise to manage all or a portion of the logsstiervices. As with the above solutions, the shippre returned to Cryoport
for cleaning, testing and refurbishing within a-pietermined time period.

» Customer Integrated Logistics

The Cryoport logistics team provides a tailored aldrange of logistics support solutions. In dituh to tailoring a
management solution, the robust, enterprise-grageportal is used to provide complete logistics/&s while enabling the

customer to utilize their own packaging solution€oyoport Expres® Shippers. Cryoport can provide onsite logistics
personnel, allowing the customer to fully outsoutfwar cold chain logistics needs component to @oybto focus on its core
competencies.

» Distribution Partnerships

“Powered by Cryopc” are important partnership arrangements with integsafreight forwarders and other logist



providers, enabling partners to expand their sohgtioffering by adding the total Cryoport Express@ution to their
customer offering.
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One of our distribution partnership solutions ergragnts involves an agreement with Federal Expregsatation (“FedEXx”) to provide
frozen shipping logistics services through the cimration of our purpose built proprietary technoksyand turnkey management processes.
FedEx markets and sells Cryoport’s services farérotemperature-controlled cold chain transponadieits FedE® Deep Frozen Shipping
Solution, on a non-exclusive basis and at its sgfense. During fiscal year 2013, the Company wbdiesely with FedEx to further align its
sales efforts and accelerate penetration withirEkexdlife sciences customer base through improvedesses, sales incentives, joint customel
calls and more frequent communication at the sateisexecutive level. In addition, the Company hasetbped a FedEx branded portal, which
is “powered by the Cryoport”, for use by FedEx @sdustomers giving them access to the full cdjtidsi of our logistics management
platform.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Compantered into a master agreement (“FedEx Agreé&ineith FedEx renewing these
services and providing FedEx with a non-exclusiverise and right to use a customized version ofdsyoportal for the management of
shipments made by FedEx customers. The Agreemeneffective on January 1, 2013 and, unless soenmirtated as provided in the FedEx
Agreement, expires on December 31, 2015.

The Company continues its agreement with anottadragicourier, DHL Express (USA), Inc. (“DHL") thgtves DHL life science
customers direct access to the Company’s web-harsied entry and tracking portal to order CryoPogiess® Dry Shippers and receive
preferred DHL shipping rates. The agreement cobétk shipping discounts that may be used to supgp@iCompany’s customers using
Cryoport Expres® Solutions. In connection with the agreement, then@any has integrated its proprietary web port&t.’s tracking and
billing systems to provide DHL life science custamwith a seamless way of shipping their criticaldgical material worldwide.

In December 2012, we signed an agreement with Rifize relating to Zoetis Inc. (formerly the aninfaalth business unit of Pfizer Inc.,
“Zoetis”) pursuant to which we were engaged to nganfaozen shipments of a key poultry vaccine. Unldisrarrangement, the Company will
provide on-site logistics personnel and its logisthanagement platform, the Cryopoffdl, to manage shipments from the Zoetis
manufacturing site in the United States to domestitomers as well as various international digtiim centers. As part of its logistics
management services, the Company will analyze sigpgata and processes to further streamline Zdegjsstics, ensuring products arrive to
their destinations in specified conditions, on-tiamel with the optimum uses of resources. Initialg, Company will manage Zoetis’ total fleet
of dewar flask shippers used for this purposepiiclg liquid nitrogen shippers.

We offer our solutions to companies in the biotetbgy and life science industries and are targesimegific verticals including biotech
and diagnostic companies, pharmaceutical compaceesial laboratories, contract research orgamiaatithe reproductive medicine market/in
vitro fertilization market, and research institutio These companies operate within a heavily réggilenvironment and as such, changing
vendors and distribution practices typically reguarnumber of steps, which may include the audiuoffacilities, review of our procedures,
qualifying us as a vendor, and performing testrsigipts. This process can take six to eighteen manmtlmnger to complete prior to a potential

customer adopting the Cryoport Expr&sSolution.
Going Concern

The consolidated financial statements have bequaped using the accrual method of accounting imf@ance with accounting princip
generally accepted in the United States of AmgfidaS.”) (“GAAP”) and have been prepared on a godogcern basis, which contemplates
the realization of assets and the settlement bilili@s in the normal course of business. We hsw&ained operating losses since our inceptio
and have used substantial amounts of working dapitaur operations. Further, at March 31, 2013 had an accumulated deficit of
$66,311,448 and we had a net loss of $6,382,433vanased cash in operations of $4,785,144 duriagyéar ended March 31, 2013. These
factors raise substantial doubt about our abititgdntinue as a going concern.

We expect to continue to incur substantial addéiamperating losses from costs related to the camialzation of our Cryoport Express
® Solutions and do not expect that revenues fromatiosrs will be sufficient to satisfy our fundinggérements in the near term. We believe
that our cash resources at March 31, 2013, togetitieithe revenues generated from our services;ahénued focus on cost reductions of
non-sales generating costs will be sufficient teta our planned operations into the second quaeftiiscal year 2014; however, we must
obtain additional capital to fund operations théteraand for the achievement of sustained proféaigerations. We are currently working on
funding alternatives in order to secure sufficiepérating capital to allow us to continue to opei a going concern.

Future capital requirements will depend upon mauydrs, including the success of our commerciatinagfforts and the level of
customer adoption of our Cryoport Expré&sSolutions as well as our ability to establish addil collaborative arrangements. We cannot n
any assurances that the sales ramp together wathreuction measures will lead to achievementisfaaned profitable operations or that any
additional financing will be completed on a timélgsis, on acceptable terms or at all. Managemambility to successfully achieve signific
revenue increases or its cost reduction strategigs,complete any other financing will advershpact our ability to continue as a going
concern. To address this issue, the Company hasiied cost containment measures and is seekidig@uhl capitalization to properly fund
efforts to become a self-sustaining financiallybléaentity.
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Basis of Presentatiol
The accompanying consolidated financial statemieaée been prepared in accordance with GAAP.
Principles of Consolidatior

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of CryoPort, Inc. and its wholly owned sdiasy, CryoPort Systems, Inc. All
intercompany accounts and transactions have baamated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesmé@ntonformity with GAAP requires management tckenastimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets antlitie® and disclosure of contingent assets arallli@es at the date of the financial statements
and the reported amounts of revenues and expeuseg the reporting periods. Actual results coulfied from estimated amounts. The
Company’s significant estimates include allowarfoeesloubtful accounts, recoverability of long-livedsets, allowance for inventory
obsolescence, deferred taxes and their accompawnglogtions, valuation of derivative liabilitiescamaluation of common stock, warrants and
stock options issued for products or services.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s financial instruments consist of carsth cash equivalents, restricted cash, accouraéveble, related-party notes
payable, convertible notes payable, accounts payaid accrued expenses. The carrying value feuall instruments approximates fair value
at March 31, 2013 and 2012. The difference betweerfair value and recorded values of the relatatymotes payable is not significant. The
Company’s restricted cash is carried at amortizest which approximates fair value at March 31, 2848 2012.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers highly liquid investmentswitiginal maturities of 90 days or less to be caghivalents.
Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash accounts in findirgtitutions. Accounts at these institutions sx®ured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) with basic deposisiirance coverage limits up to $250,000 per owkigklarch 31, 2013 and 2012, the
Company had approximately $214,000 and $0, resgtiwhich exceeded the FDIC insurance limit, @$te balances, including restricted
cash. The Company performs ongoing evaluationkesfe institutions to limit its concentration ristpesure.

Restricted Casl

In conjunction with the private placement in Felbyw2012, the Company was required to deposit $684iito an escrow account
representing the total future principal payments thuone the convertible debenture holders (see BjotAt March 31, 2012, $251,368
remained in escrow and was disbursed to the ndtehduring the first quarter of fiscal year 20P8eviously, the Company also invested casl
in a one year restricted certificate of depositrimgginterest at 1% which served as collaterabfmrowings under a line of credit agreement
(see Note 6). During 2012 the Company repaid theedif credit and the previously restricted caslbegs were released to the Company.

Customers

The Company grants credit to customers within tt®. ldnd to a limited number of international custesrand does not require collate
Revenues from international customers are genesatiyred by advance payments except for a limixecber of established foreign custom
The Company generally requires advance or credit gayments for initial revenues from new custom&he Company’s ability to collect
receivables is affected by economic fluctuationthngeographic areas and industries served b@dhgpany. Reserves for uncollectible
amounts are provided based on past experience specéic analysis of the accounts, which managételreves is sufficient. Accounts
receivable at March 31, 2013 and 2012 are netsafrves for doubtful accounts of $8,700 and $5,5¥pectively. Although the Company
expects to collect amounts due, actual collectinag differ from the estimated amounts.

The Company has foreign revenues primarily in Ear@apan, Canada, India and Australia. During Ifigears 2013 and 2012, the

Company had foreign revenues of approximately $@Dand $301,000, respectively, which constitufgareximately 42% and 54% of total
revenues, respectively.
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The majority of the Company’s customers are inttioetechnology, pharmaceutical and life science gtidess. Consequently, there is a
concentration of receivables within these industnehich is subject to normal credit risk. At Margh, 2013, no customers accounted for mor
than 10% of revenues. At March 31, 2012, annuamaes from two major customers accounted for 26%upfotal revenues. The Company
maintains reserves for bad debt and such lossée iaggregate, historically have not exceedecdkstimates.

Inventories

The Company’s inventories consist of accessoriasate sold and shipped to customers along withpesyuse containers that are not
returned to the Company along with the containetieaculmination of the customer’s shipping cycleventories are stated at the lower of
cost or current estimated market value. Cost isrdehed using the standard cost method which ajpairs the first-in, first-to-expire
method. Inventories are reviewed periodically fomsmoving or obsolete status. The Company writ@smthe carrying value of its
inventories to reflect situations in which the cokinventories is not expected to be recoveredddsstablished, write-downs of inventories ar
considered permanent adjustments to the cost bbsie obsolete or excess inventories. Raw maseaiadl finished goods include material
costs less reserves for obsolete or excess investdihe Company evaluates the current level adritnries considering historical trends and
other factors, and based on the evaluation, re@mfistments to reflect inventories at its netizable value. These adjustments are estimates
which could vary significantly from actual result§uture economic conditions, customer demand, petition or other relevant factors differ
from expectations. These estimates require us kermssessments about future demand for the Congpprgducts in order to categorize the
status of such inventories items as slow-movingpt#ie or in excess-of-need. These estimates bjecstio the ongoing accuracy of the
Company’s forecasts of market conditions, indusepds, competition and other factors.

Property and Equipmen

The Company provides shipping containers to itsccusers and charges a fee in exchange for the ube @bntainer. The Company’s
arrangements are similar to the accounting starfdaidases since they convey the right to usetmtainer over a period of time. The
Company retains the title to the containers andiges its customers the use of the container &pezific shipping cycle. At the culmination
the customes shipping cycle, the container is returned toGbenpany. As a result, the Company classifies timtatoers as fixed assets for-
per-use container program.

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Cnjoghippers, which comprise of 87% and 84% ofGbenpany’s net property and
equipment balance at March 31, 2013 and 2012, c&sply, are depreciated using the straight-lingélrad over their estimated useful lives of
three years. Equipment and furniture are depretiaging the straight-line method over their estedaiseful lives (generally three to seven
years) and leasehold improvements are amortized) dise straigl-line method over the estimated useful life of éisset or the lease term,
whichever is shorter. Equipment acquired undertahl@ases is amortized over the estimated usééubi the assets or term of the lease,
whichever is shorter and included in depreciatixpease.

Betterments, renewals and extraordinary repaitsetktgénd the lives of the assets are capitalizétraepairs and maintenance charges
are expensed as incurred. The cost and relatednatated depreciation and amortization applicablassets retired are removed from the
accounts, and the gain or loss on dispositiondegeized in current operations.

Intangible Asset:

Intangible assets are comprised of patents andrtracks and software development costs. The Comgagritalizes costs of obtaining
patents and trademarks, which are amortized, ubmgtraight-line method over their estimated udd&uof five years. The Company
capitalizes certain costs related to software agpeal for internal use. Software development costsrred during the preliminary or
maintenance project stages are expensed as incuinéd costs incurred during the application depehent stage are capitalized and amor
using the straight-line method over the estimatsful life of the software, which is five years.pilalized costs include purchased materials
and costs of services including the valuation ofrauats issued to consultants.

Long-lived Assets
If indicators of impairment exist, we assess ttomverability of the affected long-lived assets leyedmining whether the carrying value
of such assets can be recovered through undisabtuitee operating cash flows. If impairment isicaded, we measure the amount of such

impairment by comparing the fair value to the ciengyvalue. We believe the future cash flows todeeived from the long-lived assets will
exceed the assets’ carrying value, and accordimgiyhave not recognized any impairment losses tirddiarch 31, 2013.
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Deferred Financing Cost:

Deferred financing costs represent costs incumembnnection with the issuance of the convertiloiees payable and private equity
financing. Deferred financing costs related toitfseiance of debt are being amortized over the tétme financing instrument using the
effective interest method while deferred finanaogts from equity financings are netted againsgtss proceeds received from the equity
financings.

During the year ended March 31, 2013 and 2012Ctmapany incurred $103,542 and $572,255, respegtofadffering costs in
connection with the private placement that closeBabruary and March 2012, which were charged diitiadal paid-in capital and netted
against the proceeds received in the private plaognAs of March 31, 2013 and 2012, offering co$$53,747 and$78,480, respectively,
related to the private placement were includecgoants payable and accrued expenses in the acogingaonsolidated balance sheets.

In connection with the convertible debt financinghe fourth quarter of 2013, the Company incufieaincing costs which were
capitalized and are being amortized over the tdrthedconvertible notes payable using the straligietmethod which approximates the
effective interest method (see Note 8).

During the year ended March 31, 2011, the Compaoyried $465,023 of offering costs in connectiothwhe private placement that
closed in August and October 2010 and $1,311,58#fefing costs from the private placement thasetbin February 2011; both of which
were charged to additional paid-in capital andetettgainst the proceeds received in the privatepiants. During the year ended March 31,
2012, the Company made payments of $158,270 ferinff costs and financing fees related to the Felpra011 private placement of which
$121,727 was included in accounts payable and ed@upenses as of March 31, 2011.

Convertible Debentures

If a conversion feature of conventional convertitdébt is not accounted for as a derivative instmtraed provides for a rate of
conversion that is below market value, this featsigharacterized as a beneficial conversion feafilBCF”). A BCF is recorded by the
Company as a debt discount. The convertible delgicisrded net of the discount related to the BGfe Tompany amortizes the discount to
interest expense over the life of the debt usiegetiiective interest rate method.

Derivative Liabilities

Certain of the Company’s issued and outstandingneomstock purchase warrants which have exercise peset features are treated as
derivatives for accounting purposes. The commockgborchase warrants were not issued with the irteaffectively hedging any future cash
flow, fair value of any asset, liability or any nevestment in a foreign operation. The warrantsdbqualify for hedge accounting, and as s
all future changes in the fair value of these wats'@re recognized currently in earnings until sirole as the warrants are exercised, expire ol
the related rights have been waived. These commaok purchase warrants do not trade in an actigerges market, and as such, the
Company estimates the fair value of these warnasitgy the Black-Scholes option pricing model (“Bdegecholes”) (see Note 9).

Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to routine claims and litgyaincidental to our business. In the opiniom@nagement, the resolution of such
claims is not expected to have a material advdfeeten our operating results or financial positio

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under thégion of the Financial Accounting Standards Bo@FASB”) Accounting
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 74thcome Taxesor ASC 740. The Company is a subchapter “C” caafion and files a federal income tax
return. The Company files state income tax retimr@alifornia.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measuried) @hacted tax rates expected to apply to taxabtame in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recowaredttled. The effect on deferred tax assetsiabdilies of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includesdghactment date. A valuation allowance is providedertain deferred tax assets if itis
likely than not that the Company will not realizex tassets through future operations. Based on ¢ightvof available evidence, the Company’s
management has determined that it is more likedy ot that the net deferred tax assets will noebézed. Therefore, the Company has
recorded a full valuation allowance against thedeéérred tax assets. The Company’s income taxigioovconsists of state minimum taxes.

ASC 740, which clarifies the accounting for uncierttain income taxes recognized in the financiatesinents, provides that a tax benefit
from an uncertain tax position may be recognizedmitis more likely than not that the positioni¢ sustained upon examination, including
resolutions of any related appeals or litigatioogesses, based on the technical merits. Incomaosikions must meet a more likely than not
recognition threshold. As of March 31, 2013 and2Qthere were no unrecognized tax benefits includebde accompanying consolidated
balance sheets that would, if recognized, affextetfiective tax rates. It is not anticipated thegré will be a significant change in the
unrecognized tax benefits over the next twelve imant
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The Company’s policy is to recognize interest angémnalties related to income tax matters in inctemesxpense. The Company had no
accrual for interest or penalties on its consoéiddialance sheets at March 31, 2013 and 2012 atésgdg and has not recognized interest
and/or penalties in the consolidated statemenpefations for the years ended March 31, 2013 ad@.2lhe Company is subject to taxation in
the U.S. and various state jurisdictions. As of 8haB1, 2013, the Company is no longer subject & &deral examinations for years before
2009 and for California franchise and income taareiations for years before 2008. However, to thierg allowed by law, the taxing
authorities may have the right to examine prioiques where net operating losses were generatedaarnidd forward, and make adjustments uj
to the amount of the net operating loss carry fodwieamount. The Company is not currently under exation by U.S. federal or state
jurisdictions.

Supply Concentration Risk

The component parts for our products are primanidnufactured at third party manufacturing facisiti¢the Company also has a
warehouse at our corporate offices in Lake Fof@alifornia, where the Company is capable of martufég certain parts and fully assembles
its products. Most of the components that the Camppeses in the manufacture of its products ardaai from more than one qualified
supplier. For some components, however, thereedmévely few alternate sources of supply and statdishment of additional or replacement
suppliers may not be accomplished immediately, meweghe Company has identified alternate qualifiedpliers which the Company beliey
could replace existing suppliers. Should this octhe Company believes that with its current lesfeshippers and production rate the Comg.
has enough to cover a four to six week gap in marirdisruption of production.

There are no specific agreements with any manufactor are there any long term commitments toraapufacturer. The Company
believes that any of the manufactures currentlyl iseit could be replaced within a short periodiofe as none have a proprietary component
or a substantial capital investment specific tgisducts.

Revenue Recognitio

The Company provides shipping containers to thestamers and charges a fee in exchange for thefule container. The Company’s
arrangements are similar to the accounting stanfdaldases since they convey the right to usetimainers over a period of time. The
Company retains title to the containers and pravitlecustomers the use of the container for aifipeshipping cycle. At the culmination of
the customer’s shipping cycle, the container isrretd to the Company.

The Company recognizes revenue for the use offtipper at the time of the delivery of the shippetite end user of the enclosed
materials, and at the time that collectabilityéasonably certain. Revenue is based on gross détaafunts and allowances.

The Company also provides logistics support andagament to some customers, which may include olugjistics personnel. Revenue
is recognized for these services as services adered and at the time that collectability is readdy certain.

Accounting for Shipping and Handling Revenue, Feasd Cost:

The Company classifies amounts billed for shipgind handling as revenue. Shipping and handlingdedsosts are included in cost of
sales in the accompanying consolidated statemémsenations.

Research and Development Expent

Expenditures relating to research and developnrentxpensed in the period incurred. Research anelajament expenses to date have
consisted primarily of costs associated with thetiocmially improving the features of the CryoPorpEess® Solution including the web based
customer service portal and the CryoPort ExpBeSBippers. Further, these efforts are expectedath tie the introduction of shippers of vary
sizes based on market requirements, constructiedvef cost materials and utilizing high volume miauturing methods that will make it
practical to provide the cryogenic packages offéngthe CryoPort Expre&Solution. Other research and development effortieas directe
toward improvements to the liquid nitrogen retemtsystem to render it more reliable in the genghgping environment and to the design of
the outer packaging. Alternative phase change maitén place of liquid nitrogen may be used ta@ase the potential markets these shipper:
can serve such as ambient and 2-8°C markets.
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Stoclk-based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based payments ptogees and directors in accordance with stockdasgment accounting
guidance which requires all stock-based paymengsnployees and directors, including grants of eggdostock options and warrants, to be
recognized based upon their fair values. The falwer of stock-based awards is estimated at grdatudang Black-Scholes and the portion that
is ultimately expected to vest is recognized asprimation cost over the requisite service period.

Since stock-based compensation is recognized onlhbse awards that are ultimately expected ty #es Company has applied an
estimated forfeiture rate to unvested awards femilrpose of calculating compensation cost. Thetimates will be revised, if necessary, in
future periods if actual forfeitures differ fromtiesates. Changes in forfeiture estimates impactpamaation cost in the period in which the
change in estimate occurs. The estimated forferates at March 31, 2013 and 2012 was zero asdh@@ny has not had a significant history
of forfeitures and does not expect significantédrfres in the future.

Cash flows from the tax benefits resulting from deeductions in excess of the compensation cosgrered for those options or warra
are classified as financing cash flows. Due toGbenpany'’s loss position, there were no such taetitsrduring years ended March 31, 2013
and 2012.

The Company uses Black-Scholes to estimate thediie of stock-based awards. The determinatidaiof/alue using Black-Scholes is
affected by its stock price as well as assumptiegarding a number of complex and subjective vaghncluding expected stock price
volatility, risk-free interest rate, expected dismtls and projected employee stock option exer@baiors.

The Company'’s stock-based compensation plans scestied further in Note 11.
Equity Instruments Issued to Nc-Employees for Acquiring Goods or Services

Issuances of the Company’s common stock for acgugbods or services are measured at the fair wdltie consideration received or
the fair value of the equity instruments issuedicivbver is more reliably measurable. The measuredee for the fair value of the equity
instruments issued to consultants or vendors eraéted at the earlier of (i) the date at whictommitment for performance to earn the equity
instruments is reached (a “performance commitmesith would include a penalty considered to be ofagnitude that is a sufficiently large
disincentive for nonperformance) or (ii) the datevhich performance is complete. When it is appiagprfor the Company to recognize the
of a transaction during financial reporting periili®r to the measurement date, for purposes aigreiion of costs during those periods, the
equity instrument is measured at the then-curi@nt/Blues at each of those interim financial répgrdates (see Note 12).

Basic and Diluted Loss Per Sha

Basic loss per common share is computed basecdeomelyhted average number of shares outstandiniggdile period. Diluted loss per
share is computed by dividing net loss by the wieidlaverage shares outstanding assuming all ddlptdtential common shares were issue
addition, in computing the dilutive effect of comtible securities, the numerator is adjusted to laaick the after-tax amount of interest, if any,
recognized in the period with any convertible défot: the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, dnep@ny was in a loss position and the
basic and diluted loss per share are the same tiaaffect of stock options, warrants and conkirthotes payable on loss per share was ant
dilutive and thus not included in the diluted Ipes share calculation. The impact under the trgastiock method of dilutive stock options and
warrants and the if-converted method of convertitbt would have resulted in weighted average comshares outstanding of approximately
38,172,000 and 34,128,000 for the years ended MakcB013 and 2012, respectively.

Segment Reportin
We currently operate in only one segment.
Note 2. Inventories

Inventories consist of the following:

March 31, March 31,
2013 2012
Raw material $ 28,537 $ 32,55¢
Finished goods 10,67¢ 19,19¢
$ 39,21: $ 51,75¢
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The Company’s inventories consists of accessadngsare sold and shipped to customers along witkppa-use containers and are not
returned to the Company along with the containeteeaculmination of the customer’s shipping cytteentories are stated at the lower of
standard cost or current estimated market valust Baetermined using the standard cost methodhwdpproximates the first-in, first-to-
expire method.

Note 3. Property and Equipment

Equipment and leasehold improvements and relateshaalated depreciation and amortization are asviai

March 31,
2013 2012

Cryogenic shipper $ 962,56! $ 882,47:
Furniture and fixture 30,74¢ 30,74¢
Machinery and equipme 380,52t 377,91¢
Leasehold improvements 30,91: 30,91
1,404,75! 1,322,04!

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (899,26 (640,02
$ 505,48! $ 682,02:

The Company'’s current business plan focuses omgeteasing of shipping containers and addsde services that will be used by u:
provide an end-to-end and cost-optimized shippoigt®ns.

Total depreciation and amortization expense relaigaoperty and equipment amounted to $281,70352Ad,838 for the years ended
March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Note 4. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are comprised of patents andrtrarks and software developed for internal uses.grbss book values and
accumulated amortization as of March 31, 2013 & 2vere as follows:

March 31,
2013 2012
Patents and trademar $ 154,21: $ 131,85¢
Software development costs 547,12 564,04
701,34: 695,90!
Less accumulated amortization (429,079 (316,82)
$ 272,260 $ 379,08:

Amortization expense for intangible assets fonjtbars ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 was $112,266201,191, respectively. All of
the Company’s intangible assets are subject to raton.

Patents and Total

Years Ending March 31, Trademarks Software Intangibles
2014 $ 21,07¢ $ 90,71t $ 111,79:
2015 20,03« 42,85 62,88t
2016 19,61° 30,15 49,77(
2017 19,61° 8,581 28,19¢
2018 19,61° - 19,16%

$ 99,96: $ 172,300 $ 272,26:

Note 5. Fair Value Measurements

The Company determines the fair value of its dereainstruments using a three-level hierarchyf&r value measurements which these
assets and liabilities must be grouped, basedgmifisant levels of observable or unobservable tap@bservable inputs reflect market data
obtained from independent sources, while unobsésvaputs reflect the Company’s market assumptidhss hierarchy requires the use of
observable market data when available. These tpestpf inputs have created the following fair-vahigrarchy:

Level 1 —Valuations based on unadjusted quoted market piricastive markets for identical securities. Cutigthe Company does n
have any items classified as Level 1.
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Level 2 — Valuations based on observable inputsefothan Level 1 prices), such as quoted pricesifoilar assets at the measurement
date; quoted prices in markets that are not activether inputs that are observable, either dieamtindirectly.

Level 3 — Valuations based on inputs that are uaniable and significant to the overall fair valueasurement, and involve
management judgment. The Company uses the Blaosrhption pricing model to determine the fairueabf the instruments. If the inputs
used to measure fair value fall in different levaishe fair value hierarchy, a financial secustyiierarchy level is based upon the lowest level
of input that is significant to the fair value meessment.

The following table presents the Company’s warramasured at fair value on a recurring basis &aw€h 31, 2013 and 2012 classified
using the valuation hierarchy:

Level 3 Level 3
Carrying Value Carrying Value
March 31, 201 March 31, 2017
Derivative Liabilities $ 20,84¢ $ 37,33¢

The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances for the Compargrivative liabilities measured at
fair value using Level 3 inputs:

2013 2012
Balance at April 1 $ 37,33¢ $ 156,49’
Change in fair value (16,48¢) (119,16))
Balance at March 31, $ 20,84¢ $ 37,33

Note 6. Line of Credit

During October 2010, the Company secured a onergeawal of the line of credit (the “Line”) for $8W0 which was secured by a
$90,000 certificate of deposit with a financialtingion. On August 23, 2011 the Company paid thiére balance in full and the line has been
terminated. All borrowings under the Line bore abie interest based on either the prime rate pbf& ber annum or 5.0%, whichever was
higher. The Company utilized the funds advancenhftioe Line for capital equipment purchases to stghe commercialization of the
Company’s CryoPort Expre$sDry Shipper. No funds were drawn against the Lingrdy the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012. The
Company recorded interest expense of $0 and $1I072be years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, ré&spbg related to the Line.

Note 7. Related Party Transactions
Related Party Notes Payahb

As of March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company hadeagge principal balances of $651,500 and $747 f&3pgectively, in outstanding
unsecured indebtedness owed to four related pairielading former members of the Company’s bodrdiectors, representing working
capital advances made to the Company from Feb2@0¢ through March 2005. These notes bear intatabe rate of 6% per annum and
provide for aggregate monthly principal paymentscivibegan April 1, 2006 of $2,500, and which insethby an aggregate of $2,500 every
nine months to a maximum of $10,000 per month. Adarch 31, 2013, the aggregate principal paymtottded $8,000 per month. Any
remaining unpaid principal and accrued interesuis at maturity on various dates through March0152

Related-party interest expense under these note$4%216 and $48,036 for the years ended MarcR®I13 and 2012, respectively.
Accrued interest related to these notes, whichdhided in related party notes payable in the apamying consolidated balance sheets,
amounted to $766,164 and $723,948 as of March(@13 and 2012, respectively.

Scheduled maturities of related party notes payaittuding accrued interest, as of March 31, 2868as follows:

Years Ending March 31:

2014 $ 96,00(
2015 1,321,66
$ 1,417,66
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Advisory Services Agreement with Former Offic

On March 7, 2011 the Company entered into a oneAwaisory Services Agreement with Marc Grossma®Mo provide strategic
business advisory services including identifyind artroducing customers, advising on sales and eteags plans and providing financial
advice. Dr. Grossman is a former officer of the @amy and is one of the four related parties to ticyoPort has an outstanding unsecured
debt obligation. For these services, Dr. Grossmas paid a fee of $125,000, which was amortized theeterm of the agreement, and issued
warrant to purchase 200,000 shares of the Compapysnon stock at an exercise price of $0.77 paeshdfive year life and vested upon
issuance (see Note 12).

Consulting Agreement with Officer

On July 29, 2009, the Board of Directors of the @amy appointed Ms. Catherine M. Doll, a consultemthe offices of Chief Financial
Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Corporate Segretanich became effective on August 20, 2009. Mall Eesigned the offices of Chief
Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Corpo@gcretary on June 27, 2011, effective immediditdigwing the Company’s filing of its
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2(M&. Doll is the owner and chief executive officdThe Gilson Group, LLC. The Gilson
Group, LLC provided financial and accounting cotiagl services, including SEC and financial repaytibudgeting and forecasting to the
Company. Related-party consulting fees for all mewprovided by The Gilson Group, LLC, were apprately $0 and $76,000 for the years
ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Note 8. Convertible Debentures Payable

The Company’s convertible debenture principal be¢arare shown below:

March 31, March 31,
2013 2012
Convertible Deb $ 1,294,500 $ 334,16¢
Debt discount - (8,849

Total convertible debentures, net

@

1,294,500 $ 325,32!
Convertible debentures payable and accrued infaresof discount of $0 in 2013 and $8,843 in 2 $ 130441 $ 337,90.
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During the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012Ctmapany recognized an aggregate of $8,843 and &A™ interest expense,
respectively, due to amortization of debt discaetdted to the warrants and beneficial converséatures associated with the Company’s
outstanding convertible debentures. During the gealed March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company reddontierest expense of $13,018 and
$122,825, respectively, related to the stated éstesissociated with the Debentures, of which $9a91t8$12,577 is included in convertible
debentures payable and accrued interest in thergranoying consolidated balance sheets as of MarcB®1B and 2012, respectively.

October 2007 and May 2008 Debentures

The Company issued convertible debentures in Oct2®@7 (the “October 2007 Debentures”) and in M&9& (the “May 2008
Debentures,” and together with the October 2007ebtbres, the “Debentures”). The Debentures wereds$o four institutional investors and
had an outstanding principal balance of $0 and #&®as of March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectivalgddition, in October 2007 and May
2008, the Company issued to these institutionastors warrants to purchase, as of March 31, 2013ggregate of 3,055,097 shares of the
Company’s common stock (the “Debenture Warran#s$)collateral to secure our repayment obligatianthé holders of the Debentures we
had granted such holders a first priority securitgrest in generally all of our assets, including intellectual property.

The October 2007 Debentures were convertible inémes of the Company’s common stock at a price8df®per share and bore interest
at 8% per annum. The Company had been obligatathk® principal or additional interest paymentssiktarch 1, 2011 with respect to the
outstanding balances of the October 2007 DebentlihesCompany made monthly principal payments @0$200 and quarterly interest
payments. The October 2007 Debentures were fyllgicein June 2012.

As of March 31, 2011, the May 2008 Debentures weid in full.

Because the consummation of the private placemere¢bruary 2012 would have triggered defaults utiteiCompany’s October 2007
Debentures, prior to the initial close of the ptezplacement, the Company obtained a waiver frarhtiiders of the October 2007 Debentures
with respect to such defaults and their consettig¢grivate placement. In consideration for suclvaraand consent, the Company, at the initia
close, issued to the holders of the October 200eBires warrants to purchase an aggregate of @B6ltares of the Company’s common
stock at an exercise price of $0.69 per sharevildreants have terms identical to the warrants so¢he investors in the private placement
(see Note 10).

2013 Bridge Notes

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, the Compassuied to certain accredited investors unsecureedinie promissory notes (the
“Bridge Notes”)in the original principal amount of $1,294,500, suant to the terms of subscription agreementsettets$ of investment inte

The Bridge Notes accrue interest at a rate of 18#@pnum from date of issuance until January 3132Md at a rate of 5% per annum
from February 1, 2013 through the date of paymargach case on a non-compounding basis. All pral@nd interest under the Bridge Notes
will be due on December 31, 2013. Debt financinstsof $116,505 comprised of agent commissions vem@rded in other current assets and
are being amortized to interest expense undertthiglst-line method which approximates the effeetinterest method over the term of the
notes. During the year ended March 31, 2013, theg2amy amortized $8,671 to interest expense.

In the event the Company designated and issuedrpedfstock while the Bridge Notes were outstandimg Bridge Notes were
convertible into shares of such preferred stock @nversion rate equal to the price per sharetpaiie Company in connection with the
issuance of such preferred stock at the optioh@hblder of the Bridge Notes. The Company was lertabvalue the conversion feature of
these Bridge Notes given the absence of a converate the convertability of the Bridge Notes betogtingent on the completion of a
preferred stock transaction.

Effective on April 19, 2013, the Company amendesiBnidge Notes whereby in the event that the ComjEsues one or more types of
equity securities (a “Transaction”) before the mitjuwf the Bridge Notes, the holder may elect dmeert all or a portion of the principal and
accrued interest into shares of such equity séesiigsued in a Transaction at a conversion rataleq the price per share paid to the Comg
in connection with the issuances. The Companydasired to notify the Bridge Notes holder of a Trartson within 10 days of each Transac
and the Bridge Notes holder has the option ungillétter of (a) ten (10) days after such noticebpDecember 15, 2013 to elect in writing to
convert the Bridge Notes.

Note 9. Derivative Liabilities

In accordance with current accounting guidanceageof the Company’s outstanding warrants to pasehshares of common stock are
treated as derivatives because these instrumewgsraset or ratchet provisions in the event the @y raises additional capital at a lower
price, among other adjustments. As such, the uresof these common stock purchase warrants weatetl as derivative liabilities since their
date of issuance or modification. Changes in falu& are recorded as non-operating, non-cash inocomepense at each reporting date. If the
fair value of the derivatives is higher at the fthgent balance sheet date, the Company will recmmh-operating, non-cash charge. If the fail
value of the derivatives is lower at the subseqbatance sheet date, the Company will record naratimg, non-cash income. As of Margh,
2013 and 2012 the Company had derivative warrahtliies of $20,848 and $37,334, respectively.
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During the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012 timpany issued an aggregate of 0 and 10,289 wsiti@purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock, respectively, pursuantécanti-dilution provisions contained in the watragreements which were previously
issued to various placement agents in lieu of fes. On August 20, 2010, in connection with theést 2010 private placement closing, the
exercise price of the warrants was reduced frorBGbBer share to $3.20 per share and the Compamdsmn additional 4,073 warrants. On
February 4, 2011, in connection with the Febru@¥2private placement, the exercise price of theamss was reduced from $3.20 per share
to $2.81 per share and the Company issued an adlitl8,657 warrants. On February 14, 2011, in eotion with the February 2011 private
placement, the exercise price of the warrants wdsaed from $2.81 per share to $2.58 per shar¢hendompany issued an additional 13,641
warrants. On February 22, February 28, and Mar@®Z2, in connection with the February 2012 privaseement, the Company issued an
additional 6,721, 2,843 and 725 warrants, respelgtiand the exercise price of the warrants wasaed from $2.58 per share to $2.48 per
share, $2.48 per share to $2.44 per share and fper&hare to $2.43 per share, respectively. Sireexercise price of the warrants is subject
to additional adjustment in the event the Compasyés dilutive equity securities, as describetiénoriginal warrant agreements, the warrant:
are accounted for as derivative liabilities. Durthg years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Qoymeaognized aggregate gains of $16
and $119,163, respectively, due to the changeirivddue of its derivative instruments. See Nofeisthe components of changes in derivative
liabilities. The Company’s common stock purchaserargs do not trade in an active securities magad, as such, the Company estimated th
fair value of these warrants using Black-Scholesgithe following assumptions:

March 31, March 31,
2013 2012
Expected dividend — —
Expected term (in year 1.01-1.81 2.01-2.81
Risk-free interest rat 0.14%-— 0.33% 0.33%—-0.81%
Expected volatility 129%-— 158% 124%—-132%

Historical volatility was computed using daily gng observations for recent periods that corresgortde remaining term of the
warrants, which had an original term of five yefaoen the date of issuance. The expected life ietham the remaining term of the warrants.
The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. Tmyasecurities with a maturity corresponding to temaining term of the warrants.

Note 10. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

On September 22, 2011, the Company’s stockholggnoaed an amendment to the Company’s Amended asthied Articles of
Incorporation to authorize a class of undesignatethlank check” preferred stock, which had prewdlyueen approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors on July 19, 2011, consistin@ &00,000 shares at $0.001 par value per shareesSbhpreferred stock may be issued in
or more series, with such rights, preferencesjlpges and restrictions as shall be fixed by then@any’s Board of Directors.

Common Stock

The Companys authorized capital consists of 250,000,000 shafreesmmon stock, $0.001 par value per share. Adath 31, 2013 ar
2012, 37,760,628 shares of common stock were issngautstanding.

Fiscal Year 2012 Activit

In February and March 2012, the Company conductgilvate placement of units totaling 9,477,554 ptiechase price of $0.55 per unit
(the “February 2012 Private Placement”) for totalgeeds of $4,640,400, net of offering costs of2$835. Each unit consisted of one share of
common stock and one warrant to purchase one shammmon stock at an exercise price of $0.69 pares Each warrant is fully exercisable
six months from the date of issuance for a peridiive years from the date of issuance. All unitsrevpurchased by accredited or institutional
investors under three closings; first closing a19%,572 units on February 22, 2012, second closir®y032,937 units on February 28, 2012
a third closing of 649,045 units on March 7, 2012.
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Craig-Hallum Capital Group LLC acted as the leaatpment agent, and Emergent Financial Group, hntMaxim Group LLC served
as co-placement agents in this transaction andvemten the aggregate, commissions of $450,24% mimbursement of out-of-pocket
expenses of $43,530, and 248,375 warrants to psecsteares of the Company’s common stock at anisggudce of $0.69 per share. The
warrants have terms identical to the warrants gsoehe investors in the February 2012 Privateéttaent. The fair value of the warrants
issued to the placement agents of $152,579 wasl lmsBlack-Scholes and was recorded to additioa@l-m capital and offset against the
proceeds of the financing with no net effect oniggThe Company also incurred $103,542 and $78gf88suance costs including legal,
accounting and printer fees related to this transaduring the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2@kpectively. The placement agent
expenses and issuance costs have been offsettahaipsoceeds of the financing in additional paidapital.

Because the consummation of the February 2012 terRlacement would have triggered defaults undeCtbhmpany’s October 2007
Debentures, prior to the initial close of the Fetop2012 Private Placement, the Company obtaingdieer from the holders of the October
2007 Debentures with respect to such defaults lagid tonsent to the February 2012 Private Placenerbnsideration for such waiver and
consent, the Company, at the initial close, isgodtie holders of the October 2007 Debentures wtstt@ purchase an aggregate of 280,000
shares of the Company’s common stock at an exepcice of $0.69 per share. The warrants have tetergtical to the warrants issued to the
investors in the February 2012 Private Placemdm.fair value of the warrants issued to the cortdertiebenture holders of $156,999 was
based on Black-Scholes and was recorded to additiaid-in capital and interest expense in the eamying consolidated statement of
operations.

During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Compaogived cash proceeds of $571,630 from the exes€isarrants to purchase
742,380 shares of the Company’s common stock avarage exercise price of $0.77 per share.

During the year ended March 31, 2012, the Compssiyeid 36,090 shares of common stock upon the sasttercise of a total of
85,714 warrants at an exercise price of $0.77 lpares

Warrants

A summary of the Company’s warrant activity (otlean those warrants issued to the Company’s emesoyafficers, directors and
related consultants presented in Note 11 below)eladed information during the 2013 fiscal yedidws:

Weighted- Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Number of Share: Exercise Price Life (Years) Intrinsic Value

Outstanding at April 1, 201 36,831,64 $ 1.1z
Grantec 30,00 $ 0.5C
Exercisec — % —
Forfeited (123,370 $ 0.71
Expired (23,929 $ 8.8¢
Outstanding at March 31, 2013 36,714,344 $ 1.12 292 % 60C
Exercisable 36,711,84 $ 1.12 29z % 60C

The following summary information reflects outstarglwarrants to purchase shares of the Companysran stock as of March 31,
2013 and other related details:

Warrants Outstanding

Remaining
Year of Grant Number Contractual
(as of March 31) Exercise Price Outstanding Life (Years)
2008 $ 3.3C 1,728,32 1.7¢
2009 $ 2.81-$ 8.5C 659,88 1.6C
2010 $ 1.91-$ 5.1C 2,769,21! 1.8C
2011 $ 0.77-$ 2.4 21,465,72 2.7:
2012 $ 0.69-$ 1.3¢ 10,061,18 3.9C
2013 $ 0.5C 30,00( 1.07

36,714,34
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Note 11. Stock Compensation Plan
Plan Descriptions

The Company maintains three stock incentive pldres2002 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2002 Plang 2009 Stock Incentive Plan (the
“2009 Plan”) and the 2011 Stock Incentive Plan (@11 Plan”). The 2002 Plan provides for granténg&ntive stock options and
nonqualified options to employees, directors anusatiants of the Company to purchase the Compaises at the fair value, as determined
by management and the board of directors, of shates on the grant date. The options are subjeeirious vesting conditions and generally
vest over a three-year period beginning on thetgtate and have seven to ten-year term. The 20G02dP$0 provides for the granting of
restricted shares of common stock subject to vigségquirements. The Company is authorized to isgu® 500,000 shares under this plan anc
has no shares available for future issuances &0 Plan has expired.

On October 9, 2009, the Company'’s stockholdersaygat and adopted the 2009 Plan, which had previdiestn approved by the
Company'’s Board of Directors on August 31, 200% PR09 Plan provides for the grant of incentivelstaptions, nonqualified stock options,
restricted stock rights, restricted stock, perfanoeashare units, performance shares, performasteavgards, stock appreciation rights, and
stock grant awards (collectively, “Awards”) to emopes, officers, non-employee directors, consutant independent contractors of the
Company. The 2009 Plan also permits the grant afrdsvthat qualify for the “performance-based conspion” exception to the $1,000,000
limitation on the deduction of compensation impobgdection 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Codwotal of 1,200,000 shares of the
Company’s common stock are authorized for the grgrdf Awards under the 2009 Plan. The number efeshavailable for future Awards, as
well as the terms of outstanding Awards, is sulfieetdjustment as provided in the 2009 Plan fackssplits, stock dividends, recapitalizations
and other similar events. Awards may be grantecutite 2009 Plan until the sooner of October 9928¥1until all shares available for Awar
under the 2009 Plan have been purchased or acqiilledCompany is authorized to issue up to 1,2@gdb@res under this plan and as of
March 31, 2013, the Company has 299,741 sharekableafor future Awards under the 2009 Plan.

On September 22, 2011, the Company’s stockholggnoaed and adopted the 2011 Plan, which had pushljidoeen approved by the
Company’s Board of Directors on July 19, 2011. 26&1 Plan provides for the grant of Awards to emeés, officers, noemployee director
and consultants of the Company. The Company’s Cosgi®mn Committee has the authority to determieeype of Award as well as the
amount, terms and conditions of each Award unde2@i1 Plan, subject to the limitations and othievigions of the 2011 Plan. A total of
2,300,000 shares of the Company’s common stockwterized for the granting of Awards under the2Blan. The number of shares
available for Awards, as well as the terms of @utding Awards, is subject to adjustment as provideéte 2011 Plan for stock splits, stock
dividends, recapitalizations and other similar éseAwards may be granted under the 2011 Plan 8aptember 21, 2021 or until all shares
available for Awards under the 2011 Plan have Ipeeohased or acquired unless the stockholderssa€tmpany vote to approve an exten:
of the 2011 Plan prior to such expiration dateoAMarch 31, 2013, the Company has 2,240,418 sleasatable for future Awards under the
2011 Plan.

In addition to the stock options issued pursuarniiéoCompany’s three stock incentive plans, the @ has granted warrants to
employees, officers, non-employee directors, cdasts and independent contractors. The warrantgarerally not subject to vesting
requirements and have ten-year terms.

On November 5, 2012, the Company’s board of dirscappointed Jerrell W. Shelton to serve as owsiéeat and Chief Executive
Officer, effective as of November 5, 2012. In coctien with Mr. Shelton’s appointment as our Prestdd Chief Executive Officer, the
Company entered into an employment agreement wittSklelton, which the parties executed on Noverbb2012. Included in the agreement
was a stock option grant of 1,650,000 options teipase common stock of which 650,000 were issudémtie 2011 stock option plan and
1,000,000 were issued outside of a plan. The fdiresof the options granted under the plan was $809%nd the fair value of options granted
outside of a plan was $169,200. The options vestthiy over six months in equal six month installigen

As of March 31, 2013, a total of 149,537, 886,688 8,059,582 shares of common stock were reseprédsuance upon exercise of
outstanding stock options under the 2002, 200284 Plans, respectively, 1,000,000 were issuesidribf a Plan and a total of 312,855
shares of common stock were reserved for issugmoe exercise of outstanding warrants. A summaitpheiCompany’s employee and director
stock option and warrant activity and related infation during the 2013 fiscal year follows:

Weighted-
Number of Average Remaining Aggregate

Shares Exercise Price Contractual Life Intrinsic Value
Outstanding at April 1, 201 1,667,98 $ 2.4¢
Grantec 4,063,100 $ 0.2¢
Exercisec — 3 —
Canceled (322,500 $ 0.9¢
Outstanding and expected to vest at March 31, 2013 5,408,59 $ 0.97 8.4¢ $ 955,77¢
Exercisable at March 31, 2013 3,857,120 $ 1.14 8.1z $ 688,39
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The following summary information reflects stoghtions and warrants outstanding, vesting and rldétails as of March 31, 2013:

Stock Options and Warrants Outstanding

Remaining

Year of Grant Number Contractual Vested and

(as of March 31) Exercise Price Outstanding Life (Years) Exercisable

2004 $6.00 20,00( 0.5C 20,00(
$0.40 -

2005 $6.00 22,20( 1.34 22,20(
$2.80 -

2007 $10.00 111,33! 3.44 111,33!
$7.50 -

2008 $10.80 88,78( 4.7¢ 88,78(
$5.10 -

2009 $10.50 91,74( 2.87 91,10¢
$4.30 -

2010 $8.30 101,60: 4.0¢ 101,60:
$0.66 —

2011 $1.89 754,83 6.3C 754,83.
$0.86 —

2012 $1.45 165,00( 8.3C 60,00(
$0.17 -

2013 $0.62 4,053,10 9.45 2,607,27

5,408,59 3,857,12!

The Company uses Black-Scholes to recognize theeafl stock-based compensation expense for ak4tased payment awards.

Determining the appropriate fair-value model anidwdating the fair value of stock-based award$atgrant date requires considerable
judgment, including estimating stock price vol#filiexpected option life and forfeiture rates. TBmmpany develops estimates base:
historical data and market information, which charge significantly over time. Black-Scholes regsithe Company to make several key
judgments including

» the expected option term reflects the applicatibthe simplified method set out in Staff AccomgtiBulletin No. 107 Share-Based
Payment (SAB 107), which was issued in March 200®Recember 2007, the SEC released SAB 110, whitdgnds the use of the
“simplified” method, under certain circumstancesdeveloping an estimate of expected term of “plainilla” share options.
Accordingly, the Company has utilized the averafgh® contractual term of the options and the widlaverage vesting period
for all options and warrants to calculate the exgp@option term

« estimated volatility also reflects the historicalatility pattern of the Compar's share price
« the dividend yield is based on the Com(’s historical pattern of dividends as well as expedividend pattern:

« the risk-free rate is based on the implied ymd).S. Treasury notes as of the grant date witnaaining term approximately equal
to the expected terr

» estimated forfeiture rate of 0% per year is bamethe Company’s historical forfeiture activity wivested stock options. The
Company used the following assumptions for stodioog and warrants granted during the years endmativ31, 2013 and 201

Years Ended March 31,

follows:

2013 2012
Risk-free interest rat 0.63%—2.22% 1.15%-2.87%
Expected volatility 124%— 166% 164%—173%
Expected life (in years 2.57-10.00 5.91-7.44
Expected dividend yiel N/A N/A
For the years ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, tightesl-average fair value of the Company’s stodkoopand warrant grants are as
Weighted
Average
Fair Value of

Grant Year Granted Options
March 31, 201! 4,063,100 $ 0.2¢€

March 31, 201: 450,000 $ 1.24
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There were 4,063,109 stock options granted to eyepl®and directors during the year ended MarcR@®13, and 450,000 stock options
granted to employees and directors during the geded March 31, 2012. In connection with the ogtigranted and the vesting of prior
options and warrants issued to employees and digaluring the years ended March 31, 2013 and,28&2ZCompany recorded total charges
of $675,439 and $262,844, respectively, which Haeen included in selling, general and administeatixpenses in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The Comisamgs new shares from its authorized shares upnise of warrants or options.

As of March 31, 2013, there was $425,086 of totebaognized compensation cost, related tovested stock options, which is expec
to be recognized over a remaining weighted avevagéng period of 1.94 years.

There were no employee or director stock optiorsvaarrants exercised during the years ended MatcB@BL3 and 2012.
Note 12. Equity Instruments Issued to Non-Employee®r Acquiring Goods or Services

During April 2012, the Company issued a warraridechase 30,000 shares of the Compsiegmmon stock at an exercise price of $
per share and a two year life to a consultantdovises rendered. The Company recognized $8,54&pense related to this warrant for the
year ended March 31, 201

During December 2011, the Company issued a warogmirchase 155,844 shares of the Compaogimmon stock at an exercise pric
$0.77 per share and a five year life to a consuftarservices to be rendered over two years. Tmsultant terminated his services in May
2012. The Company recognized $8,084 and $16,1&Rpense related to this warrant for the years eiadh 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

During July 2011, the Company issued a warranttcigase 10,000 shares of the Company’s common ataak exercise price of $1.20
per share and a five year life to a consultansévices to be rendered within one year. The Compagognized $8,297 in expense related to
this warrant for the year ended March 31, 2012.

During April 2011, the Company issued a warrarpiiechase 2,500 shares of the Company’s common atak exercise price of $1.38
per share and a five year life to a consultanséwices to be rendered over three years. The Qomeaognized $1,111 and $966 in expense
related to this warrant for the years ended Markch2B13 and 2012, respectively.

On March 7, 2011, the Company entered into an AxlyiServices Agreement with Marc Grossman M.D.rovjale strategic business
advice for which he was issued a fully-vested watrta purchase 200,000 shares of the Company’s @omstock at an exercise price of $0.77
per share and five year life, in addition to ad€&125,000. The fair value of this warrant was 2369 as calculated using Black-Scholes and
was recorded as an other current asset. For thie gaded March 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company niedy$0 and $277,538, respectively
expense related to this warrant and is includeskiling, general and administrative in the accorgpanconsolidated statements of operations

Note 13. Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitment

We currently lease two facilities, with approximgt&1,900 square feet of corporate, research amdldement, and warehouse facilities,
located in Lake Forest, California (“Lake Forestilty”) and approximately 4,100 square feet ofanmate facilities located in San Diego,
California (“San Diego Facility”). In June 2010gtlompany entered into a third amendment to the [Fakest Facility lease and extended the
lease for sixty months commencing July 1, 2010 witight to cancel the lease with a minimum of @29 written notice at any time after
December 31, 2012 and adjusted the base lease ptsytoe range over the life of the agreement gd Y per month to $8,911 per month, |
operating expenses. On April 11, 2011, the Compentigred into an office service agreement with REginagement Group, LLC (Lessor) for
six (6) executive offices in San Diego which then@any terminated effective December 31, 2011. Aggpeebase lease payments for these
offices were approximately $9,250 per month. On &ber 28, 2011, the Company entered into a leasemgnt for the San Diego Facility
for a thirty six month period ending December 31142 Base lease payments range over the life dddheement of $8,621 per month to $9,
per month, plus operating expenses.

Total rental expense was approximately $204,000$623%,000 for the years ended March 31, 2013 add,2@spectively.
Future annual minimum payments under operatingekease as follows:

Years Ending March 31:

2014 $ 212,94¢
2015 192,96t
2016 26,73
2017 —
2018 —

$ 432,64t
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Consulting and Engineering Services

Effective November 1, 2010, the Company enterealanBecond Amendment to Master Consulting and Eegimng Services Agreement
(the “Second Amendment”) with KLATU Networks, LLCKLATU"), which amended the Master Consulting anddineering Services
Agreement between the parties dated as of Octql#0(& (the “Agreement”), as amended by the FirseAdment to Master Consulting and
Engineering Services Agreement between the pattited as of April 23, 2009. The parties entered e Second Amendment to clarify their
mutual intent and understanding that all licengats granted to the Company under the Agreeme@tmasded, shall survive any termination
or expiration of the Agreement. In addition, inaguoition that the Company has paid KLATU less tttmarket rate for comparable services
the Second Amendment provides that if the Companyihates the Agreement without cause, which tha@amy has no intention of doing,
liquidates, KLATU shall be entitled to receive ailntial consideration for its services provided frdta commencement of the Agreement
through such date of termination, which additioc@hpensation shall not be less than $2 million plestimes the “cost of work” (as defined
in the Agreement). Any such additional compensationld be payable in three equal installments witt2 months following the date the
amount of such additional compensation is deterchifdKLATU terminates that agreement, no such pegta are payable.

The agreement provides for one year terms endiri@em@mber 31 of each year, but it automaticallyvenfor one year periods unless
otherwise terminated. Consulting fees for servmesided by KLATU were $401,142 and $494,408 far ytears ended March 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively.

Litigation

The Company may become a party to product litigeitiothe normal course of business. The Companguasdor open claims based on
its historical experience and available insurarmeetage. In the opinion of management, there alegal matters involving the Company that
would have a material adverse effect upon the Cayipdinancial condition or results of operations.

Indemnities and Guarantee

The Company has made certain indemnities and giggasrunder which it may be required to make paysnera guaranteed or
indemnified party, in relation to certain actionsm@nsactions. The guarantees and indemnitieotiprovide for any limitation of the
maximum potential future payments the Company cbeldbligated to make. Historically, the Company hat been obligated nor incurred
any payments for these obligations and, therefardiabilities have been recorded for these indéiesiand guarantees in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets.

The Company indemnifies its directors, officerspogees and agents, as permitted under the latfedtates of California and
Nevada. In connection with its facility leases, @@mpany has indemnified its lessors for certadting$ arising from the use of the facilitis
The duration of the guarantees and indemnitiegsaand is generally tied to the life of the agreein

Note 14. Income Taxes

Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets as of March 31, 2013 and 2012 are sholewbe

2013 2012
Deferred tax asse

Net operating loss carryforwa $ 13,505,00 $ 11,536,00
Research credii 51,00( 32,00(
Expenses recognized for granting of options andamas 1,319,00! 1,046,001
Accrued expenses and reser 32,00( (25,000)
Valuation allowance (14,907,00)  (12,589,00)

$ — $ =
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Based on the weight of available evidence, the Gamis management has determined that it is moedylithan not that the net deferred
tax assets will not be realized. Therefore, the Gamy has recorded a full valuation allowance agaimesnet deferred tax assets. The
Company’s income tax provision consists of stateimiim taxes.

The income tax provision differs from that computisihg the federal statutory rate applied to inctrefre taxes as follows:

2013 2012

Computed tax benefit at federal statutory | $ (2,169,00) $ (2,662,00)
State tax, net of federal bene (359,000 (426,000
Warrant MTM Adjustmen (6,000 (41,000
Interest Expens 1,00( 163,00(
Permanent items and ot 215,60( 35,60(
Valuation allowance 2,319,001 2,932,00!

$ 1,600 $ 1,60(

At March 31, 2013, the Company has federal ané stet operating loss carryforwards of approxima3,244,000 and $31,907,000
which will begin to expire in 2020, unless previlyustilized, and as of 2012 have already begurotcsfate carryforwards. At March 31, 2013,
the Company has federal and California researctdamdlopment tax credits of approximately $18,000 $51,000, respectively. The federal
research tax credit begins to expire in 2026 urpesegiously utilized and the California researchdeedit has no expiration date.

Utilization of the net operating loss and reseaneti development carryforwards might be subjectdolsstantial annual limitation due to
ownership change limitations that may have occuoretthat could occur in the future, as requiredBegtion 382 of the Internal Revenue Code
of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), as well as simsilate and foreign provisions. These ownershimgas may limit the amount of NOL and
R&D credit carryforwards that can be utilized anhuto offset future taxable income and tax, regpwety. In general, an “ownership change”
as defined by Section 382 of the Code results fidnansaction or series of transactions over &tfiear period resulting in an ownership
change of more than 50 percentage points of theanding stock of a company by certain stockholdepublic groups. Since the Company’s
formation, the Company has raised capital throbghgsuance of capital stock on several occasidshywcombined with the purchasing
stockholders’ subsequent disposition of those shanay have resulted in such an ownership chamgmubd result in an ownership change in
the future upon subsequent disposition.

The Company has not completed a study to asseshevian ownership change has occurred. If the Cognpas experienced an
ownership change, utilization of the NOL or R&D ditscarryforwards would be subject to an annualtition under Section 382 of the Code,
which is determined by first multiplying the valoéthe Company’s stock at the time of the ownersiignge by the applicable long-term, tax-
exempt rate, and then could be subject to additdjastments, as required. Any limitation may tesuexpiration of a portion of the NOL or
R&D credit carryforwards before utilization. Furthentil a study is completed and any limitatiorki®wn, no amounts are being considere
an uncertain tax position or disclosed as an umg@zed tax benefit. Due to the existence of theatdn allowance, future changes in the
Company’s unrecognized tax benefits will not impé&ceffective tax rate. Any carryforwards thatlvekpire prior to utilization as a result of
such limitations will be removed from deferred &sets with a corresponding reduction of the valnatllowance.
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Note 15. Quarterly Results of Operations (unauditep

The following table sets forth a summary of ourudhited quarterly operating results for each oflést eight quarters in the period endec
March 31, 2013. This data has been derived fronuoaudited consolidated interim financial stateraevitich, in our opinion, have been
prepared on substantially the same basis as thieedwidnsolidated financial statements containedvehere in this report and include all
normal recurring adjustments necessary for a faisgntation of the financial information for theipds presented. These unaudited quarterly
results should be read in conjunction with our atidated financial statements and notes theretoded elsewhere in this report. The
operating results in any quarter are not necegdadicative of the results that may be expectedafty future period (in thousands except
earnings per share).

Quarter Ended
Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30,

2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011
unaudited

Revenues: $ 36 $ 307 $ 234 $ 191 $ 177 $ 144 $ 111 $ 124
Cost of revenues 521 36¢ 34E 354 33C 34E 364 35E
Gross loss (159) (62) (111 (169) (159) (201) (259) (231)
Research and developmt 12C 94 10z 10¢ 14t 121 12t 101
Selling, general and

administrative 1,40¢ 1,397 1,341 1,26¢ 1,17: 1,74(C 1,56¢ 1,62¢
Total operating expenses 1,52¢ 1,485 1,44 1,37¢ 1,31¢ 1,861 1,68¢ 1,72¢
Loss from operation (1,68)) (1,549 (1,559 (1,547 (1,477 (2,062 (1,947 (1,960
Other (expense) income, r (36) (18) 3 (5) (19¢) (18) (88 (92
Loss before income tax (1,719 (1,567%) (1,55)) (1,546 (1,669) (2,080 (2,030 (2,057)
Income taxes — — 2 — — — 2
Net loss $ (4,719 $ (1569 $ (1559 $ (1540 $ (1,669 $ (2,080 $ (2,030 $ (2,059
Net loss per common sha

Basic and diluted (0.05) (0.04) (0.04) (0.09) (0.06) (0.07) (0.07) (0.07)
Weighted average commo

shares outstandin
Basic 37,76 37,76 37,76 37,76 32,01« 28,24 27,967 27,69(
Diluted 37,76 37,76 37,76 37,76 32,01« 28,24° 27,96° 27,69(

Note 16. Subsequent Events

In the first quarter of fiscal year 2014, the Compa&sued to certain accredited investors an additi$608,751 in Bridge Notes with the
same terms as described under Note 8. These addiBoidge Notes include $100,000 from one of oaafsl Members, Richard Rathmann.
of June 17, 2013 the total principal amount ofBhielge Notes was $1,903,251.

In May 2013, the Company issued 500,000 sharesrafion stock upon the exercise of options at anceseeprice of $0.20 per share
total gross proceeds of $100,000.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyisthas duly caused this Report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theoeduly authorized.

CRYOPORT, INC.

Dated: June 25, 2013 By: /S/JERRELL W. SHELTOM
Jerrell W. Shelton
Chief Executive Officer and
Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of 1
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsdted:

Signature Title Date
/sl ERRELL W. SHELTON Chief Executive Officer and Director (Princif&tecutive June 25, 2013
Officer)
Jerrell W. Shelton
/s/ ROBERT S. STEFANOVICH Chief Financial Officer (Principal FinancialdaAccounting June 25, 2013
Officer)

Robert S. Stefanovict

/s/ AbAM M. MICHELIN Director June 25, 2013
Adam M. Michelin

/s/ KAREN M. MULLER Director June 25, 2013
Karen M. Muller

/s/ RICHARD G. RATHMANN Director June 25, 2013
Richard G. Rathmann

/s/ STEPHEN E. WASSERMAN Director June 25, 2013
Stephen E. Wassermai
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporatibthe Company, as amended. Incorporated byemede to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Compan’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2!

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Compéamgorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the @amy’s Current Report
on Form K dated October 23, 201

3.3 Cryoport Systems, Inc. 2002 Stock IncentileanRdopted by the Board of Directors on Octob&0D2. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.13 to the Comp’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

41.1 Form of Debenture—Original Issue Discot 8ecured Convertible Debenture dated Septemb&0Pd.,. Incorporated
by reference to Cryopcs Registration Statement on Form-2 dated November 9, 20C

41.2 Amendment to Convertible Debenture datdarigay 19, 2008. Incorporated by reference to Coyop Current Report on
Form &K dated March 7, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1.

4.1.3 Amendment to Convertible Debenture datedl 80, 2008. Incorporated by reference to Cryojsatiurrent Report on
Form ¢-K dated April 30, 2008 and referred to as Exhilfit1111.

41.4 Annex to Amendment to Convertible Debentlated April 30, 2008. Incorporated by referenc€tgoport’'s Current
Report on Form-K dated April 30, 2008 and referred to as Exhilfit1111.1.

4.1.5 Amendment to Convertible Debenture dategust29, 2008. Incorporated by reference to CrytgQurrent Report on
Form &K dated August 29, 200

4.1.6 Amendment to Convertible Debenture effective Jayp@adr 2009 and dated February 20, 2009. Incorpodiayereference t
Cryopor’s Current Report on Forn-K dated February 19, 200

4.1.7 Amendment to Debentures and Warrants witdible Growth Partners LP, Enable Opportunity Pasth®, Pierce
Diversified Strategy Master Fund LLC, Ena, Bridgef®® Master Fund Ltd. and Cryoport Inc. dated Sapier 1, 2009.
Incorporated by reference to Cryof's Current Report on Forn-K dated September 17, 20(

4.1.8 Amendment to Debentures and Warrants, Ageatand Waiver with Enable Growth Partners LP H®pportunity
Partners LP, Pierce Diversified Strategy MasterdHuinC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fund Ltd. and Corvpnc. dated
January 12, 2010. Incorporated by reference to iim's Current Report on Forn-K dated January 15, 201

4.1.9 Amendment Agreement with Enable Growthrigast LP, Enable Opportunity Partners LP, PierceBified Strategy
Master Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fund attd Cryoport Inc. dated February 1, 2010. Incaafeat by referenc
to Cryopor's Current Report on Forn-K dated February 3, 201

4.1.10 Amended and Restated Amendment Agreematit&nable Growth Partners LP, Enable OpportuR#ytners LP, Pierce
Diversified Strategy Master Fund LLC, Ena, Bridgef® Master Fund Ltd. and Cryoport Inc. dated
February 19, 2010. Incorporated by reference t@@oy’'s Current Report on Forn-K dated February 26, 201

4.1.11 First Amendment to Amended and Restatedsiment Agreements with Enable Growth PartnersHaple Opportunity
Partners LP, Pierce Diversified Strategy MasterdHuinC, Ena, BridgePointe Master Fund Ltd. and Cordpnc. dated
February 23, 2010. Incorporated by reference t@o@oy's Current Report on Forn-K dated February 26, 201

4.2 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant dagpdeShber 28, 2007. Incorporated by reference togimt's Registration

Statement on Form $2 dated November 9, 20C
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4.6

4.7

4.8

4.9

4.10

411

412

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

4.17

4.18

4.19

10.1.1

10.1.2

10.1.3

10.1.4

Original Issue Discount 8% Secured Convextibébenture dated May 30, 2008. Incorporated lgreete to Cryoport's
Current Report on Formr-K dated June 9, 200

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May@@B.2ncorporated by reference to Cryoport’s CurReport on Form 8-
K dated June 9, 20(

Common Stock Purchase Warrant dated May@@B.2ncorporated by reference to Cryoport’s CurReport on Form 8-
K dated June 9, 20(

Form of Warrant and Warrant Certificate imwection with the February 25, 2010 public offeritrgcorporated by
reference to Cryopc’'s Amendment No. 5 to Forn-1/A Registration Statement dated February 9, 2

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement in ection with the August to October 2010 private plaent. Incorporated by
reference to Cryopc's Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201

Form of First Amendment to Security Purchageeement in connection with the August to Octa®@t0 private
placement. Incorporated by reference to Cryc's Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement (Coation of the Placement) in connection with the #stgo October 2010
private placement. Incorporated by reference tm@oyt's Registration Statement on Form S-1 dated
October 19, 201(

Registration Rights Agreement in connectiith the August to October 2010 private placembrorporated by reference
to Cryopor's Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

Form of Joinder to Registration Rights Agneat in connection with the August to October 2ftiGate placement.
Incorporated by reference to Cryof' s Registration Statement on For-1 dated October 19, 201

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement imection with the February 2011 private placemerdoiporated by reference
to Cryopor's Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011

Form of Registration Rights Agreement inrexstion with the February 2011 private placemertotporated by reference
to Cryopor's Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated April 1, 2011

Form of Warrant in connection with the AuigiesOctober 2010 private placement. Incorporatedetference to Cryoport’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1/A dated April 22, 2011

Form of Warrant in connection with the Felbip2011 private placement. Incorporated by refezdn Cryoport's
Registration Statement on FoS-1/A dated April 22, 2011

Form of Securities Purchase Agreement. parated by reference to Cryoport’s Current RepbRaym 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 24, 201

Form of Registration Rights Agreement. Ipooated by reference to Cryoport’s Current RepbRarm 8-K filed with the
SEC on February 24, 201

Form of Warrant. Incorporated by referemc€tyoport’s Current Report of Form 8-K filed witthe SEC on February 24,
2012.

Warrant issued to Rodman & Renshaw, LLComnection with the February 25, 2010 public offgrimcorporated by
reference to CryoP('s Registration Statement on Fori-1 dated October 19, 201

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippoc. and D. Petreccia executed on August 26520@®orporated by
reference to Cryopc's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and J. Dell executed on September 1, 2D@orporated by reference
to Cryopor's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippoc. and P. Mullens executed on September 25 2@@orporated by
reference to Cryopc's Registration Statement on Fornm-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(

Commercial Promissory Note between Cryippac. and R. Takahashi executed on August 2552B@orporated by
reference to Cryopc's Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A4 dated February 23, 20(
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10.5.1

10.5.2

10.5.3

10.6

10.7

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

Lease Agreement dated June 26, 2007 bet@es®Port, Inc. and Viking Investors—Barents Seé&LIncorporated by
reference to Cryoport’s Quarterly Report on ForrfQ$B for the quarter ended June 30, 2007 and esf¢oras Exhibit
10.5.

Second Amendment To Lease: Renewal datgd# 24, 2009, between CryoPort, Inc. and Vikimgehtors-Barents Sea
LLC. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport's AmemraitiNo. 1 to Form S-1/A Registration Statementdidsnuary 12,
2010.

Third Amendment to Lease: Renewal dated June &) Befween Viking Investors Barents Sea, LL

Securities Purchase Agreement dated Septeavib2007. Incorporated by reference to Cryopdregjistration Statement
on Form SI-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhiba.

Registration Rights Agreement dated Septe@be2007. Incorporated by reference to Cryopdreglistration Statement
on Form SI-2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exbibit.

Security Agreement dated September 27, 286@rporated by reference to Cryoport's Registratstatement on Form SB-
2 dated November 9, 2007 and referred to as Exhib&.

Securities Purchase Agreement dated Ma2@®IB. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport’'s EntriReport on Form 8-K
dated June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1

Registration Rights Agreement dated May2B08. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport’s €niriReport on Form 8-K
dated June 9, 2008 and referred to as Exhibit 1

Waiver dated May 30, 2008. Incorporateddigrence to Cryoport’s Current Report on Form 8ated June 9, 2008 and
referred to as Exhibit 10.1

Security Agreement dated May 30, 2008.ripaated by reference to Cryoport’s Current ReparForm 8K dated June !
2008 and referred to as Exhibit 10.
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10.151

10.15.2

10.15.3

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

Consent, Waiver and Agreement with Enalsav@ Partners LP, Enable Opportunity PartnersRiBrce Diversified
Strategy Master Fund LLC, Ena, BridgePointe MaBterd Ltd. and Cryoport Inc. and its subsidiary dately 30, 2009.
Incorporated by reference to Cryoy's Current Report on Forn-K dated July 29, 2009 and referred to as Exhibi18(

Master Consulting and Engineering Sesvisgreement dated October 9, 2007 with KLATU NetkgoLLC and CryoPort,
Inc. Incorporated by reference to Cryoport, InRegistration Statement on Form S-8 dated Marcl2@89 and referred to
as Exhibit 10.2

First Amendment to Master Consulting Bndineering Services Agreement dated as of AptiB®9, between CryoPort,
Inc. and KLATU Networks, LLC. Incorporated by red@ce to Cryoport’s Registration Statement on ForiviASdated
December 17, 2010 and referred to as Exhibit 1(

Second Amendment to Master Consultingeargineering Services Agreement dated as of Novethkd#)10, between
CryoPort, Inc. and KLATU Networks, LLC. Incorpordtby reference to Cryoport’'s Registration StatenoenEorm S-1/A
dated December 17, 2010 and referred to as ExtiO33.

Stock Option Agreement ISO under the 2a02KsIncentive Plan of Cryoport Systems, Inc. Inpaoated by reference to
Exhibit 3.14 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

Stock Option Agreement NSO under the 2G62kSncentive Plan of Cryoport Systems, Inc. Ipayated by reference to
Exhibit 3.15 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Forn-SB/A2 dated January 26, 20(

2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Compangorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 of tlwmpanys Current Report ¢
Form ¢-K dated October 9, 2009 and referred to as Exhibi2l.

Form Incentive Stock Option Award Agreemamder the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan of the Compharoprporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Comp’s Current Report on Forn-K dated October 9, 200

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Awardragment under the 2009 Stock Incentive Plan oCthmpany. Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.25 of the Comp’s Registration Statement on For-8 dated April 27, 201(

2011 Stock Incentive Plan (as amendedestdted). Incorporated by reference to Exhibif Bxe Company’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed with the SEQuly 30, 2012

Form of Stock Option Award Agreement. Ipavated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 to Registsa@urrent Report on
Form &K filed with the SEC on September 27, 20

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Awardragment. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@03Registrant’s Current
Report on Form-K filed with the SEC on September 27, 20

Form of Convertible Promissory Note
Form of Amendment to Convertible Promissory No

Form of Convertible Promissory Note
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10.27 Employment Agreement between the Companylamdll Shelton. Incorporated by reference toGbepany’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on November 6, 2012 and referred to as Bixti0.45.

10.28 Stock Option Agreement dated November 5, 2012 ketvtlee Company and Jerrell Shelto

10.29 Master Agreement between the Company and&deepress Corporation dated January 1, 2013r¢otporated by
reference to the Compa's Current Report on Forn-K filed on January 8, 2013 and referred to as BxAib.1.

21 Subsidiaries of Registran

23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriiing—KMJ Corbin & Company LLP.

31.1 Rule 13-14(a)/15¢14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

31.2 Rule 13+14(a)/15¢14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer

32.1 Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. §1350 of Chief &xéve Officer.*

32.2 Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. 81350 of Chiefdfinial Officer.*

101.INS*** XBRL Instance Document.

101.SCH*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Documel

101.CAL*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docute

101.DEF*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhé&r

101.LAB*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Documel

101.PRE*** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doentr

* Filed herewitt
**  Portions omitted pursuant to a request for confidétreatment filed separately with the Commiss
***  Pursuant to applicable securities laws and ilagans, we are deemed to have complied with thenténg obligation relating to the

submission of interactive data files in such exisilind are not subject to liability under any drgtisd provisions of the federal securities

laws as long as we have made a good faith attesguirhply with the submission requirements and ptyrgmend the interactive data
files after becoming aware that the interactiveadigs fail to comply with the submission requirems. Users of this data are advised
that, pursuant to Rule 406T, these interactive filemare deemed not filed and otherwise are ubjext to liability.
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Exhibit 10.5.3
THIRD AMENDMENT TO LEASE: RENEWAL
PARTIES

This amendment is executed in Lake Forest, Cali#on June 8th, 2010, by and between VIKING INVR®IS BARENTS SEA,
LLC, ("Lessor"}, and CRYOPORT SYSTEMS, INC. ("Lessg for the property known as 20382 Barents Sede; Lake Forest,
California.

RECITALS

Lessor and Lessee being parties to that certage ldated June 26, 2007. attached hereto as EX&ibihereby express their mutual
desire to extend the lease per the terms and éomsliof this Third Amendment To Lease: Renewal.

AMENDMENTS

'LEASE TERM": The lease term shall be extendedafoadditional sixty (60) months.
commencing July 1, 2010 and shall expire June G052

"RENT" shall hereinafter be paid as follows:

July 1, 2010 - June 30, 201 1: Base rent shall7@1® NNN per month.
July 1. 2011 -June 30. 2012; Base rent shall b2487NNN per month.
July 1. 2012- June 30, 2013; Base rent shall bg0#/NNN per month.
July 1, 2013 - June 30, 2014; Base rent shall hEa83NNN per month.
July 1. 2014 - June 30, 2015; Base rent shall h@148NNN per month.

In addition to the Base Rent Lessee shall be resiplenfor additional NNN charges according to thevisions of the original lease.
The NNN charges shall not increase by more tharc@&tpounded annually. Furthermore, Lessee shabbaditible to pay an increase
in property taxes triggered by a possible saléefaroperty.

"CANCELLATION CLAUSE": Lessee shall have the rightcancel the lease with a minimum of 120 day emithotice at anytime as
of December 31, 2012. In the event Lessee doesisgédts option to cancel the lease. Lessee shiatliurse Lessor of the unearned
leasing commissions paid to Cresa Partners.

'LANDLORD'S OBLIGATION"; Lessor shall be responksibduring the initial term and any extensions ¢teyfor all capital repairs
or replacements (as defined by generally acceptesuating principles) related to the these systéng.ongoing maintenance
charges shall be part of the NNN charges payablecsgee.

"TENANT IMPROVEMENTS": Lessor shall as soon as mebly possible steam clean the existing carpgtydpuch-up paint
where necessary in the office area and Lessor wdair the moisture seepage problem in the dovvasiffice area.

"OPTION TO EXTEND"; Lessee shall have one (1) ¢h{®) year Option to Extend. The extension rerattd and terms shall be at the
then prevailing market terms and conditions for pamble space in comparable buildings in the Migihiessee shall give Lessor a
minimum of one hundred eighty (180) days prior teritnotice.




"ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING"; Lessee shall have thight to sublease or assign any portion of therergppace to ar
related entity, parent company, subsidiary oriafél without Lessor's consent. Lessee shall haweight to sublease or assign any
portion of the space to any other subtenant witksbhes written consent, which shall not be unrealslyrwithheld or delayed. Lessor
shall have no right to recapture said space amutadleeds attributable to any assignment or sublstaall inure to the benefit of
Lessee.

INCORPORATION

Except as modified herein, all other terms and @@ of the lease between the parties above itbestras attached hereto, shall
continue in full force and effect.

In Witness Whereof, Lessor and Lessee have exethitedmendment as of the day and year first abwiteen.
LESSOR: VIKING INVESTORS BARENTS SEA LLC

/S/ JarErik Palm
Jar-Erik Palm, Managing Memb

LESSEE: CRYOPORT SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ Bret Bollinge!
Bret Bollinger, VP of Operatior




Exhibit 10.24

THE ISSUANCE OF THIS PROMISSORY NOTE, AND THE SECIORES INTO WHICH IT IS CONVERTIBLE (COLLECTIVELY, HE
“ SECURITIES”), HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE UNITED STATES SERITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Ol
THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY STATE. THE SECURBS ARE BEING OFFERED PURSUANT TO CLAIME
EXEMPTIONS FROM REGISTRATION UNDER REGULATION D PRJLGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, /
AMENDED (THE “ ACT” ). THE SECURITIES ARE “ RESTRICTED SECURITIESAND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR RESOL
UNLESS THE SECURITIES ARE REGISTERED UNDER THE ACDR ELIGIBLE TO BE OFFERED OR SOLD PURSUANT TO ,
APPLICABLE EXEMPTION FROM SUCH REGISTRATION REQUIREENTS. THE COMPANY MAY REQUIRE THAT IT Bl
PROVIDED WITH OPINION OF COUNSEL OR OTHER SUCH INRMATION AS IT MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO CONFIRN
THAT SUCH EXEMPTIONS ARE AVAILABLE. FURTHER, HEDGIK TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THE SECURITIES MAY NO
BE MADE EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACT.

CRYOPORT, INC.

US $
This Promissory Note (theNote”) is issued as of , 201 by CRYOPORT; INa Nevada corporation (th&€bmpany'),
to (togetlithr its permitted successors and assigns, thelofder ") with an addres
of pursuant to ei@msgdrom registration under the Securities Acl883, as amended.

ARTICLE I.

Section 1.0Principal and Interest . The Company hereby promises to pay the principal sbUS $ | pursuant to the te
hereof and to pay interest to the Holder on suafcjpal balance from the date hereof. From the tateof until January 31, 2013, interest ¢
accrue at the rate of fifteen percent (15%) peuanand from February 1, 2013 through the date pfrmt, interest shall accrue at the ral
five percent (5%) per annum.

Section 1.0Maturity Date . All unpaid principal and accrued interest hereurstel| be paid on December 31, 2013.

Section 1.03Pptional Conversion to Preferred Stock. The Company is currently in negotiations with prdjve investors for tt
issuance by the Company of preferred shares whelt@templated to be convertible into common stafcthe Company. The terms of s
preferred shares have yet to be established anel ¢he be no assurance that such preferred shdrég wesued. In the event, however, thai
Company shall authorize and offer preferred shat@ke the Note is outstanding, the Company willypde written notice to the Holder of 1
offer of such shares and the Holder shall haveofiteon during the ten days following such noticeetect to convert all or a portion of -
principal and accrued interest under this Note thto offered shares. The Company shall not issatiémal shares upon a conversion. Ii
application of the Conversion price shall contertgplasuance of less than a half share, such fredt&hare shall not be issued and no pay
shall be made to the converting Holder and shoutth sapplication result in the issuance of a hal§@ater fractional share, such fractic
share shall be rounded up to the next full share.

ARTICLE II.

Section 2.0INo Prepayment. This Note may not be prepaid by the Company wittle express written consent of the Holder.




Section 2.02ari Passu With Other Notes. The payment of this Note and other similar nagssed for up to an aggregate princ
sum of $3,000,000 shall be made in full by the Camypand if the Company is unable to fully repaysalth notes, then payment shall be
pari passu basis.

ARTICLE III.

Section 3.0Re-issuance of Note Should the Holder elect to convert a part, butaiptof the unpaid principal amount then owini
the Holder under this Note, then the Company sk#ébue a new Note in the same form as this Noteftect the new principal amount and
accrued unpaid interest which was not converted.

Section 3.02\otices. Notices regarding this Note shall be sent to thtigmat the following addresses, unless a partifie®the othe
parties, in writing, of a change of address:

If to the Holder, to:

If to the Company Cryoport, Inc.
20382 Barents Sea Circ
Lake Forest, CA 9210

Section 3.035overning Law . This Note shall be deemed to be made under antlshabnstrued in accordance with the laws o
state of Nevada without giving effect to the prpads of conflict of laws thereof.

Section 3.045everability . The invalidity of any of the provisions of this Moshall not invalidate or otherwise affect anyhaf bthe
provisions of this Note, which shall remain in fidrce and effect.

Section 3.0%FEntire Agreement and Amendments. This Note represents the entire agreement betweeparties hereto with resp
to the subject matter hereof and there are no septations, warranties or commitments, except @fodh herein. This Note may be amen
only by an instrument in writing executed by theties hereto.

Section 3.06No Waiver, Cumulative Remedies No failure to exercise and no delay in exercisimg the part any party, any ric
remedy, power or privilege hereunder, shall opeasta waiver thereof, nor shall any single or phekercise of any right, remedy, powe
privilege hereunder preclude any other or furthereise thereof or the exercise of any other rightedy, power or privilege. The rigt
remedies, powers and privileges herein provideccamsulative and not exhaustive of any rights, reesgdoowers and privileges provided
law.

Section 3.0 Waiver of Trial by Jury . To the extent permitted by applicable Law, eatthe parties irrevocably waives all right
trial by jury in any action, proceeding or countamm arising out of or in connection with this Naeany matter arising hereunder.

Section .3.08.egal Holidays. In any case where the date on which any paynsesié to any Holder shall not be a business day
any such payment need not be made on such dateyayube made on the next succeeding business dhythvéi same force and effect a
made on the date on which nominally due, and rexéist shall accrue for the period from and aftgrsaarch nominal date.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, with the intent to be legallgund hereby, the Company as executed this Noté #e alate first writte
above.

CRYOPORT, INC.

By:

a duly authorized office




Exhibit 10.25
AMENDMENT TO PROMISSORY NOTE

This Amendment to Promissory Note (theAfnendment) amends that certain Promissory Note issued by CRY®R INC., i

Nevada corporation (tt* Company’), dated as of the date, to the holder, and in ttgirai principal amount as set forth on the sigrapag
hereto (the ‘Note”).

2.

For valuable consideration, the receipt and swficy of which are hereby acknowledged, the pahiesby agree as follows:
Section 1.03 of the Note is hereby deleted anchogl with the following

Section 1.03onversion to Equity Options. The Company is currently in negotiations with guective investors for t
issuance by the Company of equity securities. Tlsesarities may be common stock or preferred stmtkmay or may not invol
the issuance of warrants to purchase equity irCvapany. The terms of such equity securities hatéoy/be established and there
be no assurance that such equity securities wilsdged. In the event, however, that the Companyl &sue one or more types
equity securities (a Transaction”) before the maturity of this Note, the Company shraleach event notify the Holder in writi
within ten (10) days of such issuance of the teofithe Transaction and the Holder shall have th@ppuntil the later of (a) ten (1
days after such notice or (b) December 15, 20J8ect in writing to convert all or a portion of tpencipal and accrued interest un
this Note into the equity securities that were éskby the Company on the same terms that the Coripamed said securities in sl
Transaction. The Company shall not issue fractista@res upon a conversion. If the application & @onversion price sh
contemplate issuance of less than a half sharé, fsactional share shall not be issued and no paysteall be made to the converi
Holder and should such application result in tseidmice of a half or greater fractional share, $tatttional share shall be roundec
to the next full share.

This Amendment may be executed in amyler of counterparts, each of which shall be agiral, but all of which together sh

constitute one instrument. Facsimile and/or ottexteonically transmitted signatures shall be effecfor all purposes.

3.

Other than as set forth in this Amendinall of the terms and conditions of the Notellst@ntinue in full force and effect.
[The remainder of this page has been intentionaftyblank.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettliss Amendment to Promissory Note as of the datdirst set forth above.




Dated: , 2013 CRYOPORT, INC.

By:

a duly authorized office

Agreed and acknowledged:

Signature
Date of Promissory Note: , 2013

Holder :

Original Principal Amount :




Exhibit 10.26

THE ISSUANCE OF THIS PROMISSORY NOTE, AND THE SECIORES INTO WHICH IT IS CONVERTIBLE (COLLECTIVELY, HE
“ SECURITIES”), HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED WITH THE UNITED STATES SERITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Ol
THE SECURITIES COMMISSION OF ANY STATE. THE SECURBS ARE BEING OFFERED PURSUANT TO CLAIME
EXEMPTIONS FROM REGISTRATION UNDER REGULATION D PRJLGATED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, /
AMENDED (THE “ ACT” ). THE SECURITIES ARE “ RESTRICTED SECURITIESAND MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR RESOL
UNLESS THE SECURITIES ARE REGISTERED UNDER THE ACDR ELIGIBLE TO BE OFFERED OR SOLD PURSUANT TO ,
APPLICABLE EXEMPTION FROM SUCH REGISTRATION REQUIREENTS. THE COMPANY MAY REQUIRE THAT IT Bl
PROVIDED WITH OPINION OF COUNSEL OR OTHER SUCH INRMATION AS IT MAY REASONABLY REQUIRE TO CONFIRN
THAT SUCH EXEMPTIONS ARE AVAILABLE. FURTHER, HEDGIK TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING THE SECURITIES MAY NO
BE MADE EXCEPT IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACT.

CRYOPORT, INC.

US $
This Promissory Note (theNote”) is issued as of __,2013 by CRYOPART, ., a Nevada corporation (th&Cbmpan
"), to (begetvith its permitted successors and assigns,” thiolder ") with an addres
of pursuant to ei@msgdrom registration under the Securities Acl883, as amended.

ARTICLE I.

Section 1.0Principal and Interest . The Company hereby promises to pay the principal sbUS $ | pursuant to the te
hereof and to pay interest to the Holder on sudghcpral balance from the date hereof. From the dateof through the date of paym
interest shall accrue at the rate of five percB#i)(per annum.

Section 1.0Maturity Date . All unpaid principal and accrued interest hereurstel| be paid on December 31, 2013.

Section 1.0%onversion to Equity Options. The Company is currently in negotiations withgpective investors for the issuance
the Company of equity securities. These securnitiag be common stock or preferred stock and mayagr mot involve the issuance of warre
to purchase equity in the Company. The terms df ity securities have yet to be establishedtlagic can be no assurance that such ¢
securities will be issued. In the event, howesait the Company shall issue one or more typesuifyesecurities (a Transaction”) before th
maturity of this Note, the Company shall in eaclerdgwnotify the Holder in writing within ten (10) @& of such issuance of the terms of
Transaction and the Holder shall have the optidii the later of (a) ten (10) days after such netic (b) December 15, 2013 to elect in wri
to convert all or a portion of the principal anataed interest under this Note into the equity s&es that were issued by the Company or
same terms that the Company issued said secuntish Transaction. The Company shall not issaetifsnal shares upon a conversion. I
application of the Conversion price shall conterteplasuance of less than a half share, such fradtghare shall not be issued and no pay
shall be made to the converting Holder and shoutth sapplication result in the issuance of a hal§@ater fractional share, such fractic
share shall be rounded up to the next full share.




ARTICLE II.
Section 2.0NNo Prepayment. This Note may not be prepaid by the Company wittle express written consent of the Holder.
Section 2.02ari Passu With Other Notes. The payment of this Note and other similar nadssed for up to an aggregate princ

sum of $3,000,000 shall be made in full by the Camypand if the Company is unable to fully repaysalth notes, then payment shall be
pari passu basis.

ARTICLE III.

Section 3.0Re-issuance of Note Should the Holder elect to convert a part, butaiptof the unpaid principal amount then owini
the Holder under this Note, then the Company skabkue a new Note in the same form as this Noteflect the new principal amount and
accrued unpaid interest which was not converted.

Section 3.0Noatices. Notices regarding this Note shall be sent to théigmat the following addresses, unless a partijie® the othe
parties, in writing, of a change of address:

If to the Holder, to:

If to the Company Cryoport, Inc.
20382 Barents Sea Circ
Lake Forest, CA 9210

Section 3.0350verning Law . This Note shall be deemed to be made under antlshabnstrued in accordance with the laws o
state of Nevada without giving effect to the prpads of conflict of laws thereof.

Section 3.045everability . The invalidity of any of the provisions of this Moshall not invalidate or otherwise affect anyltef pthe
provisions of this Note, which shall remain in fidtce and effect.

Section 3.0%Entire Agreement and Amendments. This Note represents the entire agreement betweseparties hereto with resp
to the subject matter hereof and there are no septations, warranties or commitments, except @b herein. This Note may be amen
only by an instrument in writing executed by thetiea hereto.

Section 3.06No Waiver, Cumulative Remedies No failure to exercise and no delay in exercisiog the part any party, any ric
remedy, power or privilege hereunder, shall opesata waiver thereof, nor shall any single or phakercise of any right, remedy, powe
privilege hereunder preclude any other or furthesreise thereof or the exercise of any other rightedy, power or privilege. The rigt
remedies, powers and privileges herein provideccamsulative and not exhaustive of any rights, reesgdoowers and privileges provided
law.

Section 3.07Waiver of Trial by Jury . To the extent permitted by applicable Law, eatthe parties irrevocably waives all right
trial by jury in any action, proceeding or countamm arising out of or in connection with this Naeany matter arising hereunder.




Section .3.08.egal Holidays. In any case where the date on which any paynsesié to any Holder shall not be a business day
any such payment need not be made on such dateyayube made on the next succeeding business dhythvei same force and effect a
made on the date on which nominally due, and rexést shall accrue for the period from and aftgrsaarch nominal date.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, with the intent to be legallgund hereby, the Company as executed this Noté e alate first writte
above.

CRYOPORT, INC.

By:

a duly authorized office




Exhibit 10.28
STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

This Stock Option Agreement (“Agreement”) is betwe@ryoPort, Inc. (“Company”) anderrell Shelton (the “Optionee”),and it
effective as of théth day ofNovember, 2012(“Grant Date”).

RECITALS
A. The Company is granting the option toghase shares of the CompaZommon Stock contained in this Agreement pur:
to the terms of that certain Employment Agreemesitwben Optionee and the Company dated NovembeOE? Zthe Employmen
Agreement”).
B. The Employment Agreement and the grénhe option to purchase shares of the Comma@dmmon Stock contained in t
Agreement has been approved by the Board of Direabthe Company (the “Boardgnd by the Compensation Committee of the Boa
Directors of the Company (the “Committegirsuant to the Unanimous Written Consent of tharBand Committee dated November 5, 2!

AGREEMENT

In consideration of the mutual covenants and carithereinafter set forth and for other good aaldiable consideration, the rect
and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledghd,Gompany and the Optionee agree as follows:

2. Grant of Option. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Compaants to the Optionee the right and option ta:pas!
from the Company all or any part of an aggregat#,000,000shares of the Common Stock of the Company (“Opjiofitie Option grante
under this Agreemeris not intended to be an “incentive stock optiamider Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Coded861as amend
(the “Code”).

3. Purchase Price. The purchase price under this Agreemer#d<20per share of Common Stock of the Company (“Sthck’
which is equal to the fair market value of a star8tock on the Grant Date.

4. Vesting of Option. The Option shall vest and be exercisable accortirtge following schedule:
1/6 of the option vests on theSof each month for six months beginning on 12/5/2048d ending on 5/5/2013;
provided, that, pursuant to Section 12 below, stedting will be accelerated in the event of a CleamigControl (as defined in Section 12).
5. Exercise of Option This Option may be exercised, to the extent ve@iader Section 4 above), in whole or in part at timg

before the Option expires by delivery of a writtastice of exercise (under Section 7 below) and paymof the purchase price in cash or ¢
other method permitted by the Committee under 8e@&iand communicated to the Optionee before tteetia Optionee exercises the Option




6. Payment. The Committee may determine methods other thah bg which the exercise price of the Option mayai, thi
form of payment, including, without limitation, dagpromissory note, shares of Stock held for lorigan six months (through actual tende
by attestation), any net-issuance arrangement fegr qgtroperty acceptable to the Committee (includingker-assisted “cashless exercise
arrangements), and the methods by which sharetok Shall be delivered or deemed to be deliveoetie Optionee.

7. Method of Exercising Option Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Opti@y be exercised by timely delivery to
Company of written notice, which notice shall bieefive on the date received by the Company. Thie@shall state the Optionaselection t
exercise the Option and the number of underlyirayeshin respect of which an election to exerciselde®n made. Such notice shall be si
by the Optionee, or if the Option is exercised tpeason or persons other than the Optionee beadube Optionees death, such notice m
be signed by such other person or persons andshatcompanied by proof acceptable to the Compétlye legal right of such person
persons to exercise the Option.

8. Term of Option. The Option granted under this Agreement expirethatearlier of (a) ten (10) years from the Grantel
through and including the normal close of busirafsse Company on the tenth (£Q anniversary of the Grant Date, and (b) five (&g afte
the resignation and/or removal of the Optionee kigf(Executive Officer of the Company, through amduding the normal close of busin
of the Company on the fifth ) anniversary of such anniversary or removal.

8. Tax Withholding . Unless otherwise provided by the Committee priothio vesting of Option, the Optionee shall satesfy
federal, state, local or foreign employment or meataxes due upon the vesting of Option (or othesby having the Company withhold fr
those shares of Stock that the Optionee would wikerbe entitled to receive, a number of sharesngaa fair market value equal to
minimum statutory amount necessary to satisfy tlen@anys applicable federal, state, local and foreign mmeoand employment t
withholding obligations. Any such withholding shakk subject to the provisions of applicable law &mény conditions the Committee n
determine to be necessary to comply with Rule 36dr- its successors under the Exchange Act. In digwand subject to, the above,
Committee may also permit the Optionee to satisfy #deral, state, local, or foreign employmentramome taxes due upon the vestin
Option (or otherwise) by (i) personal check or otbash equivalent acceptable to the Company, éiinitting the Optionee to execute a s
day sale of Stock pursuant to procedures approyadebCompany, or (iii) such other method as apgdolyy the Committee, all in accorda
with applicable Company policies and proceduresapplicable law.

9. Nontransferability . The Option granted by this Agreement shall not famdferable by the Optionee or any other pe
claiming through the Optionee, either voluntarityimvoluntarily, except by will or the laws of dest and distribution.

10. Nonstatutory Stock Option The Option granted hereunder is a nonstatutoon-Qualified) stock option, and is not
“incentive stock option” pursuant to the Code.

11. Stock Certificates Notwithstanding anything herein to the contraing Company shall not be required to issue or debwn
certificates evidencing shares of Stock pursuarthéoexercise of the Option, unless and until then@ittee has determined, with advice
counsel, that the issuance and delivery of sudificates is in compliance with all applicable lawsgulations of governmental authorities i
if applicable, the requirements of any exchangejuotation system on which the shares of Stock iated, quoted or traded. All Stc
certificates delivered pursuant to this Agreemeatsaibject to any stoppansfer orders and other restrictions as the Cdéteendeems necess
or advisable to comply with Federal, state, or ifprgurisdiction, securities or other laws, ruleslaegulations and the rules of any nati
securities exchange or automated quotation systemhich the Stock is listed, quoted, or traded. Twenmittee may place legends on
Stock certificate to reference restrictions apfieao the Stock. In addition to the terms and s provided herein, the Board may req
that the Optionee make such reasonable covenayresraents, and representations as the Board, disitsetion, deems advisable in orde
comply with any such laws, regulations, or requieets.




12. Change in Control. Notwithstanding any other provision herein to tie@trary, upon a Change in Control, the entireid
shall automatically become immediately vested anelercisable and that all restrictions relatinghi® Option shall lapse.

a. “Change in Control” means any one or more of tHiofdng events:

(@ The date that any one person, or mbas tone person acting as a group (as determinadciordance wit
Treasury Regulation Section 1.408)(5)), acquires ownership of stock of the Compdmat, together with stock held by such persc
group, constitutes more than 50% of the total fiaérket value or total voting power of the stockileé Company. If any one person or
than one person acting as a group is consideregvtomore than 50% of the total fair market valugatal voting power of the stock of 1
Company, the acquisition of additional stock by shene person or persons will not be consideree ta fChange of Control.This paragrag
(i) only applies when there is a transfer of stofkhe Company (or issuance of stock of the Compamg stock in the Company rems
outstanding after the transaction;

(i) The date that any one person, or ntbe: one person acting as a group (as determinadciordance wi
Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)), acesii(or has acquired during the mdnth period ending on the date of the most r
acquisition by such person or persons) assets thhenCompany that have a total gross fair markatevalqual to or more than 40% of the 1
gross fair market value of all of the assets of @menpany immediately prior to such acquisition ogudsitions. For this purposegross fai
market value’means the value of the assets of the Company,eovdtue of the assets being disposed of, determinidut regard to ar
liabilities associated with such assets; or

(iii) The date that any person, or morentlume person acting as a group (as determineddor@ance wit
Treasury Regulation 1.409A-3(i)(5)), acquires (as lacquired during the Ifienth period ending on the most recent acquishtiypsuch persc
or persons) ownership of stock of Company possgf or more of the total voting power of the ktot Company.

The transfer of stock or assets of the Companyimnection with a bankruptcy filing by or agains¢ tiompany under Title 11 of the Uni
States Code will not be considered to be a Chah@onotrol for purposes of this Agreement. Additibpaa transaction shall not constitut
Change in Control if its sole purpose is to chatigestate of the Comparsyincorporation or to create a holding company wilitoe owned il
substantially the same proportions by the persdrshveld the Company’s securities immediately be$oreh transaction.

13. Waiver and Modification. The provisions of this Agreement may not be waiwedmodified unless such waiver
modification is in writing and signed by a represgive of the Committee.

14, Adjustments. In the event of any change in the outstanding shafeStock by reason of a stock dividend or ¢
recapitalization, merger, consolidation, combimatiexchange of shares, or other similar corporhtmge, the aggregate number of shar
Stock subject to the Option and its stated exerpisee shall be adjusted appropriately by the Cotte®mj whose determination shall
conclusive; provided, however, that fractional sisashall be rounded to the nearest whole shareeder, in the event of such transactio
event, the Committee, in its discretion, may previd substitution for the Option such alternatiemsideration (including cash) as it, in g
faith, may determine to be equitable under theuoinstances and may require in connection thereWwéhsurrender of the Option so repla
Further, with respect to any Option that otherwsaéisfies the requirements of the stock rights ptica to Section 409A of the Code,
adjustment pursuant to this Section 14 shall be ememhsistent with the requirements of the finalutations promulgated pursuant
Section 409A of the Code.




15. Requirements of Law

a. Securities Act The Company shall not be required to deliver araresh of Stock pursuant to the vesting of the O
if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, sustuance would violate the Securities Act of 1983&ny other applicable federal or s
securities laws or regulation¥he granting of the Option and the issuance ofeshand/or cash under this Agreement shall be dutjeal|
applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and té sypprovals by any governmental agencies or ndtggurities exchanges as may be reqt
The Company shall be under no obligation to regiptesuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as aménday of the shares of Stock
pursuant to the Agreement. If the shares of Staill pursuant to the Agreement may in certain cirstamces be exempt from registra
pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amentiedCompany may restrict the transfer of suchesher such manner as it deems advisat
ensure the availability of any such exemption.

b. Securities Law Compliance If Optionee is obligated to file reports pursuamtSection 16 of the Exchange /
transactions pursuant to this Agreement are ingtidecomply with all applicable conditions of Ruléb-3 or its successors pursuant to
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Notwithstanding ather provision herein, the Committee may impsseh conditions on the exercise of
Option as may be required to satisfy the requirdmefnRule 1618 or its successors pursuant to the Securities abgd Act of 1934. To tl
extent any provision herein or action by the Corterifails to so comply, it shall be void to theestpermitted by law and voidable as dee
advisable by the Committee.

C. Restrictions. The Committee shall impose such restrictionshenQption as it may deem advisable, including wit
limitation, restrictions under applicable federatsrities law, under the requirements of any Stathange upon which the Stock is then li
and under any blue sky or state securities lawlcgigpe to such Option.

16. Section 409A of the Code

a. General Compliance If this Agreement is subject to Section 409Alaé Code, the Company intends (but canno
does not guarantee) that this Agreement complily With and meets all of the requirements of Sat#09A of the Code or an excepl
thereto. To the extent necessary to comply withti®&e@09A of the Code, this Agreement may be medifireplaced or terminated in
discretion of the Committee. Notwithstanding angvision of this Agreement to the contrary, in themr that the Committee determines
this Agreement is or may become subject to Sed@9A of the Code, the Company may adopt such amentnto this Agreement, withc
the consent of Optionee, or adopt other policies@ocedures (including amendments, policies andguiures with retroactive effective dat
or take any other action that the Committee deteemito be necessary or appropriate to either comitly Section 409A of the Code or
exclude or exempt this Agreement from the requirgsief Section 409A of the Code.

b. Delay for Specified Employeeslf, at the time of Optionee’s “separation of seeV the Company has any Stc
which is publicly traded on an established seasitnarket or otherwise, and if the Optionee is ickened to be a “specified employei®’ the
extent any payment or consideration under this &guent is subject to the requirements of SectioA4@Pthe Code and is payable upon
Optionee’s “separation from servicesuch payment shall not commence prior to the finssiness day following the date which is
(6) months after the Optionee’s “separation fromvise” (or if earlier than the end of the six (6bnih period, the date of the Optionedeath’
Any amounts that would have been distributed dusinch six (6) month period will be distributed & day following the expiration of the
(6) month period.




C. Prohibition on Acceleration or Deferral Under no circumstances may the time or scheduéap payment for ar
amount under this Agreement that is subject tagl@irements of Section 409A of the Code be acatddror subject to further deferral exc
as otherwise permitted or required pursuant tolatigms and other guidance issued pursuant to @ed9A of the Code. If the Company f.
to make any payment pursuant to the payment pamssapplicable to this Agreement that is subjecSéation 409A of the Code, eitl
intentionally or unintentionally, within the timeepod specified in such provisions, but the paynm&mntade within the same calendar year,
payment will be treated as made within the timeqgaespecified in the provisions. In addition, iretkvent of a dispute with respect to
payment, such payment may be delayed in accordaiticehe regulations and other guidance issuedyauntsto Section 409A of the Code.

17. Voting and Other Shareholder Related Right3he Optionee will have no voting rights or any athights as a shareholc
of the Company with respect to any Option untilreised by the Optionee.

18. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be interpreted and adminidteraler the laws of the State of Nevada.

19. Amendments This Agreement may be amended only by a writtee@gent executed by the Company and the Optionee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has caused thisémrent to be executed by its duly authorized reptesive and Option
has signed this Agreement, and this Agreement beadfffective as of the day and year first writiove.

CryoPort, Inc.

By: /s/ Robert Stefanovic
November 5, 2012 Name: Robert Stefanovic
Date Title: Chief Financial Office

/sl Jerrell W. Shelto
Optionee




EXHIBIT 21

CRYOPORT, INC.
Subsidiaries of Registrant
Cryoport Systems, Inc.




Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statement No. 333-166327 on FormoBegir report dated June 25, 2013

(which includes an explanatory paragraph regardingport, Inc.’s ability to continue as a going cem), with respect to the consolidated

financial statements of Cryoport, Inc. includedtirs Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cryoport, Inor the years ended March 31, 2013 and
2012.

/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLI

Costa Mesa, Californi
June 25, 201




EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002
I, Jerrell Shelton, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fICryoport, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as definet
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresaused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antldve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiernal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commititthe registrant’s board of directors (or pessperforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrargtinterna
control over financial reporting.

Dated: June 25, 2013 Signed: /s/ JERRELL SHELTORMN
Jerrell Sheltor
Chief Executive Officer and Directt




EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Robert Stefanovich, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fICryoport, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to mak
the statements made, in light of the circumstanoger which such statements were made, not misigadith respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thegoks presented in this report;

4. The registrans other certifying officer and | are responsibledstablishing and maintaining disclosure contanld procedures (as define:
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢e)) ardriat control over financial reporting (as definedExchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresmused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over faiahreporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’'s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comeer financial reporting; and

5.The registrans other certifying officer and | have disclosedsdxhon our most recent evaluation of internal @miver financial reporting, -
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committiethe registrant’s board of directors (or persoedfgrming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmnifiole in the registrarg’interna
control over financial reporting.

Dated: June 25, 2013 Signed: /s/ ROBERT STEFANOVICF
Robert Stefanovic
Chief Financial Officel




EXHIBIT 32.1
Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. 81350 Chief Execuwe Officer

I, Jerrell Shelton, Chief Executive Officer of Cpgant, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant tolRd3(a)-14(b) or Rule 15(d)-14(b) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.SeCtién 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 (the “Re&péully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78[(ahd

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: June 25, 2013

/sl Jerrell Sheltol
Jerrell Shelton, Chief Executive Officer and Dirac

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to Cryoport,dnd will be retained by Cryoport,
Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchangeission or its staff upon reque

This Certification is being furnished pursuant tol®15(d) and shall not be deemed “filed” for pugas of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act (15 U.S.C. 78r), or otherwise subject to tlability of that section. This Certification shalbinbe deemed incorporated by reference intc
filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Agtept to the extent that the Company specifidatlorporates it by referenc




EXHIBIT 32.2
Certification Pursuant to U.S.C. 81350 of Chief Fiancial Officer

I, Robert Stefanovich, Chief Financial Officer afy@port, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuantRule 13(a)-14(b) or Rule 15(d)-14
(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18.0. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe fiscal year ended March 31, 2013 (the “Re&péully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78[(ahd

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: June 25, 2013

/s/ Robert Stefanovic
Robert Stefanovich, Chief Financial Offic

A signed original of this written statement reqditey Section 906 has been provided to Cryoport,dnd will be retained by Cryoport,
Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchangeission or its staff upon reque

This Certification is being furnished pursuant tol®15(d) and shall not be deemed “filed” for pugas of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act (15 U.S.C. 78r), or otherwise subject to tlability of that section. This Certification shalbinbe deemed incorporated by reference intc
filing under the Securities Act or the Exchange Agtept to the extent that the Company specifidatlorporates it by referenc




